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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG

LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)
BRBERZMERLF (B GEMHEE

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents
of this report.

This report for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Ficus
Technology Holdings Limited (formerly known as Vision International
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the “Group”, “we” or “our’) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Group. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are
no other matters the omission of which would make any statement

herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EERE

Dear Shareholders:

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company,
| am pleased to present the annual report of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND PROSPECTS

During 2024, the global economy was still subject to various
challenges such as geopolitical tensions and rapid inflation, whilst
consumer demand in general was lacklustre as overall market
recovery was more moderate than expected. As a result, the
performance of our Group has continuously been affected, with
demand of our provision of supply chain management (“SCM”)
services in relation to sales of apparel and related products (“Apparel
Products”) decreased.

In 2024, the Group’s revenue decreased by approximately 82.1%
to approximately HK$15.6 million and recorded loss and total
comprehensive expense of approximately HK$61.2 million as
compared to revenue and loss and total comprehensive expense
of approximately HK$87.2 million and HK$34.2 million during
2023. Major factors contributing to the increase in loss and total
comprehensive expense were primarily due to the significant
decrease in the revenue derived from our SCM services in relation
to Apparel Products and the increase in our administrative expenses
during 2024.

The principal business segments of the Group include (i) sales of
apparel and related products and other products with the provision
of SCM services and the provision of SCM service; (ii) provision of
agency services for construction and related materials; and (i) sales
of innovative anti-counterfeit traceability and marketing products
and related ancillaries with the provision of SCM solutions, being
still the key revenue contributors of the Group. During 2024, we
continued to operate our business under these segments and adhere
to the Group’s business strategies adopted in 2023, which includes
cooperating with different strategic partners and e-commerce
platform with the aim to demonstrate the potential use of the Group’s
Innovative SCM Solutions to apparel and other products. During
2024, the Group has also collaborated with its strategic partner,
Hainan JRJJ Technology Company Limited (875 AE MR
BR A7) (“Hainan JRJJ Technology”) in operating an e-commerce
platform namely the Ficus Discovery Platform. Ficus Discovery
Platform is an e-commerce platform that offers comprehensive
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERERE

BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND PROSPECTS
(Continued)

services including online showcase, online transaction and facilitation
of products delivery. This platform has adopted the business model
of “Manufacturer to Loyal/Long-term Customer” (“M2LC”) which aims
for disintermediation. Under the M2LC business model, the Group
can apply its Innovative SCM Solutions to authenticate products of
the manufacturers and sell them on the Ficus Discovery Platform,
thus enabling users to purchase authentic products directly from
manufacturers. Furthermore, it is expected that our cooperation with
Hainan JRJJ Technology could enable us to promote our Innovative
SCM Solutions to the online merchants, which will include a variety
of brand owners with a diverse range of products, thereby to expand
our customer base.

During 2024, the Group had also entered into a number of
cooperative agreements with different cooperative partners. These
included:

— on 2 February 2024, we have entered into a framework
cooperation agreement with two operating subsidiaries of
Shanghai Film Co., Ltd. ( E/8E &R M ERAF]), a prominent
listed issuer in the A-share market in Shanghai that engage
in the businesses of film distribution, screening, theater chain
and cinema operations, pursuant to which our Innovative
SCM Solutions will be provided to them with the focus on their
peripheral products and movie promotion events;

— on 31 May 2024, we have entered into a cooperation
agreement with Gansu Walker Sports Management Company
Limited (H & 17 & 8 & & 2 & BR 2 @), pursuant to which
the Group will be designated as one of the official partners of
the 2024 Jiayuguan Great Wall Marathon and the Great Wall
League, and may promote the name of the Group together with
its strategic partners;

— on 1 July 2024, we have entered into a strategic cooperation
framework agreement with Forest Sports Entertainment (Beijing)
Tourism and Cultural Diffusion Company Limited (% 8 #% &
(46 5 Bk % 0L £ 178 A PR A A1), pursuant to which, we intend
to provide our Innovative SCM Solutions and comprehensive
digital marketing solutions to the operating company of the
Forest Sports Professional Committee of China National Forest
Farm Association (f BB HESHRMEET EHELE),
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EERE

BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND PROSPECTS
(Continued)

on 10 July 2024, we have entered into a strategic cooperation
framework agreement with Camping Club Network Technology
Company Limited (& & 2 R 4 4% £ 1 B IR A 7)) for a period
of three years in China, pursuant to which the Group shall
provide its Innovative SCM Solutions and comprehensive digital
marketing solutions to Camping Club Network Technology
Company Limited for their activities in relation to (i) promotion
and registration of a variety of sports events; and (i) marketing
of the related products and services;

on 27 August 2024, we have entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with Shenbei Hao He Er Community
Service Centre of Shenbei New District, Shenyang City (&5 T
EIbET &I E R4t & ARG ) for a period of three years
in China, pursuant to which the Group shall be able to promote
its products that available on the Ficus Discovery Platform
through the community activities organized by the service
centre;

on 29 August 2024, Ficus Discovery Platform, the e-commerce
platform operated by the Group, has entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with Beijing New Cooperation Ruida
Trade Co., Ltd. (ILR¥F & EMREM E AR A F]), a subsidiary
of China Supply and Trade Group Co., Ltd. (F7 Bt £ 75 & &
BEBEBR A F]) with a term of three years, pursuant to which,
Beijing New Cooperation Ruida Trade Co., Ltd. shall provide
products to the Ficus Discovery Platform that may enrich the
product varieties of Ficus Discovery Platform and to allow the
Group to access the sales channels of China Supply and Trade
Group Co., Ltd.; and

on 4 September 2024, we have entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with Shanghai Hero (Group) Cultural
Products Sales Co., Ltd. (/8% (£ E) Xt A miEE BR
/A\]), a subsidiary of Shanghai Hero (Group) Co., Ltd. (/&%
I (528 B BR A 7)) for a term of three years, pursuant to which
the Group will provide its Innovative SCM Solutions to Shanghai
Hero (Group) Cultural Products Sales Co., Ltd. and will promote
their products through the Ficus Discovery Platform.

FICUS TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2024
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERERE

BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND PROSPECTS
(Continued)

By entering into the above strategic cooperation agreements, it is our
aim (i) to promote the application of our Innovative SCM Solutions that
with anti-counterfeit, traceability and marketing capabilities in the PRC
markets; (ii) to broaden the range of our clients; and (jii) to diversify
income stream for the Group. Looking forward to 2025, through our
operation of the Ficus Discovery Platform, we will keep abreast of the
trend of the consumption behaviour and promote the application of
our Innovative SCM Solutions on both apparel and other categories
of products.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to all our shareholders, customers and business partners for their
unwavering support to the Group. | would also like to thank the
management team and all staff members for their tireless efforts. As
always, we remain fully committed to ensuring the Group’s long-term
development and will continue to explore suitable and appropriate
business opportunities. | look forward to sharing our progress with
you in the years ahead.

Chan Ting
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmR D

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is based in Hong Kong and generates revenue mainly
from (i) sales of apparel and related products and other products with
the provision of SCM services and the provision of SCM service; (i)
provision of agency services for construction and related materials;
and (jii) sales of innovative anti-counterfeit traceability and marketing
products and related ancillaries with the provision of SCM solutions. As
a well-established apparel SCM services provider, we have developed
a vertically integrated business model with services ranging across
market trend analysis, product design and development, sourcing
of suppliers, production management, logistics services and quality
control. Through engaging our SCM service, our customers are able to
devote more of their resources to their retail businesses and respond
quickly to the fast-evolving changes of the changing demands on
apparel and a diverse range of products. In order to enhance the
Group’s competitiveness in the market, during 2023, the Group had
advanced its SCM service to include anti-counterfeit, traceability and
marketing functions for brand protection on both the apparel and other
products.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded (i) revenue
of approximately HK$15.6 million, showing a decrease of approximately
82.1% as compared to revenue of approximately HK$87.2 million
for the same period in 2023; and (ii) gross profit of approximately
HK$7.0 million with a gross profit margin of approximately 44.9% as
compared to gross loss in the amount of approximately HK$2.0 million
and the gross loss margin of approximately 2.3% for the year ended
31 December 2023. The loss and total comprehensive expenses
for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately HK$61.2
million, as compared to the loss and total comprehensive expenses of
approximately HK$34.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
Such change in the financial performance of the Group was mainly
attributable to the combined effects of (i) the intention of the Group
to focus on expanding its business in the Innovative SCM Solutions
segment in the PRC and Hong Kong markets, which could have a
higher gross profit margin and could be applied to a diverse range
of products; (i) the decrease in revenue from the Apparel Products
segment as a result of losing the purchase orders from one of our
existing major customers; (iii) the increase in the allowance for expected
credit losses for trade receivables; and (iv) the increase in the overall
administrative expenses as a result of the Group’s expansion during 31
December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue recorded a decrease of approximately 82.1%
from HK$87.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately HK$15.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2024. The decrease was primarily attributable to the drop of sales
of Apparel Products together with the related SCM services due to
(i) the decrease in revenue from the Apparel Products segment as a
result of losing the purchase orders from one of our existing major
customers in Macau, that had contributed to approximately 77.2%
of the total revenue during the year ended 31 December 2023; and
(i) the intention of the Group to focus on expanding its business in
the Innovative SCM Solutions segment in the PRC and Hong Kong
markets, which could have a higher gross profit margin and could be
applied to a diverse range of products.

Cost of sales

The Group’s cost of sales mainly included purchase costs and cost
of services incurred. The decrease in cost of sales of approximately
90.4% from approximately HK$89.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately HK$8.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2024 was mainly attributable to the decrease in sales
of Apparel Products as aforementioned during the year ended 31
December 2024.

Gross profit (loss) and gross profit (loss) margin
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded
gross profit of approximately HK$7.0 million with a gross profit
margin of approximately 44.9% as compared to gross loss in the
amount of approximately HK$2.0 million and a gross loss margin
of approximately 2.3% for the year ended 31 December 2023. This
significant change was mainly attributable to the Group’s intention
in 2024 to focus on expanding its business in the Innovative SCM
Solutions segment in the PRC and Hong Kong markets, which had a
higher gross profit margin.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmR D

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Other income, gains and losses, net

Other income, gains and losses, net mainly comprised of the net
balance of sundry income and expenses and the rental income that
derived from our investment properties. Other income and gains and
losses, net of the Group changed from net loss of approximately
HK$0.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to net gain of
approximately HK$0.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.
This change was mainly attributable to the rental income that derived
from our investment properties during the year ended 31 December
2024.

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses mainly include marketing fee,
travelling expenses and other selling and distribution expenses.
The Group’s selling and distribution expenses decreased from
approximately HK$8.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately HK$1.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2024. Such decrease was mainly attributable to the Group’s effort in
reducing unnecessary marketing expenses during the year ended 31
December 2024.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly included staff costs, directors
remuneration, professional fees, amortisation and depreciation, rent
and rates and other related expenses. Administrative expenses of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$26.1 million and approximately
HK$36.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2024,
respectively. The increase in the administrative expenses was mainly
due to the increase in staff costs during the year ended 31 December
2024.

Impairment losses

Impairment losses represented the gross amount of (i) the net
change in allowance for expected credit losses for trade and other
receivables; and (i) the estimated impairment of investment properties
and intangible assets. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the impairment losses of the Group was approximately HK$29.5
million as compared to a reversal of impairment losses in the amount
of approximately HK$5.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2028. Such change was mainly attributable to (i) the increase in the
allowance for expected credit losses for trade receivables that have
overdue balances for more than twelve months since the year ended
31 December 2023; and (ii) the impairment losses made for our
investment properties as a result of the weak property market in Hong
Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Finance costs

Finance costs comprised mainly the interest cost with respect to
the bank borrowings of the Group. Finance costs of the Group
decreased from approximately HK$2.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately HK$1.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2024. This decrease was mainly attributable to the
settlement of bank borrowings during the year ended 31 December
2024.

Income tax credit

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023,
the Group recorded tax credit of approximately HK$0.2 million and
these were mainly attributable to the losses incurred by the Group
during both years.

Loss and total comprehensive expense attributable
to equity holders of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s recorded loss and total
comprehensive expense of approximately HK$61.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024, as compared to loss and total
comprehensive expense of approximately 34.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Charge on the Group’s assets
As at 31 December 2024, the Group pledged the properties
comprising workshops 1-3 and 5-7 on 3rd Floor of China United
Plaza, No. 1008 Tai Nan West Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong to a bank
for the bank finance facility for the Group.

Share capital

The share capital of the Group only comprises ordinary shares and
the movement of the issued share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2024 are as follow:

As at 31 December 2023, the authorised share capital of the
Company was HK$100,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000 Shares
of par value of HK$0.1 each, of which 135,450,000 Shares of par
value of HK$0.1 each had been issued.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmR D

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Share capital (Continued)

On 26 June 2024, the Board proposed to subdivide each of the
existing issued and unissued Shares of par value of HK$0.1 each in
the share capital of the Company into ten (10) subdivided shares of
par value of HK$0.01 each (the “Share Subdivision”) and the Share
Subdivision would require approval from the Shareholders in an
extraordinary general meeting. The extraordinary general meeting was
held on 24 July 2024 and the Share Subdivision was approved by
the Shareholders. The Share Subdivision took effect on 26 July 2024
and upon the Share Subdivision becoming effective, the authorised
share capital of the Company became HK$100,000,000 divided into
10,000,000,000 subdivided shares of par value of HK$0.01 each,
of which 1,354,500,000 subdivided shares of par value of HK$0.01
each were issued.

Following the Share Subdivision becoming effective, the board lot
size of the ordinary shares of the Company for trading on GEM of
the Stock Exchange has been changed from 10,000 shares to 5,000
shares effective from 9:00 a.m. on 9 August 2024. For details, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 26 June 2024, 24
July 2024 and 25 July 2024, and the circular of the Company dated 2
July 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the authorised share capital of the
Company is HK$100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 Shares
of par value of HK$0.01 each and the issued share capital of the
Company is HK$13,545,000 divided into 1,354,500,000 Shares of
par value of HK$0.01 each. Details of the Company’s share capital
and movements during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set
out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

(i

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued) Bt %5 1 ()
Placing of Shares and Use of Proceeds feE Rk ) & Pris sk I A&
During the year ended 31 December 2024 () REZ20245F12831BHILLEE
On 30 November 2023, the Company entered into a placing R2023F 11 A30H * ARQARGI VB ERH
agreement pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot &R ARRIRERE TRARARR
and issue up to 5,000,000 new shares to certain placees at a N %175 % 5,000,000 % ¥ % 10 © B & {8
placing price of HK$5.20 per placing shares (the “November B E A E B 19 5.20/%8 7T (12023511 A
2023 Share Placement”). The November 2023 Share BOBEE])  -2023F11 ARMHEEER
Placement was completed on 20 December 2023 and 20234 12 A 20 H 72k & 3,450,000 A% 7 A%
3,450,000 new shares were issued with the net proceeds LT - P15 FIE F 5 4 A 17,800,000
in approximately HK$17.8 million. The planned use of net WBIT ° 2024 F 12 H31 H » 2023611 A
proceeds, actual use of the net proceeds and the unutilized it Bl E PTG RIB F TSI AiE - FRiE
remaining net proceeds for the November 2023 Share FIFENERRERABAN RS
Placement as at 31 December 2024 are set out below. FIEFREH T o
Actual use of net Unutilized net
Planned use of proceeds as at proceeds as at
Use of net proceeds FEERERE net proceeds 31 December 2024 31 December 2024
2024 % 20245
127318 127318
e RaRE e REFE KEA
E e WERRR FeREFE
HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
BEET BEET BEAT
Cost of sales and services HERRBAE 37 37 -
Staff costs and related expenses STHRARBERY 6.5 6.5 -
Marketing fee and related expenses EHERRABHY 0.2 0.2 -
Rental expenses and related deposits RERS REBEERS 02 02 -
Costs for office expansion and related expenses ~ HAZERMARBEFE 3.1 3.1 -
General working capital to support other operating AN A& A EF LA
expenses of the Company —-ReEES 4.1 41 -
17.8 17.8 -

As at 31 December 2024, all the net proceeds from
the November 2023 Share Placement in the amount of
approximately HK$17.8 million were fully utilized by the Group
according to the planned use and there was no material
change of delay in the use of net proceeds during the year
ended 31 December 2024. For details, please also refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 30 November 2023, 20
December 2023 and 30 August 2024.

2024912 A31 H » 2023F 11 AR ES
SRS IEF R B EE 17,800,000 LE
BASEREFEREEREIDA - NE
Z2024F 12 A3 HIEFE - B HRIEF
EABUEENTEELS - G5 B
M2 ARG BB A2023F11 A30H -
2023412 A20H K 202448 A30H KA % »
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmR D

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Placing of Shares and Use of Proceeds (Continued)

(@

(ii)

B[O B8 (@)
BLER D METEZIERE (@)

During the year ended 31 December 2024 (Continued) () REZE2024F12831BILEFEE)
On 13 November 2024, the Company entered into a placing R2024F 11 A13H » AR ARGV EE W
agreement pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot and & OB ARRIREMRSE TAAE AR
issue up to 135,450,000 new shares to certain placees at a N E{T8 % 135,450,000 R ¥TA% 1D + B & 1B
placing price of HK$0.60 per placing shares (the “November AER A ER7H0.60/% (2024511 8
2024 Share Placement”). BEE]) -
Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2024 (i) MNEZE2024F12A31BILEEZ#%
The November 2024 Share Placement was completed on 3 2024 F11 ARMEEEZ K 202541 A3H
January 2025 and 13,430,000 new shares were issued with SEBK 213,430,000 X ¥ A& 10 #E 21T - PR1S
the net proceeds in approximately HK$7.7 million. The planned FIEFEREX) A 7,700,000 7T o RAFE R
use of net proceeds, actual use of the net proceeds and the S HHE - 2024 F 11 ARDESFBRIEF
unutilized remaining net proceeds for the November 2024 HRFTEIAE  FGRBEFENERAR
Share Placement as at the date of this annual report are set out MARE AR FIGAEFIEFREHINNT -
below.
Planned use of
net proceeds and Actual use of Unutilized
the unutilized net net proceeds net proceeds
proceedsasat  asatthe date of  as at the date of
Use of net proceeds FERERERE 31 December 2024  this annual report  this annual report
R2024 5
128310
S RaFE REAEERS REEERS
STERERABA BHEMSRETE AENABA
ERERE WERRZ FeRIERE
HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
BEET BEAT BEEER
Payment of staff's emoluments and related expenses THEIEMLEBES 5.3 5.3 -
Payment of professional fees and other service costs YHEEERREMREKAK 15 15 -
Others i 09 09 -
1.7 1.7 -

As at the date of this annual report, all the net proceeds
from the November 2024 Share Placement in the amount of
approximately HK$7.7 million were fully utilized by the Group
according to the planned use and there was no material change
of delay in the use of net proceeds during the period from 3
January 2025 to the date of this annual report. For detalils,
please also refer to the announcements of the Company dated
13 November 2024 and 3 January 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Placing of Shares and Use of Proceeds (Continued)

(ii) Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2024
(Continued)

On 24 January 2025, the Company entered into a placing
agreement pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot
and issue up to 50,000,000 new shares to certain placees at
a placing price of HK$0.60 per placing shares (the “January
2025 Share Placement”). The January 2025 Share Placement
was completed on 25 February 2025 and 5,215,000 new
shares were issued with the net proceeds in approximately
HK$3.1 million. The planned use of net proceeds, actual use
of the net proceeds, the unutilized remaining net proceeds and
the expected timeline for utilizing the remaining net proceeds for
the January 2025 Share Placement as at the date of this annual

report are set out below.

B F5 O 8 (@)
BLER D METEFERE (@)

(ii)

NEBE2024F 12831 BILEEZ# (&)

202551 H248 « RARIF] M L& e
Bt ARRIREME TARABL S RE
115 % 50,000,000 & ¥ 0 - BEEEAE
f& BiE &5 1% 1 0.60/8 7T (12025 F 1 A B 17 B
€ 1) - 20251 ARG ELE 2R 202552
A 258 5K & 5,215,000 B # A% 15 1 21T
FT 5 5B F 5849 4 3,100,000 JT © IAAF
E#EBE 20251 ARHECE TS K
BFENERE  EFIEFENER
R REAMFSRAERIBFEREA
TIPS RIE FREM TR HARF R R BN LA T ©

Planned use of net Expected timeline for
proceeds and the Actual use of Unutilized  utilizing the remaining
unutilized net net proceeds net proceeds net proceeds
proceeds as at the date of as at the date of as at the date of
Use of net proceeds FERETERE as at 31 December 2024 this annual report this annual report this annual report
20245127318 WEEERERS
FERERE REEEHERS REEERERS BANG
AEHRERADA FresaRe WABA FresuERE
FEsaEE MERRR FERERR KESRER
HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
BEER BEET BEET BEER
Payment of staff’s emolumentsand % E T3R5 13 13 -
related expenses 53
Payment of professional fees and other T HZ£BRREM 05 04 0.1 Before 30 June 2025
senice costs i 202556 A308 21
Repayment of other payable BEEMENTE 03 0.3 -
Others Efh 10 03 07 Before 30 Jung 2025
1202556 A 30 F 2l
31 2.3 08

As at the date of this annual report, there was no material
change of delay in the use of net proceeds during the period
from 25 February 2025 to the date of this annual report. For
details, please also refer to the announcements of the Company

dated 24 January 2025 and 25 February 2025.

MRAFEERE B 202562 H25H
EXRFERE B HAOBE - FSRIEEE
AW EEATEEEE - BEFE BN
28 ARAHH A20255F1H248 &
2025F 2 A25 HA A ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmR D

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Major and Connected Transaction

There is no major and connected transaction during the year ended
31 December 2024.

Significant investment held
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not hold any significant
investment.

Contingent liabilities

Other than the bank borrowings of the Group, the Group did not have
any material contingent liabilities or guarantees as at 31 December
2024.

Foreign exchange exposure

The group is exposed to foreign exchange risks primarily through
sales, purchases or expenses incurred that are denominated in a
foreign currency, such as Renminbi (‘RMB”), United States dollars
(“US$”) and Euros (“EUR”"). At present, the foreign exchange risk
for the Group’s operation with respect to RMB, US$ and EUR is
not significant. Nevertheless, our management constantly monitors
the group’s exposure to currency risk and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward to 2025, it is our goal to promote the application of
our Innovative SCM Solutions that with anti-counterfeit, traceability
and marketing capabilities in the PRC markets and with our further
goal to broaden the range of our clients and to diversify income
stream for the Group through operation of the Ficus Discovery
Platform. Ficus Discovery Platform is an e-commerce platform that
offers comprehensive services including online showcase, online
transaction and facilitation of products delivery. This platform has
adopted the business model of “Manufacturer to Loyal/Long-
term Customer” (“M2LC”) which aims for disintermediation. Under
the M2LC business model, the Group applies its Innovative SCM
Solutions to authenticate products of the manufacturers and sell them
on the Ficus Discovery Platform, thus enabling users to purchase
authentic products directly from manufacturers.

The Directors are of the view that (a) our strategic cooperation with
different parties in a variety of industries; and (b) our operation of the
Ficus Discovery Platform could enable us to keep abreast of the trend
of the latest consumption behaviour in the PRC markets and promote
the application of our Innovative SCM Solutions on both the apparel
and other categories of products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND
FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s operations
were financed through internally generated cash flows and a
number of equity fund raising activities. It is the Group’s policy to
regularly monitor its current and expected liquidity requirements to
ensure sufficient reserves of cash and funding to meet the liquidity
requirements in both short and long run.

As at 31 December 2024, the total equity of the Group was
approximately HK$1.0 million as compared to the equity amount
of approximately HK$62.4 million as at 31 December 2023. The
Group’s cash and cash equivalent as at 31 December 2024 was
HK$0.2 million (31 December 2023: HK$22.1 million). The Group’s
bank borrowings as at 31 December 2024 was HK$14.4 million
(31 December 2023: HK$30.9 million). As at 31 December 2024,
the Group had net current liabilities in the amount of approximately
HK$17.5 million as compared to net current assets of approximately
HK$36.6 million as at 31 December 2023. Our current ratio was
0.48 times as at 31 December 2024, decreased from 2.0 times as at
31 December 2023. Such significant changes in the Shareholders’
equity and working capital were mainly attributable to (i) the delay in
completion of share placement during the year ended 31 December
2024; (i) the increase in the staff costs during the year ended 31
December 2024; and (jii) the increase in the allowance for expected
credit losses for trade receivables that have overdue balances for
more than twelve months during 31 December 2023.

Our trade receivables turnover days were 267.0 days and 818.6 days
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, respectively. The
significant increase in trade receivables turnover days was mainly due
to the significant decrease in revenue during 31 December 2024.
Our trade payables turnover days were 28.9 days and 138.4 days
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, respectively. The
significant increase in trade payables turnover days was mainly due to
the significant decrease in cost of sales during 31 December 2024,

As at 31 December 2024, our gearing ratio (calculated based on
bank borrowings divided by total equity) was 1,388.1% as compared
t0 49.6% as at 31 December 2023. Such significant change could
mainly attributable to the change of total equity and working capital
as aforementioned.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmR D

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segmental information is presented for the Group as disclosed on
note 5 of the financial statements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total number of 31
full-time employees (31 December 2023: 20 full-time employees).
The staff costs of the Group (including Directors’ remuneration,
employees’ salaries, wages, other benefits and contribution to defined
contribution retirement plan) for the year ended 31 December 2024
were approximately HK$22.2 million (2023: HK$16.1 million).

Our remuneration package includes basic salary, bonuses and
allowances. We review the performance of our employees regularly,
and the review outcome is used for the employees’ salary review and
promotion appraisal. We have set up a competitive remuneration
system that links a portion of our employees’ compensation to the
performance of our business in order to provide incentives to our
employees to strive for better results.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had not made any
material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures (2023: Nil).

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have significant capital
commitments (31 December 2023: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not make
any significant investments.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any plan for material investments or capital
assets as at 31 December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR D

MANDATORY UNCONDITIONAL CASH OFFER
On 27 March 2024, (a) Mr. Lau Chi Wing James, being the selling
Shareholder (the “Vendor”); and (b) Beaming Elite Holdings Limited
(the “Offeror”), a company that incorporated in the BVI with limited
liability and beneficially and wholly-owned by Mr. Chan Ting, had
entered into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which
the Vendor agreed to sell and the Offeror agreed to purchase
74,038,000 Shares, which represented approximately 54.66% of
the total issued share capital of the Company on 27 March 2024,
for a total cash consideration of HK$62,800,000 (the “Existing
Shares Transaction”). The cash consideration was equivalent to
approximately HK$0.8483 per sale Share. As at 27 March 2024, the
Company has 135,450,000 Shares in issue and the Company has
no other outstanding Shares, options, derivatives, warrants or other
securities which are convertible or exchangeable into Shares or other
relevant securities (as defined in Note 4 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers
Code) and has not entered into any agreement for the issue of such
options, derivatives, warrants or other relevant securities which are
convertible or exchangeable into Shares.

Upon completion of the Existing Shares Transactions, which took
place on 28 March 2024, the Offeror and parties acting in concert
with it (including the Vendor) were interested in an aggregate of
75,038,000 Shares, which represented approximately 55.40% of the
total issued share capital of the Company during that time. Under
Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code, the Offeror was required to make
a mandatory unconditional cash offer for all the issued Shares (other
than those Shares already owned or agreed to be acquired by the
Offeror) (the “Cash Offer”) and Cheong Lee Securities Limited, on
behalf of the Offeror, made the Cash Offer pursuant to Rule 26.1 of
the Takeovers Code.

The Cash Offer was closed on 21 June 2024 and during the period of
Cash Offer, the Offeror received two valid acceptances in respect of a
total of 10,000 offer Shares under the Cash Offer, which represented
approximately 0.007% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at 21 June 2024.

For further details of the Cash Offer, please refer to the joint
announcements dated 12 April 2024, 31 May 2024 and 21 June
2024 and the composite document dated 31 May 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENmR D

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

On 31 July 2024, following the passing of the special resolution in
relation to the change of name of the Company at an extraordinary
general meeting, the Certificate of Incorporation on Change of Name
of the Company was issued by the Registry of Companies in the
Cayman lIslands certifying that the change of name of the Company
from “Vision International Holdings Limited” to “Ficus Technology
Holdings Limited” and the adoption of dual foreign name in Chinese
from “ElBIBR R AR A E)” to “AEBREIERBR A A" has
become effective. On 12 August 2024, the Certificate of Registration
of Alteration of Name of Registered Non-Hong Kong Company was
issued by the Companies Registry in Hong Kong under Part 16 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong). For
details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 26
June 2024, 24 July 2024 and 8 August 2024 and the circular of the
Company dated 2 July 2024.

FICUS TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

ERARER

R2024F7R31H  RIRRBH ARG LBBA
MERAFZBOBIARERE  AESHSAQR]
AMEERERLAAREREEAMBFRE -
BN A R % 18 A [Vision International Holdings
Limited] 8 2 /% [Ficus Technology Holdings
Limited ] R ER# A X EE SN A TEE [ a0 BB
ERER AR B SR BERRHIER AR A A
B R20245F8 128 - B AR FME
BRIBIEESEME2ERRIEHIFE 16 502
AMEAEBATSELWAMBRE - BEFE
B2 ARFIBEA2024F6 A26 B + 2024 4F
7A24A k20248 A8 AM AL RARRHA
H/R2024F 7 A2 AHYBEK ©



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEEREFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Ting (“Mr. Chan”), aged 54, was appointed as our
executive Director, chairman of the Board and chairman of the
Nomination Committee on 8 July 2024. Mr. Chan has over 28 years
of experience in business management. Mr. Chan served as an
executive director of Sinopharm Tech Holdings Limited (24 227} fi%
A EBRAT]) (“Sinopharm Tech”), a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8156) from December 2001 to August
2022. Mr. Chan also served as an executive director of Celebrate
International Holdings Limited (2 i B B (3% 1%) B BR 2 &) (formerly
known as Aptus Holdings Limited), a company formerly listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange from August 2004 to September 2010.

In 1993, Mr. Chan was awarded a bachelor’s degree in Economics
from Macquarie University in Australia.

Mr. Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin (£%E) (“Mr. Cheuk”), aged 42, was
appointed as our executive Director, chief executive officer, a member
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee on 15 September 2023. He ceased to be a member of
the Nomination Committee on 8 July 2024. He is also the compliance
officer of the Group.

Mr. Cheuk is currently the operation director of a subsidiary of the
Group, responsible for applying innovative supply chain management
solutions with anti-counterfeiting, traceability, and marketing
functionalities to existing operations and expanding their application
to different industries and markets. In addition, he is also directors of
a number of subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Cheuk served as an executive director of Sinopharm Tech
Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8156.HK), from June 2021 to September 2022.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
ESEREFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Cheuk obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Economics and a
Master’s degree in Applied Finance from Macquarie University 2006
and 2008 respectively. Mr. Cheuk is an associate member of The
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants and a Chartered
Global Management Accountant. Mr. Cheuk is one of the inventors of
multiple patented anti-counterfeiting solutions for innovative products
and has many years of experience in research, development, and
application in the anti-counterfeiting supply chain industry. Mr. Cheuk
has over 10 years of experience in the lottery industry and technology
innovation applications. Under Mr. Cheuk’s leadership, his team won
the gold award at the International Exhibition of Inventions of Geneva
(“IEIG”) in 2021 for their innovative supply chain management solution
with anti-counterfeiting, traceability, and marketing functionalities.
Mr. Cheuk has also led the team to win multiple awards at the IEIG
in 2016 and 2017 for projects such as “Interactive In-store Marketing
Solution” and “Health Management Cloud Platform”, including a gold
award at the IEIG in 2016.

Ms. Chan Siu Sarah (“Ms. Chan”), aged 59, was appointed as
our executive Director on 8 July 2024. Ms. Chan obtained her law
degree from the London School of Economics and Political Science
in 1989 and was qualified to practice law as solicitor in Hong Kong
in 1992 and England and Wales in 1993. She did her solicitor’s
training with the international firm of Baker & McKenzie in Hong Kong
and, after qualification, worked for 4 years at the international firm of
Linklaters in Hong Kong specializing in projects and project finance
with a particular focus on China. She then spent the next 7 years
as corporate counsel with the Asia Pacific regional headquarter of
Lucent Technologies in Hong Kong attending legal matters in the
region. From 2004 to 2007, she was appointed the regional general
counsel for the Asia Pacific region of Avon Products Inc., leading its
legal, government and regulatory affair teams in the region. Ms. Chan
has been an executive director of Avon Products Co., Ltd. which is
listed on the JASDAQ Securities Exchange, Inc. for the period from
March 2006 to December 2007.

In addition, Ms. Chan served as an executive director of Sinopharm
Tech, a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8156) for the period from May 2008 to July 2013. Ms. Chan has also
been the General Counsel of Sinopharm Tech and its subsidiaries,
including Aptus Holdings Limited, an indirect non-wholly-owned
subsidiary listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. She is currently
the General Counsel of Ocean Blue Supply Chain Management Co.
Limited, a subsidiary of the Group.

Ms. Chan is the sister of Mr. Chan, who is a controlling shareholder of
the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEEREFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Lau Kai Tai (2/5%) (“Mr. Lau”), aged 48, resigned as our
executive Director and chairman of the Board on 8 July 2024. Mr. Lau
is the son of Mr. Lau Chi Wing James, a shareholder of the Company,
interested in approximately 0.74% of the total issued share capital of
the Company as of the date of this report.

Mr. Lau has over 20 years of experience in garment and apparel
industry. He serves as the general manager of Actex International
Limited, a company principally engaged in apparel manufacturing,
since 2011. Mr. Lau was also the founder and chief executive officer
of club.8, a multi-brand denim fashion chain in the United States from
2006 to 2010.

Mr. Lau obtained a bachelor of arts’ degree in business administration
from University of Seattle and a master’s degree in business
administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr.
Lau is also an associate member of the Hong Kong Management
Association.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEEREFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)
Mr. Wong Ching (E£) (“Mr. Wong”), aged 60, resigned as our
executive Director on 8 July 2024.

Mr. Wong is currently the vice president of the Overseas Chinese
Charity Foundation of China (4 Bl 2= & A z & & ), the executive
director of the Beijing V Love Foundation (1t R E A H S E), and
a senior expert of The Silk-Road Industry and Finance International
Alliance (44 1% = 35 B2 5 Fh B PR ESE BR ).

Mr. Wong was previously the executive director of Chinese People
Holdings Co., Ltd. (formerly known as “Chinese People Gas Holdings
Co., Ltd.”) from 2006 to 2008, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 0681.HK).
He was also one of the initial shareholders of Cloud Live Technology
Group Co. Ltd. (A BRI ZEH B S E B R A 7l) (formerly known as
“Beijing Xiangeqing Group Co. Ltd. (1t ZAISBIBE LB D BER A F])
(stock code: 002306.S2), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Wong graduated from Department of Automation of the Tsinghua

University in 1987 and has obtained the Bachelor of Engineering
degree.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEEREFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Dr. Liu Ta-pei (8| K 8) (“Dr. Liu”), aged 74, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee on 15 September 2023. He is
primarily responsible for overseeing the management independently
and providing independent judgement on the issues of strategy,
performance, resources and standard of conduct of the Group.

Dr. Liu was an independent non-executive director of Sinopharm
Tech Holdings Limited from 2017 to 2023, which is listed on the
GEM Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8156.HK). He
was previously the executive director of Huisheng International
Holdings Limited, which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1340.HK), from 2016 to 2020. Dr. Liu was
previously the director of Mega Financial Holdings Company, Limited
(“Mega Financial Holdings”), which is listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange Corporation (stock code: 2886.HK) and also served as the
chairman of Mega Securities Co., Ltd, a subsidiary of Mega Financial
Holdings. Dr. Liu had also been the director of Global Securities
Finance Corporation, Chung Hsing Bills Finance Corporation, and
Central Investment Holding Company, and the chairman of Jen Hwa
Investment Holding Company. Dr. Liu had served China Development
Industrial Bank, one of the top managements of Taiwan’s largest
Investment Banks. He had also been the chief executive officer and
an executive director of the Core Pacific-Yamaichi Group in Hong
Kong.

Dr. Liu graduated from National Chung-Hsing University in Taiwan.
After graduation, he continued his studies in National Cheng-Chi
University, Taiwan and the University of Southern California, U.S.A.
and obtained Master of Science and MBA degrees respectively. Dr.
Liu was then conferred his Doctoral degree in public administration
from the University of La Verne, U.S.A., and the Doctoral degree in
Finance from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics. Apart
from his strong educational background, Dr. Liu has been active in
the financial field for more than 25 years.

Dr. Liu was awarded the “Bronze Bauhinia Star” (BBS) by Hong Kong
government in 2013. Dr. Liu was ranked as one of the “Top Ten
Intelligent Financial Personnel in Greater China” and he was conferred
the “Best Integrity Award” in 2008. Dr. Liu was also granted the
honor of “Golden Peak Award of Outstanding Corporation Leaders
in Taiwan” in 1998. Dr. Liu was also a member of the Hong Kong-
Taiwan Business Co-operation Committee.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
ESEREFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Ir Prof. Young Andrew Meng Cheung (#& &) (“Ir Prof. Young”),
aged 66, was appointed as our independent non-executive Director,
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee on 15 September 2023. He is primarily responsible
for overseeing the management independently and providing
independent judgement on the issues of strategy, performance,
resources and standard of conduct of the Group.

Ir Prof. Young has over 40 years of executive experience and is
currently the Associate Director (Innovation) of Sino Group with
responsibility as head of innovation to explore and identify the Group’s
innovation and technology development and explore investment
opportunities. He was previously the Chief Commercial Officer (2011-
2017) of Hong Kong Science & Technology Parks Corporation and
Director of Partnership Development (1998-2011) of The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a current member of the Sixth Election
Committee of the Hong Kong Special Administration Region for the
term from Oct 2021 to Oct 2026. He is also a Member of the Hong
Kong Construction Industry Council, and a Member of the Council on
Connected World, World Economic Forum since 2022.

Ir Prof. Young graduated from the University of South Australia with a
Bachelor of Engineering (Mechanical Engineering) degree and holds
a Postgraduate Diploma in Business Administration and Master of
Business Administration. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers and a Chartered Professional Engineer of the
Institutions of Engineers Australia. Ir Prof. Young is also an Adjunct
Professor at The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
and The University of Hong Kong. He serves on various committees in
various tertiary institution, such as Singapore Management University,
City University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong Baptist University, The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University, and Vocational Training Council.
Ir Prof. Young also sits on various position in leading commerce
and industry associations, including the Chairman of Hong Kong
Automation Technology Council and Al & Robotics Alliance of Hong
Kong, Vice Chairman of the Hong Kong Medical and Healthcare
Device Industries Association. He is a Board member of several tech
startup companies in Hong Kong and serves as advisor to several
entitles in the tech and startup community globally and in Hong Kong.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEEREFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Choi Man On (“Mr. Choi”), aged 67, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director, chairman of the Board
and chairman of the Audit Committee on 8 July 2024. Mr. Choi is
currently a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales from 1986 to 2023. Mr. Choi
has been in the accountancy profession for over 40 years. He
started his career in 1980 in the United Kingdom and later returned
to Hong Kong in 1988 to join an international accounting firm as a
manager handling financial investigation assignments and insolvency
matters. Mr. Choi became one of the first batch of accredited
insolvency practitioners by the Institute of Hong Kong Certified Public
Accountants in 2011. He has been a partner and director of certified
public accountants firms for over 20 years in charge of compliance
work of listed companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. Cha Ho Wa (%) (“Mr. Cha”), aged 36, resigned as our
independent non-executive Director and a member of the
Remuneration Committee on 8 July 2024. He is primarily responsible
for overseeing the management independently and providing
independent judgement on the issues of strategy, performance,
resources and standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. Cha has over 7 years of experience in the legal profession in
Hong Kong. Mr. Cha was admitted as a solicitor of the High Court
of Hong Kong in October 2018. From December 2021 to December
2022, Mr. Cha was accredited as a general mediator by the Hong
Kong Mediation Accreditation Association Limited. Mr. Cha was
recoghized as an accredited trust professional by the Hong Kong
Trustees’ Association in July 2023.

Mr. Cha worked in Peter K.S. Chan & Co. since June 2016 with last
position as Partner of the firm. Mr. Cha has been working as a senior
consultant at Eddie Lee & Co., since April 2023. Mr. Cha has been
serving as a part-time guest lecturer at the Community College of the
School of Professional and Continuing Education of the University of
Hong Kong (HKUSPACE) from September 2022 to January 2023 and
from September 2023 up to January 2024.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Cha was an independent non-executive director of China Oil
Gangran Energy Group Holdings Limited (currently known as Century
Energy International Holdings Limited), a company listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8132.HK) from December 2020 to
September 2021.

Mr. Cha obtained a Bachelor’s degree from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong in November 2013. He then obtained a juris doctor
degree and a postgraduate certificate in laws from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in November 2015 and July 2016,
respectively. In July 2020, he obtained an executive certificate in
China business (taxation, law and accounting technologies) from the
School of Professional and Continuing Education of the University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Cha completed the general mediator training course
provided by the Hong Kong Mediation Centre in November 2020.
He also obtained practicing certificate and specialist certificate in
asset management in June 2021 from the Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute. Mr. Cha completed an online certificate program
on economics of blockchain and digital assets offered by The
Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania in December 2022.
Mr. Cha completed the online certificate course on environmental,
social, and governance reporting offered by the Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute in July 2023.

Apart from the above, Mr. Cha completed the Hong Kong Securities
and Investment Institute’s licensing examinations for securities
and futures intermediaries papers 1, 6, 7, and 12 from October
2020 to June 2021, and he completed the trust training certificate
examinations papers 1 and 2 conducted by the Hong Kong Trustees’
Association Limited from July 2022 to April 2023.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEEREFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Chu Kin Ming (& #&8) (“Mr. Chu”), aged 45, resigned as our
independent non-executive Director and the chairman of the Audit
Committee on 8 July 2024. He is primarily responsible for overseeing
the management independently and providing independent
judgement on the issues of strategy, performance, resources and
standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. Chu is currently an independent non-executive director of SK
Target Group Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8427.HK) since June 2017, an independent
non-executive director of Kelfred Holdings Limited, a company
listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1134.HK)
since June 2019, an independent non-executive director of Optima
Automobile Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8418.HK) since October 2019, an
independent non-executive director of Century Energy International
Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8132.HK) since February 2020 and an independent
non-executive director of Milestone Builder Holdings Limited, a
company listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1667.HK) since December 2020. Currently, Mr. Chu is the company
secretary of Sino-life Group Limited, a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8296.HK) since June 2019 and OCI
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 329.HK) since May 2021.

Mr. Chu has more than 18 years working experience in the
accounting and company secretary field. Mr. Chu had served as a
chief financial officer and company secretary of various companies
listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chu was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants in July 2008. He was admitted to
graduateship of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries)
and The Chartered Governance Institute (previously known as the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators). Mr. Chu
became a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in December 2012. He is also a member of the
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants.

Mr. Chu obtained a master’s degree in executive master of business
administration in The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2022 and a
bachelor’s degree in accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University.
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CREARRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to maintaining and achieving
high corporate governance standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Group to safeguard the
interests of shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its
business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Board is of the view that during the year ended 31 December
2024, the Company has complied with all the code provisions as set
out in the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings as
set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of
securities transaction by directors (the “Required Standard”).

Specific enquiry has been made to all Directors and the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Required Standard
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company has also extended the coverage of the Required
Standard adoption to the senior management of the Company
who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information of the Company (the “Relevant Employees”). No
incident of non-compliance of the Required Standard by the Relevant
Employees was noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from a

Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and whether
the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.
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ERERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Board Composition
The Board currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Ting (Chairman of the Board and
Chairman of the Nomination Committee)
(appointed on 8 July 2024)
Mr. Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin (Chief Executive Officer,
Compliance Officer and Member of the Remuneration Committee)
Ms. Chan Siu Sarah (appointed on 8 July 2024)
Mr. Lau Kai Tai (resigned on 8 July 2024)
Mr. Wong Ching (resigned on 8 July 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Liu Ta-pei (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
Member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee)
Ir Prof. Young Andrew Meng Cheung (Member of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee)
Mr. Choi Man On (Chairman of the Audit Committee)
(appointed on 8 July 2024)
Mr. Cha Ho Wa (resigned on 8 July 2024)
Mr. Chu Kin Ming (resigned on 8 July 2024)

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors” on pages 23 to 31 of this

annual report.

The relationships between the Directors are disclosed in the
respective Director’s biography under the section “Biographical

Details of Directors” on pages 23 to 31 of this annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held
by Mr. Chan and Mr. Cheuk respectively. The Chairman provides
leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning and
leadership of the Board. The Chief Executive Officer focuses on
the Company’s business development and daily management and
operations generally.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors representing
one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company with an initial term of three
years commencing from the respective dates of their appointment
subject to termination by either party, giving at least one months’
notice in writing.

According to the Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles”), one-third of the Directors for the time being (if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at each AGM
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. The retiring Directors should be
eligible for re-election at the relevant AGM. In addition, any new
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office only until the first general meeting of shareholders after his/
her appointment, whereas any Director appointed by the Board as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following AGM. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing
a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement
on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Continual Professional Development of Directors
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to
ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.

The record of continuous professional development relating to
director’s duties and regulatory and business development that have
been received by the Directors during the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to date of this report are summarised as follows:
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Director

BEE

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Chan Ting (Chairman) PRESE (F/)

(appointed on 8 July 2024)
Mr. Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin
Ms. Chan Siu Sarah

(appointed on 8 July 2024)

FRBEE
BREL L

Independent Non-Executive Directors BUHITESE

Dr. Liu Ta-pei 2IKEEL

Ir Prof. Young Andrew Meng Cheung B REHIK - TIEA
Mr. Choi Man On BXREE

(appointed on 8 July 2024)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Continual Professional Development of Directors

(Continued)
Note:

Types of Training

A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of the Company are established with specific written
terms of reference which deal clearly with their authority and duties.
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to
Shareholders upon request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board committee is
set out under “Corporate Information” on pages 3 to 5 of this annual
report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Choi Man On (Chairman), Dr. Liu Ta-pei and Ir
Prof. Young Andrew Meng Cheung.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are, among others, to make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of
external auditor, review the financial information, oversee the financial
reporting process, internal control and risk management systems
and audit process, and perform other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee held
three meetings to review the interim and annual financial results, audit
planning and reports, risk management and internal control systems
and significant issues on the financial reporting, operational and
compliance controls.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditor once without the
presence of the executive Directors.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive Director,
namely Mr. Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin, and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Dr. Liu Ta-pei (Chairman) and Ir Prof.
Young Andrew Meng Cheung.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the
Group, reviewing performance-based remuneration, and ensuring
none of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2024 to review the remuneration policy and
structure of the Company and the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management and other related matters.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band are set

out in note 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
of this annual report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director,
namely Mr. Chan Ting, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ir Prof. Young Andrew Meng Cheung and Dr. Liu Ta-pei.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal
duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board, and selecting or making
recommendations on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning
board diversity as set out in the Company’s board diversity policy,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board,
where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s character,
qualifications, experience, independence and other relevant criteria
necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve board
diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the
Board.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended
31 December 2024 to review the structure, size and composition of
the Board. The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
of the Board and is available on the website of the Company. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee
will review annually the structure, size and composition of the Board
and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and to
ensure that the Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation
to reviewing and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee is committed to diversity at all levels and will consider a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, experience, expertise,
qualifications, skills and knowledge as well as independence of the
Board.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business growth and
is also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices
at all levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately structured
so that a diverse range of candidates are considered.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement
the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to
time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made
towards achieving those objectives. The Nomination Committee will
review the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis to ensure its
effectiveness.

As at the date of this report, three of the Directors are independent

non-executive Directors and independent of management, thereby
promoting critical review and control of the management process.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

The Company is conscious of maintaining Board diversity with an
appropriate level of female members on the Board, which shall not
be less than one female member and may further increase in the next
five years. As at 31 December 2024 and the date of this report, the
Board comprised five male Directors and one female Director (i.e.
Ms. Chan Siu Sarah), in which case the Board considered gender
diversity has been achieved. While conscious efforts are being taken
by the Company to fulfil its Board Diversity Policy, all appointments
are ultimately made on a merit basis taking into account available and
Suitable candidates.

As at 31 December 2024, the gender ratio of the Group’s workforce
was approximately 61% male to 39% female. The Company’s hiring
is merit-based and non-discriminatory. The Board is satisfied that
the Company has achieved gender diversity in its workforce. Gender
diversity at workforce levels (including our senior management) is
disclosed in “Environment, Social and Governance Report” of this
annual report.

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee of the
Company.

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Director Nomination Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria
and process and the Board succession planning considerations in
relation to nomination and appointment of Directors of the Company
and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and the
continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Director Nomination Policy (Continued)

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the
suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, including but not limited to the following:

° Character and integrity;

° Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

° Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service;

° Requirements of Independent Non-executive Directors on the
Board and independence of the proposed Independent Non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

° Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest
to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for
the selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election of
Directors at general meetings.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
which sets out the approach to maintain a balance between meeting
shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management with a
sustainable dividend policy.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend pay-out
ratio. The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of the
Board. Any declaration of final dividend by the Company shall also
be subject to the approval of the shareholders in a shareholders’
meeting.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Dividend Policy (Continued)

The Directors may recommend a payment of dividends in the future
after taking into account the Group’s operations and earnings,
capital requirements and surplus, general financial condition,
contractual restrictions, capital expenditure and future development
requirements, shareholders’ interests and other factors which they
may deem relevant at such time. Any declaration and payment as
well as the amount of the dividends will be subject to constitutional
documents, any applicable laws and regulations, including the
Cayman Companies Law. Historical dividend distributions are
not indicative of the future dividend distribution. Any distributable
profits that are not distributed in any given year will be retained and
available for distribution in subsequent years. To the extent profits are
distributed as dividends, such portion of profits will not be available to
be reinvested in the Group’s operations.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board had reviewed
the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the
Required Standard and the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Regular board meetings should be held at least four times a year
involving active participation, either in person or through electronic
means of communication, of a majority of Directors. Four regular
board meetings were held, one EGM and one AGM were held for the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND

COMMITTEE MEMBERS (Continued)

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board

committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company held

for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in the table below:

BEERZEERELERR®)

HE2024F12A31BILFE  SE=LFEES
SNBERESCHUNARAREARENHE
REERH PN TR :

Annual  Extraordinary
Audit Remuneration  Nomination general general
Name of Director Board committee committee committee meeting meeting
EEpg gEzg ENZEE  HMZEE®  REZEE  RRBEAE  RREIAE
Mr. Chan Ting (Chairman) RELE () 2/2 N/A NER N/A N ER N/A NER N/ANER o
(appointed on 8 July 2024) (R2004%7 A8 AEZ(E)
Mr. Lau Kai Tai (Chairman) R L (1) 22 N/A NER N/A NER N/ANER 11 NATER
(resigned on 8 July 2024) (Ro004%7 H8 AEHE)
Mr. Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin EERAE 44 NATER N gl 1N 1N
Ms. Chan Siu Sarah REZT 22 NATER N/A NER N/ANER NANER o1
(appointed on 8 July 2024) (R2004%7 H8 AEES)
Mr. Wong Ching IHksE 12 NATER N/A TR N/A TER 11 N/A iR
(resigned on 8 July 2024) (R2004%7 A8 AHE)
Dr. Liu Ta-pei AREHL 4/4 3/3 17 17 17 17
Ir Prof. Young Ancrew Meng Cheung 15 #B#1#% - 112 4/4 W NATEH il il 1n
Mr. Choi Man On BYREE 2/2 22 NATEH N/ANER NATER 1n
(appointed on 8 July 2024) (R2004%7 H8 AEES)
Mr. Cha Ho Wa BERE 22 N/A & 11 N/A MER 1 N/A MER
(resigned on 8 July 2024) (R2004%7 A8 AFHE)
Mr. Chu Kin Ming REREE 2/2 11 N/A NER N/A NER 0 N/A MER
(resigned on 8 July 2024) (Ro024%7 H8AEHL)
Apart from regular board meetings, the Chairman also held one HBEEeTFH eI HE2024F12 A31 HIE

meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the

presence of executive Directors for the year ended 31 December

2024.

FICUS TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

FE  EFETREEATESTHEORRL T RS
TIFRTEERITR - REHE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted a series of internal control
policies, procedures and programs designed to provide reasonable
assurance for achieving objectives including effective and efficient
operations, reliable financial reporting and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations.

The ultimate goal of the Company’s risk management process is to
identify and focus on the issues in its business operations that create
impediments to the Company’s success. The risk management
process starts with identifying the major risks associated with the
corporate strategies, goals and objectives. The key process points in
the risk management include:

° Identify:  The Company identifies current and emerging risks
in its business operations and categorises those
risks into a reasonable profile based on timeframe,
likelihood, intensity and impact severity. The
Company establishes four risk categories, including
strategic risks, financial risks, operating risks and
legal risks.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(Continued)
° Assess:
° Mitigate:

° Measure:

The Company assesses and prioritises risks so that
the most important risks can be identified and dealt
with. Based on both qualitative and quantitative
analyses, the Company prioritises risks in terms of
likelihood and impact severity.

Based on the assessment of (i) the probability and
impact severity of the risks and (i) cost and benefit
of the mitigation plans, the Company chooses the
appropriate option for dealing with risks, including
risk elimination by suspending the associated
business activities, risk reduction by adopting
appropriate control measures, risk transfer by
outsourcing or purchasing insurance policies, and
risk acceptance by choosing to accept risks of low
priority.

The Company measures its risk management by
determining if changes have been implemented
and if changes are effective. In the event of any
weakness in control, the Company follows up
by adjusting its risk management measures and
reporting material issues to the Directors.

All divisions conducted internal control assessment regularly to

identify risks that potentially impact the business of the Group and

various aspects including key operational and financial processes,

regulatory compliance and information security.

The management, in coordination with division/department heads,

assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provided treatment plans,

and monitored the risk management progress, and reported to the

Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and the effectiveness

of the systems.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

The Company has engaged external professional firm for providing
the internal audit function and performing independent annual
review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems for the year ended 31 December
2024. The internal audit function examined key issues in relation
to the accounting practices and all material controls and provided
its findings and recommendations for improvement to the Audit
Committee. An assessment on our internal control systems has been
examined by the external professional firm during the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Board therefore considered the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are effective and adequate.

Whistleblowing procedures are in place to facilitate employees
of the Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of
the Company.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in
the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 92 to 98 of this annual
report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the current external auditor of the
Company, SFAI (HK) CPA Limited, in respect of audit services and
non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted
to HK$0.5 million. An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external
auditors of the Company, in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:
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Fees paid/

Services Category Payable
BR A% 38 Al et EAER
(HK$ million)

(BB#HIT)

Audit Services FHit IR 0.4
Non-audit Services EE AR 0.1
0.5

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Tam Chun Wai Edwin of Noble Partners CPA Company, an
external service provider, has been engaged by the Company as the
company secretary since 4 May 2019. Mr. Tam confirmed that he has
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the year ended 31 December 2024.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with shareholders through various
communication channels and a shareholders’ communication policy
is in place to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are
appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its
effectiveness.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

According to article 58 of the Articles, any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of
the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as a Director of the Company at a general
meeting, pursuant to article 85 of the Articles, the Shareholder (other
than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at
the general meeting shall send a written notice, duly signed by the
Shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such person for election
and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of his/her
willingness to be elected. These notices should be lodged at the
Company’s head office or the office of the Company’s branch share
registrar. The period for lodgement of such notices shall commence
on the day after the despatch of the notice of such general meeting
and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general
meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The
Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Unit 1305-10, 13/F, Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

Email: contactus@ficustech.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through AGMs and other general
meetings, publishing corporate communications such as interim
results and annual results, financial reports, announcements and
circulars. Shareholders may make enquiries with the Company
through channels as mentioned above, and provide comments and
recommendations to the Directors. Upon receipt of enquiries from
shareholders, the Company will respond as soon as practicable.

Constitution Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has not
made any changes to its Articles. An up-to-date version of the
Company’s Articles is also available on the Company’s website and
the Stock Exchange’s website.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS (Continued)

Policies relating to Shareholders

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy
to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.

During the year under review, an annual general meeting and an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company were held on 27 June
2024 and 24 July 2024, respectively, at which the Directors attended
either by person or by means of electronic facilities to communicate
with the shareholders of the Company. In addition, all corporate
communications and regulatory announcements were published by
the Company on its website and the website of the Stock Exchange
in a timely manner. The Board considers that the shareholders
communication policy is effective during the year ended under review.
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INTRODUCTION

The principal activities of the Group are (i) sales of apparel and
related products and other products with the provision of supply
chain management (“SCM”) services and the provision of SCM
service; (ii) provision of agency services for construction and related
materials; and (i) sales of innovative anti-counterfeit traceability and
marketing products and related ancillaries with the provision of SCM
solutions. This report summaries the policies, management approach
and performance of the Group in respect of corporate social
responsibility. This ESG report is focused on the Group’s principal
activities and prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide as described in Appendix 20 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Group recognises the importance of sustainable development.
Sustainability is crucial for the Group’s growth in order to achieve
business excellence and enhance long-term competitiveness. The
Group has established and implemented various policies to manage
and monitor the risks related to environment, employment, operating
practices and community. By assessing and evaluating ESG-
related risks and reporting performance, the Group is able to ensure
operational reliance and compliance with the relevant legal and
regulatory requirements.

This ESG report illustrated and highlights the environmental and social

performance of the Group for the reporting period from 1 January
2024 to 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERERS

OUR MISSION AND VISION

The Group aims, not only at providing quality services to meet
the multi-dimensional needs of customers, but also at assuring
employees’ health and safety and mitigating environmental impact.
To reach these goals, the Group is committed to:

° Ensuring statutory and regulatory compliance as well as
compliance with all applicable requirements;

° Delivering professional, effective and timely services and
products to satisfy the needs and expectation of customers;

° Providing healthy and safe working conditions for all employees,
contractors and other associated stakeholders with the
business activities;

° Conserving resources and protecting the environment through
effective prevention and monitoring of pollution;

° Striving to achieve zero hazards, incidents and non-compliance;
and

° Strengthening staff capacity and providing adequate resources
to continually improve the productivity and effectiveness of the
management system.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The Group has prepared the ESG Report in accordance to the
following reporting principles stated in the ESG Reporting Guide.

— Materiality: The Group communicates with our major
stakeholders’ groups on a regular basis to identify and assess
ESG-related issues that matter most from stakeholders’
perspectives. Key ESG issues identified through stakeholder
engagement and materiality assessment.

— Quantitative: Quantitative information/KPI presented in this
ESG Report is accompanied by narrative, explanation and
comparison wherever applicable.

— Balance: The Report aims to disclose data in an objective way,
which aims to provide stakeholders with a balance overview of
the Group’s overall ESG performance.

— Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the Group adopts
consistent methodologies and retrieves social and
environmental KPIs from the Group’s internal record system.
The scope of reporting and KPIs are consistent with those of
the previous report to allow meaningful comparison over time.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERERS

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group opens up communication with its stakeholders, including
government, shareholder, investors, employees and consumers,
through utilising different channels as listed the table below.
Through the stakeholders’ engagement, the Group understands the
expectations and concerns of stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained

&2 R

through these channels allow the Group to further formulate the

sustainable development strategy.
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Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures
BHE e SHRE it
Government —  To comply with the laws On-site inspectionsand  —  Operated, managed and

—  Proper tax payment

—  Promote regional
economic development
and employment

B3 —  ETER
- XEHNBE
—  HEPmREEERERE

checks

Research and
discussion through
work conferences, work
reports preparation and
submission for approval
Annual reports

Website

BERREeE
BETFERETHRAR
A RELTIERE IR
R AL

Fh

(S

paid taxes according to
laws and regulations

—  Strengthened safety
management

—  Accepted the
Government’s supervision,
inspection and evaluation

— Actively undertook social
responsibilities

—  REBZEFERERETEE
EIR RN RIE

- MEZEER

— BEXBFEE - mE&TE

— ERETHEgRME

2024 F i | MERMEZERBRAR 55



56

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE #HEBRER

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT (Continued)

Stakeholder
&

wE

Expectation

HE

Engagement channel
SERRE

BFHhESHEE

Measures

# it

Shareholders and
Investors

BRRIEEH

Low risk

Return on the investment
Information disclosure
and transparency
Protection of interests
and fair treatment of
shareholders

R

BB @
BRENMERE
REEHE R R AT HFACR
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—  Annual general meeting
and other shareholders’
meetings

—  Annual reports, circulars
and announcements

—  Newsletters

—  Meeting with investors
and analysts
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—  Issued notices of general
meetings and proposed
resolutions according to
laws and regulations

—  Disclosed company’s
information by publishing
announcements/circulars
and periodic reports during
the year

—  Carried out different forms
of investor activities with an
aim to improve investors’
recognition

—  Held results briefing once

—  Disclosed company
contact details on website
and in reports and
ensured all communication
channels are available and
effective
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERRSE

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT (Continued) BFaESHEHw®)
Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures
BHE e SERE #it
Employees —  Safeguard therightsand —  Conference —  Provided a healthy and
interests of employees —  Training, seminars, safe working environment
—  Working environment briefing sessions —  Developed a fair
—  Career development —  Cultural and sport mechanism for promotion
opportunities activities —  Established labor unions
—  Self-actualization —  Newsletters at all levels to provide
—  Health and safety —  Emails communication platforms
for employees
—  Cared for employees by
helping those in need
—  Organising employee
activities
{=3=] —  RERSERE#ER - &# — RHERRZENIERSE
—  IERE —  BIEe - gHe — BN RTREFES
— BETERME —  X{tKEEREH - RUBZRIerEEREHE
- BHER — HER BYa
- BERZZ —  EH — BUREDEFRENES
— HEBEEED
Customers —  Safe and high-quality —  Website, brochures, —  Strengthened quality
products annual reports management to ensure
—  Stable relationship —  Email and customer stable production and
— Information transparency service hotline smooth transportation
— Integrity —  Feedback forms —  Entered into long-term
—  Business ethics —  Regular meetings strategic cooperation
agreements
LSS - ZERKEEEM — @k MMBTF o FER —  NREEEBEUERETEL
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT BEEMFTM

In the year, the Group undertakes its annual materiality assessment R - AEBERETEFE T BTG - B kM
exercise. This involves conducting interviews and/or surveys with — REB R INEBIFH EEITHA R AL - AER
internal and external stakeholders to identify the most significant $HEKSEBHLE - BIEMTESFE -
operating, environmental and social impacts towards its business.

Materiality matrix for Environmental, Social
and Governance Aspects

BRIE g kEnsiEnNE2MERE
8,9,10,11,13,14,

)
15,16
CT) 5 [ J
i)
o 6,17
c #H
T o ®
X I
© %H 3,7,12
)
[9)] g 3 ( J
) N 1,2,4,5
8 QS 2 o
§ i 18
S jﬁ 1 ( J
o
£ 0
0 1 2 3 4 5
Importance to business
YREHEE
Environmental Social Operating practices
B e RERR
1. Greenhouse gas emissions 8. Employee welfare 14.  Product responsibility
1. OREREHN 8. BI®F 14. EREME
2.  Waste 9. Labour standards 15. Intellectual property
2. EEY 9. HBIER| 15, HFERE
3. Energy consumption 10.  Occupational health and safety 16. Customer privacy
3. BEIREAE 10. BERERELTSE 16. BB
4. Water consumption 11.  Training and development 17.  Anti-corruption
4. FKE 1. FIIRERE 17. RES
5. Utilization of energy resources 12.  Anti-child labour and forced labour ~ 18.  Community investment
5. BEREEA 12, HIEETREFIST 18. tHEKE
6. Use of packaging material 13.  Supply chain management
6. BEMEER 13. HEEER
7. Environmental impact of business
7. EBHBBMPE
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

Emission

Given the nature of the operations, the Group poses less negative
impact to the environment than most traditional industries. The Group
is not aware of any material environmental liability risk or compliance
costs. However, the Group is committed to continuously improving
our business environmental sustainability. In striving to do the right
things as a company, the Group recognises that it has a responsibility
to reduce the impact of the operations and be accountable for the
resources and materials it uses each day.

The Group’s businesses are mostly carried out in office located in
Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). During the
year, the total floor area coverage of the Group was around 1,492 m?
(2023: 1,192 m?). The Group has encompassed the general approach
towards controlling environmental impacts of office activities. The
Group’s most significant environmental impacts are greenhouse gas
(*GHG”) emissions from electricity consumption, such as from the
air-conditioning system, the lighting system, computers, printers and
other office equipment. The Group does not engage in any discharge
of waste into water and land, and there was no significant generation
of hazardous wastes and non-hazardous wastes. In line with the aim
to minimise emissions, the Group has implemented energy saving
practices which are mentioned in the session of “Use of Resources”
to reduce the GHG emissions.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued)
Emission (Continued)
The GHG emission during the Reporting Period is as follow:

RIBEEMHE @)
BERY ()
FA3R 4 BRI A0 =R AR T

Table 1 GHG Emission R1BERBHK
Equivalent CO,
Scope emission (kg)
“EtREEHEN
i) = (F%)
2024 2023
2024 20234
Scope 1 Ei S 1 Nil £ Nil 4
Scope 2 Bl 35,557 15,658
Total FES 35,557 15,658
24 kg/m?® 13 kg/m?®
Intensity mE 24F 5%,/ I FK 13F % L HK
Note: IEE

The calculation of GHG is based on the “Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standard” from greenhouse gas protocol.

Scope 1: Direct emission from vehicle that owned by the Group

Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased electricity
consumed by the Group
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R HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Use of Resources

The Group places high priority on the efficient use of resources. The
major resources used by the Group are electricity, water and paper.
Due to our business nature, no packaging material is used. The
Group strives to improve the efficient use of natural resources, such
as minimising waste/emissions and implementing effective recycling
program. Practical measures are implemented as follows:

Electricity

Electricity saving measures are encouraged. Electrical appliances
are required to be set as energy saving mode where possible. For
computers, the automatic sleep mode is scheduled to be 20 minutes
or less. The room temperature should be set at a range from 20°C to
26°C. Also, power supply should be switched off when they are not
in use. Preference will be given to office equipment with relatively high
energy efficiency.

The energy consumption during the Reporting Period is as follows:

RIEEHE®

BREA
AEBSEERENERER . AEBEHY
FBERAEH KRR - BREMMER M
B RS RE AR AEES N
RAFEBRALRNUS  fIORERLSER
W, B R BT 2 AR E UG B - AR
BRI BRI T

Eh

BB RMENAENRER - HEBRR
AR BEIRER - BN 205 B R A B A B
B ERNRAEEERERNER20EEZREK26E
2 e s - EAHEDE AR EZERE - R
BIERFARRAER SO AEE -

RERE M RERERE T -

Table 2 Energy Consumption R2REFHER
Consumption
Energy (kWh)
HEE
BEIR (FEE)
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
Electricity B 48,296 28,469
Energy Intensity BEREE 32.37 23.88
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Use of Resources (Continued)

Water

The impact of freshwater use is relatively insignificant for the Group
as its businesses are services-focused. The Group did not encounter
any problems in sourcing water that is fit for purpose. Water rate
charges do not form a separate item in the rent, yet the Group
encourages staff to reduce water wastage, such as, by not running
water taps while cleaning in the pantry.

The water consumption during the Reporting Period is as follows:

Table 3 Water Consumption

RIEEHE®

BRER @

JiiPi 3
RNEBESERSTERERL QO RAKERNY
SIBETA o 7k 8 B 72 RN A /KR L 3 58 3
T - Ak BI AP —EBIIER - B
ANEBMEEE TRARERK - fIInEZKESE
BT —H T BIKEETE -

RREEMFERKENT
RI3FEKE

Consumption

Water (m?)
HIEE
7K (3Z753K)
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F

Water K Nil & 59
Intensity =g Nil £ 0.05 mé/m?

0.0532 1K,/ 5K

FICUS TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2024



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Use of Resources (Continued)

Paper

Reduction in paper use indirectly reduces the overall GHG
emission. The Group has been taking various steps to reduce
paper consumption such as to reduce the use of paper by printing
or photocopying on both sides of paper, where applicable and
to encourage the employees to use suitable font size/shrinkage
mode to minimise pages, if possible. Besides, electronic media is
recommended for circulation/communication, to minimise using

paper.

During the Reporting Period, the paper consumption was 170 kg
(2023: 212 kg).

During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed/generated no
significant hazardous waste, non-hazardous waste, and packaging
materials due to its business nature. The Group is not aware of any
material violation in all applicable environmental laws and regulations.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group raises staff’'s awareness on environmental issues through
education and training and enlist employees’ support in improving the
Group’s performance, promote environmental awareness amongst
the customers, business partners and shareholders and support
community activities in relation to environmental protection and
sustainability and evaluate regularly and monitor past and present
business activities impacting upon health, safety and environmental
matters. With the integration of policies mentioned in sections
“Emission” and “Use of Resource”, the Group strives to minimise the
impacts to the environment and natural resources.

Climate Change

Climate change is a prevalent issue to all sectors and geographical
regions. However, as a SCM and agency service provider, climate
change is not a material aspect for the Group in the short and
medium term.

RIEEHE®
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SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and labour practices

We consider our employees to be our valuable assets and therefore
attach great importance to our recruitment. We recruit employees
possessing necessary skills and creative talents to help execute
and achieve our business strategies and objectives. The Group
assesses the available human resources on a continuous basis and
will determine whether additional personnel are required to cope
with the business development of the Group. In line with the need
of business development and the principles of fairness and justice,
the Group selects the best and suitable qualified candidates through
open recruitment or internal promotion. The Group applies robust and
transparent recruitment processes based on merit selection against
the job criteria, and recruit individuals based on their suitability for the
position and potential to fulfil the Group’s current and future needs.

The promotion of the Group’s employees is subject to regular review.
The Group gives priority to internal promotion and encourages
employees to compete for internal job vacancies. The Group has set
targets for each employee’s work, assessed their performance on an
annual basis and set clear guidelines and regulations to improve the
efficiency of the employees and departments. This system provides
reference standards for salary adjustment, bonus distribution and
promotion.

Any termination of employment contract should be based on
reasonable, lawful grounds and internal policies, such as the
Employee Handbook. The Group strictly prohibits any kind of unfair
or illegitimate dismissals. For those who have unsatisfactory working
performance or repeatedly made mistakes, the Group would give
verbal warning before issuing a warning letter. For those who shows
no improvement, the Group would consider dismissing the employees
according to the relevant laws in Hong Kong and the PRC.
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SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Employment and labour practices (Continued)

The Group entered into separate labour contracts with each of our
employees in accordance with the applicable labour laws of Hong
Kong and the PRC. We have set up a competitive remuneration
system that links a portion of our employees’ compensation to
the performance of our business in order to provide incentives
to our employees to strive for better results. Our remuneration
package includes basic salary, bonuses and allowances. We place
great emphasis on employee performance in determining their
remuneration. We review the performance of our employees regularly,
and the reviewed outcome is used for the employee’s salary review
and promotion appraisal.

We also maintain employees’ compensation insurance for all of
our employees as required under the Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the PRC. We
operate defined contribution retirement benefits schemes under MPF
schemes registered under the relevant laws and regulations for our
employees in Hong Kong and pay social insurance payments for
employees in the PRC. Contributions to such schemes are based on
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

As at 31 December 2024, the total workforce of the Group was 31
(2023: 20), all of which worked full-time.

HEER®)

EENRETEN @)
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2024 F 3R / MERRHEERERAT 65



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HERERRSE

SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued) HtEEHE®)
Employment and labour practices (Continued) e 25 TIEH (&)
The employee composition of the Group is listed in the following  ZR&EBEH B THEAN TR
table:

2024 2023
Employee Structure BI&E 2024 F 20234
Total number of employees BETHE 31 20
By gender =t 5IE 5
Male B 61.3% 70.0%
Female pegi 38.7% 30.0%
By age group HE B AR E) 7
26-35 26 £ 351% 48.4% 10.0%
36-45 36 £ 4555 29.0% 40.0%
46-55 46 £ 55755 9.7% 35.0%
56 or above 56 5% A 12.9% 15.3%
By employee category ZIEREFZ 5
Senior management R ERE 16.1% 30.0%
Middle management R E IR 45.2% 45.0%
General staff —RET 38.7% 25.0%
By geographical regions e IR [ 15 2 5
Hong Kong BB 58.1% 55.0%
PRC H 41.9% 45.0%
54 (20283: 4) employee left the Group during the Reporting Period,  REREHIRE - AEE B 544 (20234 - ML) EE

contributing to an overall turnover rate of 174% (2023: 20%). The B B K 82 5 2k T B174% (20234 : 20%) °
turnover rate increased significantly due to expansion of the Group 2SR KIEIE N JY R A AN EE B A E R ESR AT ER o
during the year.

During the Reporting Period, no material non-compliance regarding W& HIR  NEBESKHEEMBEEHERNE
employment has been brought against the Group or its employee. KIEIEFIE -
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R HERERERS

SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Health and Safety

As we do not own or operate any manufacturing facilities, we are not
subject to any manufacturing-related occupational health, work safety
and environmental issues. As required under Hong Kong and the
PRC laws, we take out employees’ compensation insurance for our
employees.

The occupational health and safety data during the Reporting Period

HEEE W)

RBEREE

FR T P30 4 478 75 0 4% BT (W B 500 - B
FEMREEEBORERE  THER2RES
ETNR - REEERFEEERT RS A
BEIRIEESRERR -

RIS MR L RERZ 2 BT -

is as follows:
2024 2023 2022
2024 F 2023 F 2022
Male Female Male Female Male Female

Health and Safety BEEAZE B k43 B i B i
Number of work-related AT ERR M

fatalities TR A Nil Z Nil Z NIl Z NIl Z NIl ZE NIl Z
Lost days due to work A TEEk

injury TERE Nil & Nil & NIl Z NIl Z NIl Z NIl Z
During the Reporting Period, no non-compliance cases were noted in - A& HAifE - WEZIRT AT A REELZ 20K

relation to laws and regulations for health and safety.

REEROER -
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RiR - HERERERS

SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Development and Training

We believe that on-going development and training of our
employees is critical to our success. We are committed to employee
development and provide various training to our employees to
support their further development through education allowance to
reimburse fees of external training seminars as stated in the staff
policy book. We believe it is a win-win approach for achieving both
employee and corporate goals as a whole.

2024
2024 &
Percentage of

HtEERE®
%JE&iJH
AR - 1R B H0 R 0 R B 3 3 P Bk
HEMEE - RMBEAREERE T ARER
HEFEEY - RBH B R RSB E

WER(MEB THEFMATM) - ASHREFE—
FERE - BRABEGEHIIEREE REXEER
BEzgmI -

employee
trained

2023
2023 %
Average Percentage of Average
training hours employee training hours
(per employee) trained  (per employee)

19 32 3 B B

TR

ZIEIESHE (BHEE) ZJEIASE (BEEE)
By gender ZIE5IE 5
Male E=lis 21% 34.7 36% 10.2
Female pegia 17% 12.0 50% 18.3
By employee category — IZIEIEIEFIE 5
Senior management RERE 33% 40.0 50% 6.3
Middle management R EIERE 22% 18.0 44% 23.3
General staff —®BT N/A 38 A N/A B A 20% 1.0
Labour Standards 4 T %8|
The Group strictly complies with laws to prohibit the employment  ARNE&EBERRBETIAE 2 AL EREREZETM

of child and forced labour in any of its operations. The Group’s
recruitment management system has set out requirements for
the legal working age of employees. The Group reviews and
verifies applicant’s identity documents such as proofs of academic
qualifications and working experience during the recruitment process.
Applicant who is suspected to have false academic qualifications
and working experiences will not be employed. The Group enters
employment contract with each of its employee in accordance with
relevant laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with child and forced labour-related laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the Employment Ordinance
(Cap. 57 of Laws of Hong Kong), the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Protection of Minors, Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERERS

SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Supply Chain Management

To focus the time and resources of the Group on the provision of
SCM services in relation to the apparel products, the Group has
outsourced the manufacturing of products that ordered by customers
to its suppliers in the PRC and other regions.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had 9 (2023: 11) suppliers as
below:

HEEE W)

i e o B 78
BEEAREER A HREERNEEREER
BHEBRRER AEECEESITBNERN
HEEESME T o B R LM R P4 7

2024512 A31H - ANEEFE T4 (20234 :
114)HpER -

2024 2023
No. of suppliers HEEHA 2024 F 2023 F
PRC i 9 7
Hong Kong B 0 1
Madagascar B 5z AN AN 0 1
Cambodia HIESE 0 1
Malaysia BRI 0 0
Macau JRFT 0 1

Our sales and sourcing team is responsible for the overall production
management including selecting and engaging suppliers for the
apparel and other products. We have adopted and implemented
policies and procedures in selecting new suppliers for the apparel
and other products and monitoring their ongoing performance. We
regularly select and evaluate our suppliers, based on a number of
factors including technical capability, manufacturing capacity, quality,
reputation, timely delivery, pricing, costs and payment terms.

Besides, to determine whether to allocate production orders to
suppliers in the PRC, Madagascar or Cambodia, we typically take
into consideration of their prices, technical capabilities, production
capacities, delivery schedules and their respective competitive
strengths. Suppliers in different countries and different regions of the
PRC have their own competitive strengths. For example, for apparel
related products, suppliers in the southern region of the PRC are
equipped with advanced manufacturing equipment and are capable
of manufacturing a wide variety of apparel products. Suppliers in the
central and northern regions of the PRC are in close proximity to raw
material supply and thereby are able to manufacture apparel products
at lower costs. For our suppliers in Madagascar and Cambodia,
the costs of manufacturing apparel products are more competitive
due to the lower labour costs in Madagascar and Cambodia, and
the exemption of import duty for exporting apparel products from
Madagascar and Cambodia to Europe.

BAMHERRBEEGARRELETE 81
EENIEFR R EMERAHER - AR
KEEMERICENHEHLERREORER
BRERALBITHRLERF - HAREZER
=(BREEMEr  HiEEH EE BE 2
B A~ FEME -~ BOAS R AN A6 SR) TE A B AT
kg -

o BEEREDEEETEEHRE - HEM
HipnssRImEnHER - RABEZEEER
BAlrae ) - £EREN REKBRRRSEEEH
HEED - TRABERETE TR HER
BEAESHFED - Pl REREMBERT
5 ERHERLECERERE  ERRES
BRI Ed o Fh REIHBRAR TR AHE
f& R BE IR BUE A A SUERR R dn o BRI
BB E A RSB RNBEEN S - REER
BUERARS A S S - T E NI KR
FRH) B B AN B I S AR S o R S S AN A K
SRIBFEH O EBUMBEER R O -
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SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Supply Chain Management (Continued)

We further evaluate such suppliers’ performance through our
inspections on the apparel and other products. We follow up closely
with our suppliers on production and delivery schedules in order to
ensure that the finished products can be delivered in accordance
with our customers’ requirements. Thus, we believe there are no
significant environmental and social risks for our management
decision on supply chain management.

Product Responsibility

Quality assurance

We maintain a quality control programme for the apparel and other
products, with the view to ensuring the overall quality of the apparel
and other products. For example, for apparel related products,our
quality control team performs on-site inspections on the raw materials
to be used on the apparel products and semi-finished products to
ensure they meet the relevant specifications. In addition, for apparel
related products, our quality control team inspects and performs
laboratory tests on the raw materials in accordance with the local and
international standards, where necessary. Our quality control team
reviews such test results and decides whether the raw materials meet
our quality requirements.

For apparel related products, we carry out inspections on the apparel
products ordered by our customers during the production process
using different inspection methods. Before the packaging and
delivery of finished products to customers, we perform on-site quality
inspections to ensure that all finished products comply strictly with
customers’ requirements and our internal standards. If any defect
is found in the finished products, we require the suppliers to rectify
the defects at no additional cost and subsequently re-examine the
reprocessed products. After passing the final inspection, all finished
products are packed for delivery.

For our quality control measure over selection of suppliers, please

refer to aspect “Supply Chain Management” in this ESG Report for
further details.
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R HERERERS

SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Product Responsibility (Continued)

Product return policy

The apparel products ordered by our customers are subject to
final inspections before delivery to ensure they conform with our
specifications and quality requirements and thus not subject to recalls
for safety and health reasons. We do not have a product return
policy. However, we may return products due to quality issues or
require our suppliers to rectify any defects our customers identified
after delivery of the products. In the event that issues relating to
product return arises, we follow up closely with our customers on any
claims or requests for product return, payment refund, rectification or
price discount, and may enter into negotiations with our customers to
resolve the issue on a case by case basis.

During the Reporting Period, other than a one-off claim made by an
apparel client regarding the apparel goods supplied by the Group, the
Group has not received any other products related complaints.

Intellectual property rights

The Group highly respects property right (including intellectual
property). Employees shall comply with laws and regulations
applicable to locations where business operates.

Data protection

Employees are generally required to follow the confidentiality
clause as stated in the staff policy book and employment contract,
requesting employees not to disclose any trade secret or other
confidential information concerning the business or affairs of the
Group except for benefit of the Group with further authorisation.

During the Reporting Period, there were no cases of non-compliance
against products and services related laws and regulations.

HEEE W)

EDDE\EE(%E
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SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Product Responsibility (Continued)

Anti-Corruption

To ensure operation efficiency and employees’ development in a
fair and honest working environment, the Group has formulated
whistleblowing policy to avoid suspected corruption and provided
channel such as by letters, meetings, emails or phone calls for
employees to report suspected corruption. If there are any suspected
case related to corruption, employees are encouraged to report the
related cases through the mentioned channels. All these practical
actions not only win the trust of customers, but also enhance the
sense of belonging and fair play among our employees. The Group
has been in strict compliance with laws and regulations related to
anti-corruption.

The Group will provide training to our directors and employees on
anti-corruption practices in the ensuing financial year.

During the Reporting Period, no legal cases regarding corrupt
practices were brought against the Group or its employees.

Community Investment

As a socially responsible company, the Group is committed to
understand the needs of the communities in which we operate. The
Group understands that a productive relationship with the community
is the only sustainable way for the Company to gain ground in the
market. The Group is therefore committed to handling all opinions
and feedbacks from the community in a dynamic, friendly and
responsive manner. The Group contributes to the community by
bringing employment opportunities to locals whenever appropriate
to echo with our mutually-beneficial relationship. The Group strives
to develop long-term relationship with our stakeholders and seek to
make more contributions to have a positive impact on community
development.

During the Reporting Period, our employees actively participate in the
“Oxfam Trailwalker”. The Group will consider potential focus areas
and resources for community contribution in the next Reporting

Period.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

The Directors are pleased to present the annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024,

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 32
to the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The principal
activity of the Group are (i) sales of apparel and related products
with the provision of supply chain management services; (i) sales of
innovative anti-counterfeit traceability and marketing products and
related ancillaries with the provision of supply chain management
solutions; and (i) provision of agency services for construction and
related materials.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
that has a significant impact on the business and operations of the
Group during the year under review.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 99 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in note 15 of the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31
December 2024, the key factors affecting its results and financial
position are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this annual report. A fair review of, and an indication
of likely future developments in the Group’s business are set out in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” in this annual report.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties of the Group are summarized as
follow:

(@  Reliance upon limited number of major customers

(b)  Failure to respond to changes in fashion trends and preferences
of our customers and end consumers

(c) Reliance on supplies for the manufacturing of apparel products
(d) Increase in the costs of raw materials or labour

(e)  Any other principal risks involved in the Group

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 231 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital and movements during the
year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rate basis to existing
Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for the period from
1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves on the Group and the Company
during the year under review are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 102 and note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to approximately HK$Nil (2023: HK$NIil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s largest and
five largest customers’ aggregate amount represented approximately
55.9% (20283: approximately 77.1%) and 99.1% (2023: approximately
99.3%) of the Group’s total revenue, respectively.

During the year under review, the Group’s largest and five largest
suppliers’ aggregate amount represented approximately 46.9% (2023:
approximately 25.6%) and 98.9% (2023: approximately 96.3%) of the
Group’s total purchase, respectively.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors nor any
of their close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) nor any
shareholders who or which own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital had any beneficial interest in any of the Group’s
five largest customers and/or suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report
were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Ting (Chairman)
(appointed on 8 July 2024)
Mr. Lau Kai Tai (Chairman)
(resigned on 8 July 2024)
Mr. Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin
Ms. Chan Siu Sarah
(appointed on 8 July 2024)
Mr. Wong Ching (resigned on 8 July 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Liu Ta-pei
Ir Prof. Young Andrew Meng Cheung
Mr. Choi Man On
(appointed on 8 July 2024)
Mr. Cha Ho Wa (resigned on 8 July 2024)
Mr. Chu Kin Ming (resigned on 8 July 2024)

Pursuant to article 84 of the Article, at each AGM, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an AGM at least once every three years. A
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Chan Ting (who was appointed
by the Board on 8 July 2024), Ms. Chan Siu Sarah (who was
appointed by the Board on 8 July 2024) and Mr. Choi Man On (who
was appointed by the Board on 8 July 2024) shall retire from office
by rotation at the AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM.
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the Directors of the Group are set out on
pages 23 to 31 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
the respective dates of their appointments and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing served
by either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with our Company with an initial term of three
years commencing from the respective dates of their appointments,
subject to termination by either party by giving at least one month’
notice in writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has proposed or
entered into any service agreement or appointment letter with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

Our Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors regarding his independence in accordance with
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers each of them being
independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Under the Articles, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, cost, charges, losses, damages and expenses
incurred or sustained by him as a Director provided that this indemnity
shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty
attached to him. The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
cover in respect of legal action against the Directors.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors with
reference to their responsibilities, workload, and time devoted to the
Group and the performance of the Group.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors are set out in note 12 of
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report, neither Director nor a connected entity of a
Director had any material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contract of significance to the business
of the Group, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party during the year ended 31 December 2024.

COMPETING INTEREST

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or
any of their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules), engaged in any business that competes or may compete
with the business of the Group, or had any other conflict of interest
with the Group. A deed of non-competition dated 16 April 2018
was entered into by the controlling shareholders in favour of the
Company (for itself and as a trustee for its subsidiaries) (the “Deed”),
details of which were set out in the section headed “Relationship with
Controlling Shareholder” of the Prospectus.

The Company has received an annual confirmation from the
controlling Shareholders in respect of their compliance with the
non-competition undertakings under the Deed throughout the period
from the Listing Date to 31 December 2024. The independent
non-executive Directors have also reviewed the compliance with
the non-competition undertakings under the Deed by the controlling
Shareholders and confirmed that the controlling Shareholders have
not been in breach of the Deed during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Required Standard regarding

Directors’ securities transactions. Having been enquired by the
Company, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
Required Standard during the year ended 31 December 2024.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 16 April 2018 pursuant to a resolution
passed by the Company’s then sole shareholder. The following is a
summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme but does
not form part of, nor was it intended to be, part of the Share Option
Scheme nor should it be taken as affecting the interpretation of the
rules of the Share Option Scheme:

()  Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide eligible
participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in the
Company and to motivate, attract and retain the eligible
participants whose contributions are important to the long-term
growth and profitability of the Group.

(i) Participants of the Share Option Scheme and

Eligibility Criteria

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include
any employee, adviser, consultant, service provider, agent,
customer, partner or joint-venture partner of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries (including any director of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries) who is in full-time or part-time
employment with or otherwise engaged by the Company or any
of its subsidiaries at the time when an option is granted.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(i)

Maximum number of Shares subject to Options
The total number of shares available for issue in respect of
which options may be granted pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
shall not exceed 100,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the Shares
of the Company in issue as at the date of the listing on 4 May
2018 (i.e., 1,000,000,000 Shares) (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit”). The Company may renew the Scheme Mandate Limit
with shareholders’ approval provided that each such renewal
may not exceed 10% of the shares in the Company in issue as
at the date of the shareholders’ approval.

The maximum number of shares underlying all outstanding
options which have been granted and have yet to be exercised
pursuant to the Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company shall not exceed 30.0% of the shares in issue
from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible
Participant

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company in the
manner as set out in the Share Option Scheme, the maximum
number of shares underlying the options granted to each
eligible participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1.0% of the
shares of the Company in issue for the time being.

Option period

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to
be determined and identified by our Board to each grantee at
the time of making an offer for the grant of an option, but in any
event no later than 10 years from the date of grant (the “Option
Period”).

Payment on acceptance of Option offer

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted by an eligible
participant concerned in respect of all Shares which are offered
to such eligible participant when the duplicate letter comprising
acceptance of the offer duly signed by the eligible participant,
together with a non-refundable remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof is received by the Company within such time as may be
specified in the offer (which shall not be later than 21 days from,
and inclusive of, the date of offer).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
(vii) Subscription price

Subject to any restrictions applicable under the Listing Rules,
an option may be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee at
any time during the Option Period in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme and the terms on which the option
was granted.

The subscription price for Shares under the Share Option
Scheme shall be determined at the discretion of our Directors
but in any event will not be less than the highest of (a) the
closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as shown in
the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the offer
date of the particular option, which must be a business day;
(b) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as shown
in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the offer date of that
particular option; and (c) the nominal value of a Share on the
offer date of the particular option.

(viii) Life of the Share Option Scheme

(ix)

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
commencing from the adoption date of the Share Option
Scheme until the termination date as provided therein (which
being the close of business of the Company on the date which
falls ten years from the date of the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme), after which period no further options will be granted
but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in
force to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of
any options granted or exercised prior thereto or otherwise as
may be required in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme.

Present status of the Share Option Scheme

No share option was granted, lapsed, exercised or cancelled
by the Company under the Share Option Scheme since its
adoption on 16 April 2018 and there was no outstanding share
option as at the date of this annual report (2023: Nil).

Further details on the principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme were summarised in the paragraph headed “Statutory
and General Information — D. Share Option Scheme” in
Appendix IV to the Prospectus.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the sub-sections headed “Interests and Short
Positions of Directors and Chief Executive in the Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporation” and “Share Option Scheme” in this annual report, at no
time during the year ended 31 December 2024 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executive of the
Company (including their spouses or children under 18 years of age)
to have any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any
of its associated corporations as defined in the Securities and Future
Ordinance (the “SFO”) or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES AND
COMPLIANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and code provisions as set out in the CG Code as set
out in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Board and the
management of the Company are committed to maintaining and
achieving a high standard of corporate governance practices with an
emphasis on a quality Board, an effective accountability system and
a healthy corporate culture in order to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders of the Company and enhance the business growth of
the Group. Where applicable, the Company has complied with the
code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the year ended 31
December 2024.

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the

Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
32 to 51 of this annual report.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

On 3 March 2025, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with Arena Business Solutions Global SPC I, Ltd (the
“Investor”), pursuant to which, from time to time, the Company
shall have the right to issue and sell to the Investor up to an amount
equivalent to US$100 million (or approximately HK$780 million) worth
of Shares (the “Equity-Linked Agreement”). In consideration for
the Investor’s execution and delivery of the subscription agreement,
the Company shall issue or cause to be issued to the Investor
26,000,000 Shares (the “Commitment Fee Shares”) that having an
aggregate Commitment Fee Shares price equal to US$2 million (or
approximately HK$15.6 million), that is HK$0.6 per Commitment Fee
Share. The issuance of the Commitment Fee Shares will be under a
specific mandate of the Company and require passing by way of an
ordinary resolution by the independent Shareholders of the Company
at an extraordinary general meeting in accordance with the GEM
Listing Rule.

This Equity-Linked Agreement provides the Company with the
necessary financial resources to support its working capital needs,
general corporate purposes, and growth opportunities. Further, it can
offer significant flexibility, enabling the Company to request advances
as needed, rather than drawing down the entire facility at once,
thereby avoiding large and immediate share dilution. By opting to pay
the commitment fee in the form of Commitment Fee Shares instead
of cash, the Company can retain its cash for other critical operational
needs or investment opportunities.

Further details of the above are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 3 March 2025.

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in this annual report, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the year under review.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group aims to protect the environment by minimising adverse
impacts of daily operations to environment, such as energy and
recycling of office resources. The Group will continue to seek better
environmental practices and promote the correct environmental
attitudes and values within the organisation. The Group has complied
with all relevant laws, rules and regulations regarding environmental
protection, health and safety, workplace conditions and employment.

Details of the environmental policy are set out in the ESG Report on
pages 52 to 72 of this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Group were entered into or existed during the year under
review.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of the annual report, there was a sufficient
prescribed public float as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

PLACING OF SHARES

On 30 November 2023, the Company entered into a placing
agreement pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot and
issue up to 5,000,000 new shares to certain placees at a placing
price of HK$5.20 per placing shares. The placing was completed
on 20 December 2023 and 3,450,000 new shares were issued with
the net proceeds in approximately HK$17.8 million. For details of
the placing and the use of proceeds, please refer to the paragraph
headed “Placing of Shares and Use of Proceeds” in the Management
Discussion and Analysis Section of this annual report.

On 13 November 2024, the Company entered into a placing
agreement pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot and
issue up to 135,450,000 new shares to certain placees at a placing
price of HK$0.60 per placing shares. The placing was completed
on 3 January 2025 and 13,430,000 new shares were issued with
the net proceeds in approximately HK$7.7 million. For details of
the placing and the use of proceeds, please refer to the paragraph
headed “Placing of Shares and Use of Proceeds” in the Management
Discussion and Analysis Section of this annual report.

On 24 January 2025, the Company entered into a placing agreement
pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot and issue up to
50,000,000 new shares to certain placees at a placing price of
HK$0.60 per placing shares. The placing was completed on 25
February 2025 and 5,215,000 new shares were issued with the
net proceeds in approximately HK$3.1 million. For details of the
placing and the use of proceeds, please refer to the paragraph
headed “Placing of Shares and Use of Proceeds” in the Management
Discussion and Analysis Section of this annual report.
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MANDATORY UNCONDITIONAL CASH OFFER
Reference is made to the joint announcements dated 12 April 2024,
31 May 2024 and 21 June 2024 and the composite document dated
31 May 2024. On 27 March 2024, (a) Mr. Lau Chi Wing James,
being the selling Shareholder (the “Vendor”); and (b) Beaming Elite
Holdings Limited (the “Offeror”), a company that incorporated in
the BVI with limited liability and beneficially and wholly-owned by
Mr. Chan Ting, had entered into a sale and purchase agreement,
pursuant to which the Vendor agreed to sell and the Offeror agreed
to purchase 74,038,000 Shares, which represented approximately
54.66% of the total issued share capital of the Company on 27 March
2024, for a total cash consideration of HK$62,800,000 (the “Existing
Shares Transaction”). The cash consideration was equivalent
to approximately HK$0.8483 per sale Share. Upon completion of
the Existing Shares Transactions, which took place on 28 March
2024, the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it (including the
Vendor) were interested in an aggregate of 75,038,000 Shares, which
represented approximately 55.40% of 135,450,000 Shares, being
the total issued share capital of the Company during that time. Under
Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code, the Offeror was required to make
a mandatory unconditional cash offer for all the issued Shares (other
than those Shares already owned or agreed to be acquired by the
Offeror) (the “Cash Offer”) and Cheong Lee Securities Limited, on
behalf of the Offeror, made the Cash Offer pursuant to Rule 26.1 of
the Takeovers Code. For details, please also refer to the paragraph
headed “Mandatory Unconditional Cash Offer” in the Management
Discussion and Analysis Section of this annual report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of the segment information of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN

THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO”)) which are required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions in which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which will be
required pursuant to section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which will be required to notify to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules, will be as follows:

(@) Long Position in the Shares of the Company
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Percentage of

Number of issued share

Name of Director Nature of interest and capacity Shares held capital @
HE&T

EEHE EEMERSH FERGEBE® BEBDEL®
Mr. Chan Interest in a controlled corporation © 740,480,000 (L) 54.67%
PR %4 RESEE R #ER©
Notes: BisE
1. The letter “L.” denotes to the long position in the Shares. 1. FE L] RRRBOFOLTE -
2. The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the 2. BEAEE 2t ThER AR F R 2024 F 12 A

Company’s total number of issued Shares as at 31 December
2024 (i.e. 1,354,500,000 Shares).

3. The Shares are registered in the name of Beaming Elite Holdings
Limited (“Beaming Elite”). Accordingly, Mr. Chan is deemed
to be interested in all the Shares held by Beaming Elite for the
purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

FICUS TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

31 HRIBE B 17R% 15 48 £k (B0 1,354,500,000
ARAR(D) 5HE -

3. # % B% 17 LA Beaming Elite Holdings Limited
([Beaming Elite]) #) % % & &2 © Bt -
RIREFH R HE GBI EXVED - BR%&E £
18 A1 Beaming Elite FTiE A B2 30 B0
HEER -



REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
EESRE

BEENBSITHRAERARTIRHE
HELIENRS  HERORER
EFNERRAE &)

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (Continued)

(b) Long Position in the Shares of Associated (b) FAIEEOEERGD T E

Corporation

Number and Percentage
Name of associated Capacity/nature class of of issued
Name of Director corporation of interest securities  share capital
HEHEE HEET
HEgE TR LB = B B4, REmtE KR BRABDL
Mr. Chan Beaming Elite Beneficial owner 100 100%

ordinary shares

PR 5E 4 EnEBA 100 I& & i@ A%
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of Mr EXXCATIEEEE SN - FA2024% 12 A318 -

the Directors and chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which
were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register of members of the Company or which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

MERARAFTEERERITHRABEREARAT
S H AR EE (F & R ES K EEED
EXVED) BRRGD - MR HD REEE T E
BHEMBEREBEHESRAEGAEXVEET
K853 BR AN S 2N A B) K B A2 BT A 4 2 5804
B (BREESREES RBEHENEREIEX
WEIENR REARNERDSUAR) - R E
BERREEOFEIB2EBELHRART
BERETMOERS AR -+ RIRIEGEM £
MR AE5.46 2 5.67 (FAXE KRR A R H
RFTE RS SOA R »
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER

PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT

POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interest and short positions of the

persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company)

in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company

which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange

pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or required to be

recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long Position in the Company’s Shares

FERRREMALTRERD - HE
BROREEINEZR LR

R2024F12831H U FTALT(BARGES

EmRBITHRABIN EARB RS -

MR &

EREETRAAREES LB RGIFEXVERE 2
R3DEHME AR R R RAKBLTARIEE S
KNG 6P 336 RN R RIAFE N E M e

HmMKBWT ¢

RARBRGN 2 7R

Number of Total
underlying number of
Shares held Sharesand  Percentage of
Name of Nature of Number of pursuant to underlying issued share
substantial shareholder interest and capacity Shares held”  share options®  Shares held™ capital®
BEBRERS BERGR FERT
TERREB BEMERSH FEROGHEY HERGHEES  HABRROAHO BN
Beaming Elite Beneficial owner 740,480,000 (L) - 740,480,000 (L) 54.67%
Beaming Elite ERBEA
Ms. Theresa Woo Interest of spouse 740,480,000 (L) - 740,480,000 (L) 54.67%
Theresa Woo &+ B s
Mr. Lau Chi Wing James Beneficial owner® 10,000,000 (L) - 10,000,000 (L) 0.74%
BEEEE EREAA
Arena Investors, LP (‘Arena”) Investment manager® 257,065,000 (L) - 257,005,000 (L) 18.98%
Arena Investors, LP ([Arena)) & 4EE 0
Mr. Ng Kim Ming (“Mr. Ng") Interests of controlled corporation™ - 89,320,000 (L) 89,320,000 (L) 6.59%
Ng Kim Ming 5t (Ng £ 1) REEHZEMERD
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REPORTS OF THE DIRECTORS
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Notes:

1.

The letters “L” and “S” denotes to the long and short positions in the
Shares.

According to the disclosure of interests filing available to the Company,
on 18 May 2023, EnKai Investments Pte. Ltd. (‘EnKai”), a company
incorporated in Singapore entered into an option agreement with
Arena (as amended by an amendment agreement dated 18 July 2023)
pursuant to which call options up to 9,600,000 shares (subsequently
sub-divided into 96,000,000 shares) of the Company were granted
by Arena to EnKai (the “Option Agreement”). Under the Option
Agreement, EnKai has the right to elect either cash settlement or
physical settlement of the call options. According to the disclosure of
interests filing available to the Company, the outstanding amount of the
call options is 89,320,000 shares.

The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the
Company’s total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2024 (i.e.
1,354,500,000 Shares).

Ms. Theresa Woo is the spouse of Mr. Chan. By virtue of the SFO, she
is deemed to be interested in all Shares held by Beaming Elite, in which
Mr. Chan is deemed to be interested.

Mr. Lau Chi Wing James is currently presumed to be acting in concert
with Beaming Elite under Class (9) of the definition of “acting in concert”
under the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers.

According to the disclosure of interests filing available to the Company,
Arena is an investment manager of and deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Arena Finance Markets, LP, Arena Special Opportunities
(Offshore) Master, LP, Arena Special Opportunities Fund, LP, Arena
Special Opportunities Partners I, LP, and Arena Special Opportunities
Partners (Cayman Master) Il, LP. Pursuant to the Option Agreement,
Arena agreed to grant EnKai call options up to 89,320,000 shares and
EnKai may elect cash settlement or physical settlement of the options.

The 89,320,000 underlying Shares held pursuant to share options are
held by EnKai, which is 60% owned by Mr. Ng. Therefore, Mr. Ng is
deemed to be interested in all the underlying Shares held by EnKai for
the purpose of the SFO.

FERREHEMATRERS *EBE
BROREEINERR FORE (&

FEIL R ISIRTNBORNERFRE -

e

2. REBEARR RS R B E#HE - R 202345 A
18 B * EnKai Investments Pte. Ltd. ([EnKail » 7
N A A A R)) B2 Arenas] 37 BAHE 175 (48
AHIA20234 7 B 18 HRE T FTIERT) » 1B
It + Arena [A] EnKai %% i 5 % 9,600,000 & 78 A 7]
% 17 (B 12 7 4B 72 96,000,000 A% A% 17 ) &9 52 8% 57
W ([HEHE]) - BEHERS  EnkagER
BURSHEEREMEERBHE - REAQA
ARSEREEHE  RESROREESEAR
89,320,000 % & 15 °

3. Wféﬁ"tbﬂ%%@‘ﬂﬁwomim)ﬂ31Em
O 1T 48 2 (BN1,354,500,000 % f 17 ) &

4. Theresa Woo 2Z = &R 5t A MBS - *Ehmu%‘&
RGN - A AR ER R BREAERS
Beaming Elite Fi#5 A 1) 2 #BAX {7 P A 5 o

5. BEFBEARDKBREHTAI—HTH]H
EEEOQHEAN  BEETEBABEEE HH
Beaming Elite — 2778 »

6. REBEARNBATRGERREHRE  Aena RRE
4538 - W HE AR B A Arena Finance Markets, LP
Arena Special Opportunities (Offshore) Master,
LP ~ Arena Special Opportunities Fund, LP *
Arena Special Opportunities Partners Il, LP &
Arena Special Opportunities Partners (Cayman
Master) Il, LP 5 A M0 B #Ezs - IRIRHIME
15 &% + Arena Rl & 14 EnKai 1% H & % 89,320,000
RGO R REBEIE  MEKa EREURCEE
NEMEEREEE -

7. 1R ¥ B IR 4% 45 B #989,320,000 % 18 B8 A% 15
EnKait¥ 5 + MEnKaifANg 7t £ # 5 60% ° At
RIEES R EE K] - Ng LA WAE B Enkal #5
AR EAEERG R EEER
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company
had not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company which would
fall under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO to
be disclosed to the Company, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Set out below are the significant events of the Group after the
reporting period.

—  On 3 January 2025, the Company completed a placement of
new shares and 13,430,000 new shares were issued pursuant
to a placing agreement entered on 13 November 2024. For
details of the placing and the use of proceeds, please refer to
the paragraph headed “Placing of Shares and Use of Proceeds”
in the Management Discussion and Analysis Section of this
annual report.

— On 24 January 2025, the Company entered into a placing
agreement pursuant to which the Company agreed to allot
and issue up to 50,000,000 new shares to certain placees at a
placing price of HK$0.60 per placing shares. The placing was
completed on 25 February 2025 and 5,215,000 new shares
were issued. For details of the placing and the use of proceeds,
please refer to the paragraph headed “Placing of Shares and
Use of Proceeds” in the Management Discussion and Analysis
Section of this annual report.

FICUS TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2024
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— 202591 A3H  ARAEKREES K
7 WREN2024F11 13 H 7] L A B
& 17 3 877 13,430,000 A% ¥ %15 © B BATL
EFERMERERROFE  H2HX
FERSEEENBEIT —8 [BRER
DRABFRERR] —B& -

—  PA2025%F 18248  ANRFIRIACE Hhigk
Bt AARREBERIEESESRESRN
060 TME TARARZERETRS
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— On 3 March 2025, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with Arena Business Solutions Global SPC I, Ltd (the
“Investor”), pursuant to which, from time to time, the Company
shall have the right to issue and sell to the Investor up to an
amount equivalent to US$100 million (or approximately HK$780
million) worth of Shares (the “Equity-Linked Agreement”). In
consideration for the Investor’s execution and delivery of the
subscription agreement, the Company shall issue or cause to
be issued to the Investor 26,000,000 Shares (the “Commitment
Fee Shares”) that having an aggregate Commitment Fee
Shares price equal to US$2 million (or approximately HK$15.6
million), that is HK$0.6 per Commitment Fee Share. For further
details of the Equity-Link Agreement, please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 3 March 2025.

Save as the events as disclosed above, the Group did not have
any other significant events after the end of the reporting dated 31
December 2024.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024 have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 comply with applicable reporting standards, GEM
Listing Rules, and that adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 have been audited by SFAI (HK) CPA Limited, who
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment.
There have been no change of auditor in the past three years.

A resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Ting
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 31 March 2025

— 202543 HA3H - A A 7 EHlArena
Business Solutions Global SPC II, Ltd ([ #&
BE DI VRERZ Bt AQRIA#
TRHREEEZFTRHEEZHEREE
1EETHEERY7.8EST) kG ([
ERBHER]) - (ERREERITRIMNAR
BIHZONRE  ARAERIEEEZEITH
REFTEAFEARO((REBARSG])
BI% B FEAEE 72,000,000 % 7T (FHE R4
15,600,000 7% 7T ) # 26,000,000 A& A% 1%
RFEHEEARG A0.67IT o B RN
EOE—TFHE  FAMARAFBEHA
20256 3 A3 HMAE ¢

B EXFIIREMEMIN - AERERN S B #2024
F12 31 AEREAL B EBERNEM

EREEEEH

RNEBEHZE2024 F12 A31 B IEFENKEZELR
SHBHRRCHERZESEN - FXEEER
A REEEZE2024F12 A31 HIEFENEGA
WS mARETHAMEIREER - GEM LT
Bl WEELFTRIEE -

BB

HE2024F 12 A31 BIEFENEFEA VB RED
BN EEETMESEMERARITER - ME
BEATHFEERERET ERE=FREE
XD -

ARBBREERRAEFAG LIREBBEAR
RAZBENENRESR

REREFS
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EEFEHTESE
EF7%B 20253 A31H
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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TO THE MEMBERS OF

FICUS TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(formerly known as Vision International Holdings Limited)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ficus
Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”, formerly Vision
International Holdings Limited) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 99 to 230,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

FICUS TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2024
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3.2 to the consolidated financial
statements, during the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
incurred a net loss attributable to the owners of the Company of
approximately HK$61,210,000 and as of that date, the Group had
net current liabilities of approximately HK$17,525,000. This matter,
along with other matters set forth in note 3.2 to the consolidated
financial statements, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. The directors, having considered the measures and
plans being taken by the Group, are of the opinion that the Group
would be able to continue as a going concern basis. Our conclusion
is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the
matters described in the Material uncertainty related to going concern
section, we have determined the matters described below to be the
key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Key audit matter

BREETEE

Provision of expected credit losses (“ECL”) for trade receivables

BN RERIEEER (ARG EER]) #iE

As disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount
of trade receivables of the Group, net of allowances
amounted to approximately HK$7,902,000.

WMINER A B R R M R 19T W EE - 2024 F 12 A
3R BEXENEZRRFEREE(NBREB) L o
7,902,000 7T °

ARFECENERTREN

BMREBEEIBEEEUBRMERNTEI2 - RE
202412 ABIBIEFE - EXEEL &
AR AL FE184961,210,0008 7T  H 2
H- S5ENREHEEFELR17,525000;
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EEBECEENELEARE - SEE A
EEEERROERRIE%  BERA BE
B AREGE MBUTENS - BE0E
LK -

BARENER

MREBEAEHEABTENEEHE T - B AHM
RAMBHRATREZNETE - BENEFAHEBR
RAMBERREUETRERNEENEEER
BESTERUELEREBERER - BREHH
BEEHBEATHE M —EPTAe FIBI - B A
BE MERERRMARETABNERESFER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEHETTREFARETEENTG A

Our audit procedures in relation to provision of ECL for
trade receivables included, among others, the following:
EEAMESRYGETEHREEFRERENEAEFE
FEEPBFE)ATEIE

To understand the management process of
assessing the estimated impairment loss on trade

receivables;

«  TRERENGESEKKER A EERDE

2
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B B AR E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HBREEEE

AREETEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEEEBTTREEBREASENT R

Provision of expected credit losses (“ECL”) for trade receivables (Continued)

B EFAEEER ([RAEEERE) (&)

The provision of ECL was assessed by the management
based on valuations prepared by an independent qualified
professional valuer. The ECL was assessed based
on provision matrix. In determining the ECL using the
provision matrix, it is based on historical default rates
taking into consideration both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable including
forward-looking information that is available.

B EEEENRERTEEREBE IS ERNIEM
ERN AR B EETTAIE - TREMEE BB D EREEE
PECTML - MIBBRBEEETENEEEER - EDER
B EHNERARZESENMAFHENAIREERTE
MES (BEABEER) KEE -

We identified the estimated provision of ECL for trade
receivables as a key audit matter due to the significant
balance of trade receivables to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole and the significant degree
of management judgement involved in recognising
impairment loss on trade receivables.
EEBEZRYIENTEREEBEMFRESNAA
RESFE RARESRUHERGEMBHRETE
RBEBREAN HEREHEREZRUFIBEREEETE
TEH ERFIER -
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To assess the reasonableness of the methods and
assumptions used in the Group's ECL assessment
with reference to the historical default rates and
forward-looking information of trade receivables;
2EL HRNWGFIBENBELENERAELER - 5T
it EXEERHGEEEBRIEMATERRERNE
B

To discuss with management and independent
qualified professional valuer including:
HERE KBS ERNBEGERMNR - B

— the credit quality of the customers, such
as past default history, aging analysis and
historical settlement pattern; and

— EFPHEEHE WBEMENEL KK
SMMELEERR K&

— the provision rates, internal credit ratings,
historical default rates and forward-looking

information.
—  BEEX AMEATL BELEOXMAIE
B R} o

To evaluate the independent qualified professional
valuer’'s competence, capabilities and objectivity;
and

AHEBIAEBNEETERNERE e HhMEE
MRk

To test, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the
aging analysis of trade receivables.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Htt &
BERREEHEMERNAE - RENBRERFR
FrEmER  ETBREE PRSP HEHRER X
GRS i

EEMGEMBREABRNERL TREEME
B BEZAUTHZFEMERBEREAT AL

5 17X 4t EA
R o

BiRAMBHRERE  EENAETDHHELME
B Wi @iERE R EEMENESREEA
MBBRABESNEATHATHENBENEANTH
7o BUFFEERERRL - EREEFE K
NI MESERAZFEMENFEERAR
Bt - BEEEAREZFTE - BUME  BFLE
EfaRE

EENTEAIRGEUBRRA
EENEE

BERRERAAERBEEEGIMASRMANE
B IRE LR R EE D AP 85 AR E 4R R
HERAFOGEAMBRE  YHEREEEAY
BETFEEARER M (T im BN GEFEEERR)
AN EHRAMSBLENNMENASE

BRESUBRRE  EFBENME EXEF
B THEERBATHREESERLE
BRENER UREAFECERSTER K
HEFEER EXEBRIFILLE  HFIE
HibBERHBERIER -

TEALTRARER BXEMBHRSES -

2024 F 3R / MERRHEERERAT 95



96

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
R TR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
R TR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Liao Yik Lam.

SFAI (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Liao Yik Lam
Practising Certificate Number PO6630

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeRmkEMEEKSR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE20245 12 A31 BILEE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
Htsx FET FAxT
(Restated)
(g&E5))
Revenue Wz 6 15,613 87,229
Cost of sales SHER AR (8,606) (89,264)
Gross profit (Ioss) EF(8) 7,007 (2,035)
Other income, gains and losses, net Embug A - Wes K g 1B FEE 7 182 (462)
Selling and distribution expenses HE KD HERAX (1,000) (8,518)
Administrative expenses TR (36,909) (26,076)
Impairment losses BEEE 8 (29,490) 5,388
Finance costs BF SRR AR 9 (1,176) (2,608)
Loss before taxation FRELRIE 1R 10 (61,386) (34,311)
Income tax credit FriSiiE e 11 176 155
Loss and total comprehensive expense 7N &R A A JE(GE1E K&
attributable to equity holders of 2HMAX 2%
the Company (61,210) (34,156)
Other comprehensive expense FAREMEAERS (FARTEIE)
for the year, net of tax
Iltems that may be reclassified to AEFTEE B AEE -
profit or loss:
— Currency translation differences —EHZEE (110) -
Other comprehensive expenses FREMEERS
for the year (110) -
Total comprehensive expenses FREEMZ B
for the year (61,320) (34,156)
HK cents HK cents
Al P&
(Restated)
(ge&:7)
Loss per share — basic FREE — &K 14 (4.52) 2.71)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RE MR R &
As at 31 December 2024
R 2024F12 431 H

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
MtaE FH&T FHEIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE KRG 15 5,857 27,092
Right-of-use assets REEE 16 3,135 3,394
Investment properties wEME 17 16,070 =
Intangible assets mILEE 18 = 3,583
Deposits i) 19 66 780
25,128 34,849
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Trade and other receivables, B 5 K E b IE -
prepayments and deposits TENFIERIES 19 15,750 49,477
Tax recoverable AT EIF TR - 1,247
Bank balances and cash RITHEHBR IR S 20 225 22,099
15,975 72,823
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk E A FRIA 21 22,397 10,676
Bank borrowings SRITIER 22 8,611 24,026
Lease liabilities HEAE 23 2,492 1,483
33,500 36,185
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) ASSETS 7 & (&) E&EF8E (17,525) 36,638
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBERE
LIABILITIES 7,603 71,487
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

aE B AR R &
As at 31 December 2024
R 2024F12 A31 H

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
Htsx FET FAxT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Bank borrowings RITER 22 5,811 6,929
Lease liabilities HEaE 23 753 2,050
Deferred tax liabilities BELEMIBAE 24 - 149
6,564 9,128
NET ASSETS EEFE 1,039 62,359
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRGEE
Share capital R A 25 13,545 13,545
Reserves & (12,506) 48,814
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY BRER 1,039 62,359

The consolidated financial statements on pages 99 to 230 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31

March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

FOOBEE20BE MiRA M IETHEE KR2025F 3
ASTAKEESHETIE BRAUTEERER
=

Chan Ting, Director

Chan Siu Sarah, Director
RS E=
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERSER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

Reserves
1.1
Share Share Other Translation Retained Total
capital premium* reserve* reserve* profits* equity
B& R EE* HtbfeE BERE REER EREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FhEL FAL THEL TAL T FHEL
(note (a) below)  (note (b) below)
(RATHEE () (RIATHZE (o)
As at 1 January 2023 R2023%1A18 10,000 38,444 (103,262) (7,252) 115,825 53,755
Placing of new shares, net of &G HBREX
expenses (see note 25(a)) (R HzE25(8) 3,545 39,215 = = = 42760
Loss and total comprehensive FRERRZERYES
expense for the year - - - - (34,156) (34,156)
As at 31 December 2023 and R2023512A31H R
1 January 2024 2024F1R1H 13,545 77,659 (103,262) (7,252) 81,669 62,359
Loss and total comprehensive FREBR2ERSBE
expense for the year - - - (110) (61,210) (61,320)
As at 31 December 2024 120245124318 13,545 77,659 (103,262) (7,362) 20,459 1,039

*

The amounts comprise the consolidated deficit of reserves of

approximately HK$12,506,000 (2023: consolidated reserves of
HK$48,814,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Notes:

(@) Share premium

The share premium represents the amount subscribed for share capital
in excess of nominal value.

(b) Other reserve

The other reserve represents the deemed distribution arising from issue
of financial guarantee to related companies prior to the listing of the

Company in 2018.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE20245F12 831 AILFE

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FBx FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ReESEE
Loss before tax B AR 18 (61,386) (34,311)
Adjustments for: AT ZIEEH A
Finance costs BB CInN 1,176 2,608
Depreciation of property, plant and YE - BEMERETE
equipment 629 1,119
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 2,179 650
Depreciation of investment properties EERE 1,039 -
Amortisation of intangible assets B A E 1,000 1,000
Loss (gain) on disposal of subsidiaries HEHEB AR
(see note 7) (RHEE7) B8 (Yezs) 725 (202)
Impairment loss (reversal of impairment B 5 EYGRIE R EE 18
loss) for trade receivables (BERERE) 17,592 (5,388)
Impairment loss on other receivables o th E UK IR (B B 18 2,002 -
Impairment loss on investment properties & ¥ EREEE 7,313 -
Impairment loss on intangible assets | EERERE 2,583 -
Written off of other receivables I 58 EL At FE W RIR 259 -
Operating cash flows before movements in & & ¢ EFAL LIRS RE
working capital (24,889) (34,524)
Decrease in trade and other receivables, Z 5 R E A EWGRIE - FBRFIE
prepayments and deposits Riz &> 14,587 34,146
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 N H b e IEE 12,271 1,863
Decrease in contract liabilities A#aERD - (4,754)
Cash from (used in) operations KRS (A RE 1,969 (3,269)
Income tax refunded (paid) RE (B ER 41 (797)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) KETEME (R REFHE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2,010 (4,066)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEE%E « FE L& E (3,855) (2,616)
Net cash (outflow) inflow in respect of the BRALERB AR (AME7)
disposal of subsidiaries (see note 7) FIRE ORE) RAFEE (6) 151
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETEBFMARSTE
ACTIVITIES (3,861) (2,465)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES LS SE B
Interest paid BAFE (1,176) (2,608)
Repayments of bank borrowings BBIBITIER (16,533) (149,200)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEREaRE (2,215) (511)
New bank borrowings raised MEFRITER - 137,533
Proceeds from Placing of new shares, B FT AR (D FriS kI8 -
net of expenses (see note 25) Mz (RHFE25) - 42,760
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM REEE (FTA) MSR&FE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (19,924) 27,974
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN HRERESEEY ORL) Em
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 12 nEE (21,775) 21,443
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FNREREEEEY
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 22,099 656
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes PE R B (99) -
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRESRESEEY
AT THE END OF THE YEAR,
represented by Bank balances and cash LASRAITR SR IR S 27 225 22,099
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

1.

GENERAL

Ficus Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”, formerly
Vision International Holdings Limited) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability
on 19 January 2017 under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands
and its shares were listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The directors of the Company consider that its parents
company is Beaming Elite Holdings Limited which was
incorporated in British Virgin Islands (“BVI”). Mr. Chan Ting is
the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company who is also
the Chairman and an executive director of the Company.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate
Information section to the annual report.

Pursuant to the special resolution passed by the shareholder
at its Extraordinary General Meeting held on 2 July 2024, the
English name of the Company was changed from “Vision
International Holdings Limited” to “Ficus Technology Holdings
Limited”, and the Chinese name “#HEE R IE R AR A 77
be adopted and registered as the dual foreign name of the
Company.

—RER

MERBBIERAERAR ([AAF] - A8
B B BRI AR A BR A A)) 72017 F 1 A 19
AREHS B S EFIFE 225 ANEN(1961
FEIFAED - KIRERIEFT) NHEHS
dM L REREERAR  REAROR
2018F5 A4 ARBAEABMERIMBRA
A (B3R FT]) GEM £ ©

RRABEZRE  HE QA ABeaming
Elite Holdings Limited * & & A& — R K&
BAES(RBRELZEE MK IHR
Ale RELEARERRRNKKRITERBRE -
BINARNEEFETRATES -

AAREMPFER T ELEENHNMN
HRFRAL ATEH —EREE -

RIRAR AR 2024567 A2 H #ITH R R
RAREHBBENFINRZE  KAFIH
X % 8 | [Vision International Holdings
Limited | 2 224 [ Ficus Technology Holdings
Limited | + 388 A R skt [ AR A BT AR
BRAFIERA DRI EEINCAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

1.

GENERAL (Continued)

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are mainly engaged in: (i)
sales of apparel and related products and other products with
the provision of supply chain management (“SCM”) services
and the provision of SCM service; (ii) provision of agency
services for construction and related materials; and (i) sales of
innovative anti-counterfeit traceability and marketing products
and related ancillaries with the provision of SCM solutions.

The Company’s functional currency is United States Dollars
(“US$”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is different from the
functional currency of the Company. For the convenience of
the financial statements users, the directors of the Company
consider that presenting the consolidated financial statements
in HK$ is preferable as the Company’s shares are listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange.

The English names of all the companies established in the PRC
presented in these consolidated financial statements represent
the best efforts made by the directors of the Company for the
translation of the Chinese names of these companies to English
names as they do not have official English names.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning
on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of these new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

EREEBMBREREN(ER
PrF RS2 ) BERT AR

RAF E R ERE AW
HEER BT
AEBERAFEBERERATIEEAS
R AE ((BEBEHMAE]) BHrFE]
RISIETTBBMEREER  RFEREES
FiEmAMmMs  N2024F1 A1 BHBAMN
FE BRI AR I A R

EEMBREEL ERHELONEHEAR

F165% (BFT4)

BAEGRTER] HaEIEAREIL

F1R(ERIAR)  FERBRBEERRE
E5ERIIEE
18ETZN (2020 )

BAGEH AR Bt 75 22 5

F1R(ERIA)  FERBEE

BAEGRTER HERRE 25

BIRRES

BT3RS 2ER)

FE 79 (EFTA)

BT3P - NEEERAZRENA REE
AR BREENEARERANFER
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EUBBRRAEFEENLBEERTE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS

1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
“2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the classification should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12
months.

o clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer
of cash, goods or services, or the entity’s own equity
instruments to the counterparty. If a liability has terms
that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in
its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own equity
instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises the
option separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current

or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS

1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
“2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the 2022 Amendments specifically clarify that
only covenants that an entity is required to comply with on or
before the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right
to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after
the reporting date, even if compliance with the covenant is
assessed only after the reporting date. The 2022 Amendments
also specify that covenants with which an entity must comply
after the reporting date (i.e. future covenants) do not affect
the classification of a liability as current or non-current at the
reporting date. However, if the entity’s right to defer settlement
of a liability is subject to the entity complying with covenants
within twelve months after the reporting period, an entity
discloses information that enables users of financial statements
to understand the risk of the liabilities becoming repayable
within twelve months after the reporting period. This would
include information about the covenants, the carrying amount
of related liabilities and facts and circumstances, if any, that
indicate that the entity may have difficulties complying with the
covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has
applied the new accounting policy to the classification of liability
as current or non-current retrospectively. The application of the
amendments in the current year had no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification
and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments®

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards Accounting Standards —
Volume 118

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
HKRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements (‘HKFRS 18”)

HKFRS 18, which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements (“HKAS 1”). This new
HKFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many
of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements
to present specified categories and defined subtotals in the
statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on management-
defined performance measures in the notes to the financial
statements and improve aggregation and disaggregation of
information to be disclosed in the financial statements. In
addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to IAS
8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors and HKFRS 7 Statement of Cash Flows (“HKAS 77).
Minor amendments to HKAS 7 and HKAS 383 Earnings per
Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
HKFRS 18 is expected to affect the presentation of the
statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future financial
statements but has no impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance. The Group is in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESEMBHRREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ST BEER
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 5
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For BB BN BHRELEARR - iR
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial BUREBHmERMS  HWAEBELRS
statements, information is considered material if such BEMeETERPELRZAE -
Bl ERERERAENXN o 1IN 75
WBEmEBEETEBEXIMARA
FIGEMEFH EmARAIT(EHRA) ]
RBEBLNTNEPIREERHE -

3.1 MRGEMBRRELE

HAMBRRECEREEGTNAE

information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

REGEUERREEREK
SHEBERER @

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated

financial statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Going concern assessment

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
incurred a net loss attributable to the shareholders of
the Company of approximately HK$61,210,000 (2023:
HK$34,156,000) and, as of that date, the Group had
net current liabilities of approximately HK$17,525,000
(2023: net current assets of HK$36,638,000). In addition,
as disclosed in note 22, as at 31 December 2024, the
Group’s borrowings amounted to HK$7,474,000 were
default due to the non-compliance of loan covenants,
which, as a consequence, would be immediately
repayable if and when requested by the lenders.

The conditions described above indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
hence, its ability to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERERMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12 A31 BILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Going concern assessment (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have given careful consideration
to the future liquidity of the Group. The directors of the
Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast
(the “Cash Flow Forecast”) prepared by management.
The Cash Flow Forecast cover a period of not less than
twelve months from 31 December 2024. They are of the
opinion that, taking into account the following plans and
measures (the “Plans and Measures”), the Group would
have sufficient working capital to finance its operations
and to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due within the next twelve months from 31 December
2024. Nevertheless, the consolidated financial statements
were prepared based on the assumption that the Group
can be operated as a going concern, after taking into
consideration of the following Plans and Measures:

(i) As described in note 25(c), subsequent to 31
December 2024, the Group completed the 2025
Placing (as defined in note 25(c)) to improve the
Group’s liquidity and strengthen its capital position.

As disclosed in note 34, on 3 March 2025, the
Company entered into the subscription agreement
(the “Subscription Agreement”) with an investor
(the “Investor”), pursuant to which the Company
shall have the right to issue and sell to the Investor,
from time to time as provided herein, and the
Investor shall subscribe from the Company, up to
US$100.00 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$780.00 million) of the shares of the Company.

The directors of the Company believe that these
capital raising actions will definitely improve the
liquidity pressure of the Company. In addition, the
directors of the Company is continuing to consider
and enlarge the capital base of the Company by
further conducting fund raising exercises such as
share placement, rights issues or others when
necessary to improve the financial position of the
Group (the “Capital Raising Plan”);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Going concern assessment (Continued)

(i) As described in note 21(b), Mr. Chan agreed not to
request the Group to repay the amount due to him
of approximately HK$3,197,000, included in the
trade and other payables and further Mr. Chan also
agreed to provide sufficient funds to the Group so
that the Group will be able to meet all the liabilities
and financial obligations as and when they fall due
in the coming twelve months from 31 December
2024 (the “Financial Support”);

(i)  As disclosed in note 22, though certain of the
Group’s borrowings became default due to the
non-compliance of the loan covenants. However,
the directors of the Company consider that the
borrowings were secured by the Group’s assets,
the directors of the Company are actively seeking
continual support from the bank for an amicable
solution in respect of the non-compliance of loan
covenants in the Group’s favour (the “Borrowings
Restructuring Plan’);

(ivy  The Group will also continue to seek for other
alternative financing and bank borrowings to finance
the settlement of its existing financial obligations
and future operating and capital expenditures (the
“New Financing Plan”); and

(vy  The Group continues to generate cash inflows from
its operating activities by implementing measures
to tighten cost controls over various operating
expenses in order to improve its cash flows position
and to generate greater positive cash inflows
from its business and operations in the future (the
“Operation Restructuring Plan”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

REGEUERREEREK
SHEBERER @

3.2 Going concern assessment (Continued)

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s
Cash Flow Forecast prepared by management, which
covers a period of at least twelve months from 31
December 2024. They are of the opinion that, taking into
account the abovementioned Plans and Measures, the
Group will have sufficient funds to maintain its operations
and to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due within the next twelve months from 31 December
2024. Accordingly, the directors of the Company are
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist
as to whether the Group is able to achieve its Plans and
Measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties
as described above. Whether the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern would depend upon the
following:

The Group’s ability to obtain the abovementioned
financing and operating funds depends on: (i) the
successful and implementation of the Capital Raising Plan,
Borrowings Restructuring Plan; New Financing Plan and
Operation Restructuring Plan; (i) whether the Financial
Support is able to provide sufficient funds to the Group
so that the Group will be able to meet all the liabilities and
financial obligations as and when they fall due; and (i)
whether the Group has the ability to continuously comply
with the relevant terms and conditions of borrowings.

Should the Group fail to achieve the abovementioned
Plans and Measures, it might not be able to continue
to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying values of
the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE20245 12 A31 BILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassess whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control listed
above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information

REGEUERREEREK
SHEBERER @

3.3 EXNTFTBRER &)

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESEUMBBFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.3 EAGTHEER 8

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Contract asset and contract liability

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress

towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group’s performance completed to date,
the Group recognizes revenue in the amount to which the
Group has the right to invoice.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information

REGEUERREEREK
SHEBERER @

3.3 EXNTFTBRER &)

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to
provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group as a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
as an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
before that good is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control
the specified good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue
in the amount of any fee or commission to which it
expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the
specified goods or services to be provided by the other

party.

Further information about the Group’s accounting policies
relating to revenue from contracts with customers
is provided in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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(Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16
Leases at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone
prices.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of property, plant and equipment
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short- term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESREHMBFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERER @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.3 EAGTHEER @)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE (&)

Right-of-use assets EHERE

The cost of right-of-use asset includes: EREEE KA

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease . HEBBZVTHESRE
liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the . NG =R Tk Ok R CI A
commencement date, less any lease incentives MEMNF  BEMEREREAE
received; B

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and . AEBFAEEA 2 FATBEE

BRA
o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group . AEERFHREEHREBEBEAE

E - BEREMEMNIERIEE
BEEEREGRRRIGEMRE
ZREE T A B f AR ©

in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

B BAREEMES AR FERE
EITTENBES  ERAREERK
AR ERTEMRRERKEST
FE YHHERENEMENTE
TEHAE -

Except for those are classified as investment properties
and measures under fair value model, right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably AR E R B4 RS & IR M E B HUS

certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment
property are presented within “investment properties”.
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A B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESEUMBBFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.3 EAGTHEER 8

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of- use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option
to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE20245 12 A31 BILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

a lease contract is modified and the lease
modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease (see below for the accounting policy for “lease
modifications”).

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESEUMBBFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.3 EAGTHEER 8

(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
entities are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve.
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HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information

REGEUERREEREK
SHEBERER @

3.3 EXNTFTBRER &)

(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.
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HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESEUMBBFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.3 EAGTHEER 8

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable the taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary difference can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time
of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwiill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information

REGEUERREEREK
SHEBERER @

3.3 EXNTFTBRER &)

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises
from the initial accounting for a business combination, the
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESEUMBBFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.3 EAGTHEER 8

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement
of financial position. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.
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HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESREHMBFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERER @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.3 EAGTHEER @)

(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets and
subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
investment properties over their estimated useful lives and
after taking into account of their estimated residual value,
using the straight line method.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties
under construction are capitalised as part of the carrying
amount of the investment properties under construction.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of the reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESEUMBBFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amounts of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with
the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit
or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information

REGEUERREEREK
SHEBERER @

3.3 EXNTFTBRER &)

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares
the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESEUMBBFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@ cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are
subject to regulatory restrictions that result in such
balances no longer meeting the definition of cash;
and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value and restricted deposits that are held for
meeting short-term cash commitments. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12 A31 BILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information

REGEUERREEREK
SHEBERER @

3.3 EXNTFTBRER &)

(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management. Such
overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to
third party contractual restrictions are included as part of
cash unless the restrictions result in a bank balance no
longer meeting the definition of cash.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on a
first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
cost of completion and cost necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESEUMBBFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.3 EAGTHEER 8

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M EmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE2024F 12 A1 BIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

REGEUERREEREK
SHEBEER @

3.3 EREBEER &)

Financial assets cREE

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial CREENSBEREEGE

assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are & THIRM & BE B 2R IR 5

subsequently measured at amortised cost: MAET = -

e the financial asset is held within a business model s SRMEENZESEAREDHE
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; BENKRDANRERENE
and BEAFE &

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to e AHNKRRIETHHEANR
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and EREBARRINAS RARE
interest on the principal amount outstanding. EASHFE

All other financial assets are subsequently measured FIAERMERMEERRRAFER

at fair value. All of the Group’s financial assets are
subsequently measured at amortised costs.

Amortised cost and interest income

£ - REENFESREER RIS
SR AEE -

BESEAN R B YA

MEWARE R DB HKAENE
BEERBERFZERER - FIEK
ANBBRERNEXARNSREERRR

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying

AR = = EEREN
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount E@Xfﬁr” MEHEREZRERRE
NEREE (R TR -

of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
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(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income (Continued)

For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, deposits and bank
balances, which are subject to impairment under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.
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3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information

REGEUERREEREK
SHEBERER @

3.3 EXNTFTBRER &)

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
simplified approach to measure ECL which uses a lifetime
ECL for all trade receivables and measures the lifetime
ECL on each debtor individually based on the present
value of the difference between the contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group under the contract and
the cashflows that the Group expects to receive, with the
consideration of forward-looking information.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the

debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability

to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change

in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information

REGEUERREEREK
SHEBERER @

3.3 EXNTFTBRER &)

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable:

° when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

° information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Also, the Group considers that default has occurred when
the instrument is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE20245 12 A31 BILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial assets have been
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

° Significant financial difficulty of the issuer of the
borrower; or

° A breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event; or

° The lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

° It is becoming probably that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed
under liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice when
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information

REGEUERREEREK
SHEBERER @

3.3 EXNTFTBRER &)

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on
trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status and

° Nature, size and industry of debtors.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to

ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESEUMBBFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERERN @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount with the exception of trade receivables
where the correspondence adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments that are issued are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangement and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M EmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE2024F 12 A1 BIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESREHMBFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERER @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.3 EAGTHEER @)
(Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) cRIBERER (&)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BB SR £ F B &
The Group’s financial liabilities including trade and rEENeRIBERIEEEREAER
other payables and bank borrowings are subsequently I EIRB KA BNE 5 KA
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest FET SRR ERITIERK ©
method.
Derecognition of financial liabilities BUOBtER TR B F
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and REE 2 EHBE TR - BUBSE
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, IH& AEBFSBEERE/A
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the B - EHUEMRES BB E  RAEHR
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and ENREMREEZZENEEPE
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit R o
or loss.

E

P

Segment reporting

b?

H

EES
rESHNE2HRT A ER TR EER
H(EBEEREE ) RHHAE
F—H - BEDRERKFEEE
ARRILM B L IERKE O WHER

performance of the operating segments, has been RIEHEBMERENRNITES o

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision maker (the “CODM”). The CODM, who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing

EEE:

identified as the executive directors that make strategic
decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MAKRESHBHRREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS R BERER )

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.3 EAGTHEER 8
(Continued)
Related parties BEE
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: EAATHEEATERNEAER
H A

(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s

family, is related to the Group if that person:

(1) has control or joint control over the Group;

(2)  has significant influence over the Group;

(80 is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(i)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the (ii)
following conditions applies:

(1) The entity and the group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(2)  One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MM RMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F12 831 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MESREHMBFEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHBERER @)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.3 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.3 EAGTHEER @)
(Continued)
Related parties (Continued) BE S (&)
(i)  (Continued) M (&)

(3)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same @ MEERBRR—-—S=7x
third party. HEERNTA o

(4)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity 4 ERRRBRE=FEE
and the other entity is an associate of the third MNEERR R—EE
entity. ZE-—FEBRNEE

NS

(5) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan B) ZEBE-HALEH
for the benefit of employees of either the I AEEEHERES
Group or an entity related to the Group. B I 5 1 5% L B BE B 12

BRIEE -

(6) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by 6) ZEBIZFOHEAM
a person identified in (i) above. TR KRS

(7) A person identified in (i)(1) above has 7)) HEON)EFTE@ A T H %
significant influence over the entity or is a ERAEEREENIAR
member of the key management personnel of ZHEBE(KZERGAT)
the entity (or of a parent of the entity). FEEBABEZ—

(8) The entity, or any member of a Group of B ZEREIEMEBESEEZ
which it is a part, provides key management ARKE AR RAEE
personnel services to the group or to the HAREEESRARMHE
Group’s parent. ZEREN B R -

Close members of the family of a person are those family —HBATHERRENK BB HEZ
members who may be expected to influence, or be ERNRGTIEMA T EZA TR
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity. RANTHENRENKE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3.3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

Going concern and liquidity

As explained in note 3.2, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis and have not
included any adjustments that would be required should the
Group fail to continue as a going concern since the directors
are satisfied that the liquidity of the Group can be maintained in
the coming year after taking into the considerations as detailed
in note 3.2. The directors also believe that the Group will have
sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future working capital and
other financing requirements for the next twelve months from
31 December 2024.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumption concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on internal credit
ratings as groupings of various debtors that have similar loss
patterns. The provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical
default rates taking into consideration both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable
including forward-looking information that is available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered. In addition,
trade receivables with credit impaired are assessed for ECL
individually.

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the provision
of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates and the information
about the provision of ECL for trade receivables are disclosed in
notes 29 and 19, respectively.

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, investment properties and intangible
asset

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, investment
properties and intangible asset are stated at costs less
accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise
judgement and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1)
whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can
be supported by their recoverable amount, in the case of value
in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-
of-use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash generating unit to which the assets belongs,
including allocation of corporate assets when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, otherwise
recoverable amount is determined at the smallest group of
cash generating units, for which the relevant corporate assets
have been allocated. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable amounts.

Details of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, right of-
use assets, investment properties and intangible assets are
disclosed in notes 15, 16, 17 and 18, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

5.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group’s operating segment is determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”) of the Group, being the executive directors of the
Company throughout the year, for the purpose of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s
reportable segments for the year under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

(i) Sales of apparel and related products with the provision
of SCM services (“Apparel Products”);

(i)  Provision of agency services for construction and related
materials (“Construction Materials”); and

(i)  Sales of innovative anti-counterfeit traceability and
marketing products and related ancillaries with
the provision of SCM solutions (“Innovative SCM
Solutions”).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group extended
its business in relation to the Apparel Products reportable
segment and the Group has also engaged in the sales of other
products with the provision of SCM services and also the
provision of SCM services to customers. Thus, the Group’s
reportable segments for the year ended 31 December 2024
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segment are as follows:

(i) Sales of apparel and related products and other products
with the provision of SCM services and the provision of
SCM services (“Apparel and Other Products and SCM
Services”);

(i)  Provision of agency services for construction and related
materials (“Construction Materials”); and

(i)  Sales of innovative anti-counterfeit traceability and
marketing products and related ancillaries with
the provision of SCM solutions (“Innovative SCM
Solutions”).

5.

e
AEENEE S BIREFAREESE
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ARHTES) (EEEEARE]) 25
BB RHBERE o

HE2023F 12831 BILFE  BEFH
M EEBFELY  REBNAE2®RS
BT

1. HERENEEERARIREMERE
EIERY ((REER])

2. REEERBAEME(TEEMR DR
BIRA  K

3. HERBIR - WIRRITHER M
REEARREHEERERRRTR
([RIFHEEEERRTR]) -

HZE2024F12A31BIEFE - AEEIE
AREHEREERITZHRYDBAEBAOER
BEAREETT R EHEM TR EREEIR
Rl 765 8 L 2 o DA R TR AR AR 4 P 58 1R AR
BYEP - Bt - REEAM GRS ER
FBERALE S H - AEBREE2024F12
AB1RILFEMNAIZ2HRH BT :

) HERERAABMERMMSREME
REEIRG A EMER KRR
EERE ([REREMERARHE
BEERK])

(i) IROCEERERETH((EZEMH]D R
BIRA  K

(i)  SHEEIEEE - WR R ATHHER &R

REEAREREERERRRTR
(R EEEERRETR]) -

2024 F3 | MERRRERER AT

151



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE2024F12 A1 BIEFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 5. K&
Segment revenues and results DEbl R K S
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results REBEMN YR RERE2HH EBD L0
by reportable segments: D
Apparel
Products/
Apparel
and Other
Products Innovative
and SCM Construction SCM
Services Materials Solutions Consolidated
REER
fREER Hits
EmUK Rl pEgE
HERER ER
PR BEMR BRAR e

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
TR FET TR FHET

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZ2023%F 12831 BILEE

Segment revenue o Ep ez
External sales HIMNEE 85,874 701 654 87,229
Segment profit (loss) 2 EEF (FE) (933) 2,887 117 2,071
Unallocated other income, AABEMBA -« Uz

gains and losses, net BiE3E (484)
Unallocated corporate expenses AP AR (33,290)
Finance costs BHBAA (2,608)
Loss before tax BRE RTS8 (34,311)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024%512 831 AL EE

Segment revenue DB
External sales HIMEE 6,742 46 8,825 15,613
Segment loss SEEE (6,784) (4,633) (168) (11,585)
Unallocated other income, AABEMBEA -~ R

gains and losses, net FiEZEE 182
Unallocated corporate expenses FOEARFY (48,807)
Finance costs BIISRAR (1,176)
Loss before tax BRHAER (61,386)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12 831 AILFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 5.

5.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities

g @
DEEEKRAE
AT AREERR2024F 12 A31 HiZA] 2

by reportable segments as at 31 December 2024: WAFE D EERBEDT
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Segment assets DEEE
Innovative SCM Solutions J%ﬂf—(f% BIEMATT R 7,902 654
Apparel Products/Apparel and HER/IRENEMER
Other Products and SCM Services J«A Kt rE g B R RS 2,328 49,658
Construction Materials FREEM B -+ —*
Total reportable segment assets AI2MOFEERE 10,230 50,312
Corporate and other unallocated assets R A R EMADEEE 30,873 57,360
Consolidated assets HREEE 41,103 107,672
Segment liabilities HEaE
Innovative SCM Solutions BIFT R EE T IRAR R T TR 28 —*
Apparel Products/Apparel and AREEE G AREE R E M E
Other Products and SCM Services DA R 44 e 5 25 3 AR 7S 226 6,271
Construction Materials HEMH =* —*
Total reportable segment liabilities 2w A EEE 254 6,271
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities A 7] & Efth Rk D F & & 39,810 39,042
Consolidated liabilities FEBRE 40,064 45,313

* The amount is below HK$1,000

* 2,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.3.

Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of government grant, net foreign exchange
difference, central corporate expenses, directors’ emoluments
and finance costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
partial of property, plant and equipment, deposits, other
receivables, prepayments, tax recoverable and bank
and cash balances which were managed in a centralised
manner.

° All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than partial of other payables, certain bank borrowings
and deferred tax liabilities which were managed in a
centralised manner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERERMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12 A31 BILEE

5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) gReEsEuw)
Other segment information Hfh 5 2RE £
Apparel
Products/
Apparel
and Other
Products Innovative Total
andSCM  Construction SCM reportable
Services Materials Solutions segments Unallocated ~ Consolidated
REER/BER
AERNR Ehi CES
REEERRE BEME  EEBARE AHEE FAR &a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
Tin Tin Tin TiEn Tin TiEn
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ20235 12 A31 ALLEE
Amount included in the measure SABERNAPEE
of segment profit o loss or segment ~ S & BHSE !
assets o liabilities:
Amortisation of intangible assets ElEEEY 1,000 - - 1,000 - 1,000
Reversal of allowance for expected BOESRNSERS
credit losses for trade receivables EEFERE (3,196) (2,180) - (5,382) - (5,382)
Amount regularly provided to the EHETELENRE
CODM but not included in the BEETHASBES
measure of segment profit HATEEHENTE
orloss or segment assets:
Nt forelgn exchange gains e - - - - (131) (131)
Depreciation of property, g BERRETE
plant and equipment - - - - 1,119 1,119
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREAENE - - - - 650 650
Directors’ emoluments BEHS - - - - 12,105 12,105
Finance costs BBRA - - - - 2,608 2,608
Income tax cret it - - - - 155 155
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ 2024 1231 AL EE
Amount included in the measure HASBERSAPEE
of segment profit or loss FAETENSE:
or segment assets or liabilities:
Amortisation of intangible assets B AERS 1,000 - - 1,000 - 1,000
Netchange in alowance for expected B HEUFVERH
credit losses for trade receivables EEFRRERDTE 12913 4679 - 17,592 - 17,592
Amount regularly provided to the EHETELERRE
CODM but not included in the BEBRHALBER
measure of segment profit HANEETENTE
orloss or segment assets:
Net foreign exchange loss EXEETE - - - - 59 59
Depreciation of property, % BERRENE
plant and equipment - - - - 629 629
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE - - - - 2,179 2,179
Depreciation of investment properties RENERE - - - - 1,039 1,039
Directors’ emoluments BEH2 - - - - 1,973 1,973
Finance costs BB - - - - 1,176 1,176
Income tax credit fEHES - - - - 176 176
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE2024F12 A1 BIEFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 5. K&
Geographical information i [& &k

The Group’s operations are mainly located in Hong Kong. REBEBEBEEMRES o

The following table sets forth the Group’s revenue from TREFAEERBEPHEBUEEI D ZE

156

customers by geographical location of customers: P
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Apparel Products/Apparel and Other fREESR MRERHMESR
Products and SCM Services DR HEEEERE
— Hong Kong — & 3,000 16,638
— PRC — 3,742 -
— Germany — =E - 1,947
— Macau — JBP - 67,289
6,742 85,874
Construction Materials EEMHE
— Cambodia — SR 46 701
Innovative SCM Solutions AlFT R EEEERRAAR
15,613 87,229
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12 831 AILFE

5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)
Geographical information (Continued)
The following table sets forth non-current assets (excluding

g @

Hb @ & E )

TIEREZINIRAE B 5

HBERBEE (T

deposits) by geographical location: BER®)

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Hong Kong &% 20,556 27,137
Germany = - 3,583
PRC i 801 -
21,357 30,720

Information about major customers ERTFrERPHNER

Revenue from customers individually contributing over 10% of

fERIME AR EREFE K 10% A EHE

the Group’s revenue of the corresponding year are as follows: P T :
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Customer A* P A N/AFE A * 67,289
Customer B =FB N/ATER* 9,509
Customer C# BECH 8,720 N/A T3 A
Customer D* =FD 3,000 N/A T3 A
Customer E* EFE 2,228 N/AE A -
* The corresponding revenue does not contribute over 10% of the * FEIE Uk 251 AN 2 B U 25 B3R 10% ©
Group’s revenue.
# Revenue from Apparel Products/Apparel and Other Products # KEAREEDRIREREMERIAREtE

and SCM Services Segment.

i Revenue from Innovative SCM Solutions Segment.

HETE R D ALAUER

# KB BRI E AR T IR D BB RO AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MM RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6. BEFAHWE
CUSTOMERS
(@) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts @ PHEEPEHNE
with customers
()  The Group derives revenue from the transfer of () AEERFEEMERESS

goods and services by categorise of major product HEEEEmERRBEENK

N

<

lines and business

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Revenue from contracts with EBMKREZER
customers within the scope E15REER
of HKFRS15 EEEHKE
Apparel Products/Apparel and BREERRER
Other Products and HAhE @ U R AtrEsE
SCM Setrvices EERK
— Sale of Knitwear products — HEHER - 85,874
— Sales of other products — HEHMER 3,742 -
— Provision of SCM services — R HERERRY 3,000 -
6,742 85,874
Construction Materials EEMH
— Agency fee from construction and ~ — & & FHEAM KLY
related materials RIEZ 46 701
Innovative SCM Solutions Bl ESE B MRIR T R
— Sales of anti-counterfeit traceability — & « R MITHHE S
and marketing products and LAk E
related ancillaries 8,825 654
15,613 87,229
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBERERMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12 831 AILFE

6.

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6. BEFE&HWE @
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(@) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts @ PFEEPEHWE @

with customers (Continued)
(i)  The Group derives revenue from the transfer of

(i)

AEBZ WA RN E B EE

goods and services by timing of revenue recognition B LIRS E Em e
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Revenue from contracts with ERUBREED
customers within the scope E15REERNEF
of HKFRS15 EH WG
Revenue recognised at a point FA 5B B RS B
in time: SRRl
— Sales of apparel and other — HERE R E A
products with the provision Efm A RIR M
of SCM services HERE IR 3,742 85,874
— Agency fee from construction — B ARREM RLEY
and related materials REE 46 701
— Sales of innovative anti-counterfeit  — $5& BB -
traceability and marketing R RATIHEM R
products and related ancillaries HEABCE A R IR
with the provision of SCM e 8B T2 AR
solutions GES 8,825 654
12,613 87,229
Revenue recognised at over time: R—EREFHREZNKE
— Provision of SCM services related  — R4 ERE = A
to apparel products /O FE 88 2 18 AR 75 3,000 -
15,613 87,229
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6. BEFE&HWE @
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(@) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts @ PIFEERPE LW )

with customers (Continued)

(i)  The Group derives revenue from the transfer of (i) AEEZHMETSEEEED

160

goods and services by geographical markets K AR TS 2 A A WA

2024 2023

2024 5 2023 F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Hong Kong Ei 3,000 16,638
Germany = - 1,947
Macau SEPY - 67,289

PRC F 12,567 654
Cambodia RiHE 46 701
15,613 87,229

(o) Contract balances b) EREEH

As at 31 December As at

A12A831R 1 January

2024 2023 2023

72023

2024 F 2023 FF 1A1H

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

HieE FERT FAT FAET

Trade receivables =) &S 19 26,216 43,819 83,804
Less: Allowance for credit losses Ji : 15 B &85 (18,314) (734) (6,122)
7,902 43,085 77,682

Details of the Group’s trade receivables are set out in
respective notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (continued)

(©

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers and revenue recognition policies
The Group is mainly engaged in: (i) sales of apparel and
related products and other products with the provision
of supply chain management services and the provision
of supply chain management service; (ii) provision of
agency services for construction and related materials;
and (i) sales of innovative anti-counterfeit traceability
and marketing products and related ancillaries with the
provision of supply chain management solutions.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and when
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s
activities.

The Group’s performance obligations for contracts with
customers and revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers

(i) Sales of apparel and related products and other
products with the provision of supply chain
management services and sales of innovative anti-
counterfeit traceability and marketing products and
related ancillaries with the provision of supply chain
management solutions
Revenue from contracts with customers represents
amounts receivable for goods sold and services
provided in the normal course of business and net
of discount and is measured at fair value of the
consideration received or receivable from the sales
of goods and related products with the provision of
supply chain management services to customers.

6.

EEEHWE &)

(©

EPEANBHRTERK
MR R

AREETZMRE () HERE NI
EmRERAHEEEERENE
i BE o SR AR AL FE SR B IR ARAS (i) 1R
HEREREAMERERE K
HERIFTPIR - PR RITIHESRHE
BRENRIRHEEEEERRT

BHAEAERAEHER  MAKE
BEBTAREGRIE - AEE K

RU s o

H

AEBEPANNBEOEERRENA
R E MR ATERBERIAT -

BEFEHWE

) HERERAEBERARMES
ROt £ E B IR AR T O HLh E
mc REEEEHR - WRE
TTIEm LA E A IR H#
HEHERRRTER -

EPAHWSIEERXBIE
Bk 8H & B an R SR (AR T e
Wy TRIE (FIBRITR8) - WK
EEmMBBERARAER
HR Ot (e 5B I8 AR A 1 2 sk
RN ER R FEAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with

customers and revenue recognition policies

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(©

U

Sales of apparel and related products and other
products with the provision of supply chain
management services and sales of innovative anti-
counterfeit traceability and marketing products and
related ancillaries with the provision of supply chain
management solutions (Continued)

No significant financing component is deemed
present as the sales are made with a credit term of
30 to 90 days to its customers, which is consistent
with market practice.

The Group enters into sales contracts with
customers for each transaction. Revenue from the
sale of goods and services rendered is recognised
based on the price specified in the contracts when
the customers obtain the control of the goods
and related products underlying the particular
performance obligations, being when the goods
and related products are delivered to the customers
at the designated location in accordance with the
contracts with the customers and the titles are
passed and services are provided. The Group does
not expect to have any contracts where the period
between the transfer of the promised goods to the
customers and payment by the customers exceeds
one year.

A receivable is usually recognised when revenue
recognised as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is
due.
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6. BEFEHWE®

) BEFAHARNEBHEEREEK
T HERIBUR (#)

BEFEHWE (E)

U

5 AR AR B am A B B 5
e R IR RIS H H (A
mc GRS - WRE
TTIHEmMREBERE AR H
HIEREIRBRT R - (B)

MRAEFEMSOEZEAD
EEHETHE  BEmi5E
Bl—8 - MR BT FEEKXR
BMEHS o

AEBREBEERSREPAL
HEAW EEFPRGHERE
HEETHENERRABER
z2H R (BREEPAORN
EEWEKE mIERERR
NFEPF AEHEREMEEK
RERIEE) - LRALETHN
B ERIEE S m MR H RS
M E - AEERB AL
EARAHEEREETERPE
EPNRUIMBE—FNAHK -

& W R TR T A L i R By
B REAZRERERHEHE
REGT  EAFEEBEE
ATUCERAS K o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with

customers and revenue recognition policies

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(©

(i)

(i)

Provision of agency services for construction and
relate materials

There are contracts with customers to acquire,
on their behalf, special construction and related
materials produced by specified suppliers. The
Group is acting as agent of these arrangements.
The performance is satisfied at the point in time and
payment is due with a credit term of 90 days upon
receipt of goods by the customers.

Provision of supply chain management services
related to apparel products

Revenue from the provision of supply chain
management services related to apparel products
is recognised over time because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

All of the Group’s contracts with the customers are
fixed-price contracts.

6. BEFEHWE®

© BEFEAMNEBHEETREK
mﬁﬁwu[ﬂ[ﬂi Q\*

BEFEEHWE(E)

(i)

(iii)

RHZ S MARB M RHOR IR

REBHEBRFILALH - UK
REPWHEABEHREREE
MR RIEERBEME - A&
ERETZETHENREA T
FUE &M% AR RE
FERKERY (R 90 BIE E A
AFENI

REIRGERBBEERER
AR5
REFIREEMMARHEERERE
PR 765 B Uk 25 75 5 B i) i g 22
FRREFPRBEFILHEER
SEREHAONE -

FAEEAKRBEREFPFIIHNAH
REEBEREH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (continued)

(©

Performance obligations for contracts with

customers and revenue recognition policies

(Continued)

Other income

(i) Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

(i)  Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease.

Further information about the Group’s accounting policies
relating to revenue from contracts with customers
is provided in note 3.3 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Transaction price allocated to remaining
performance obligation

The Group has applied practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, to exempt the disclosure of revenue expected
to be recognised in the future arising from contracts with
customers in existence at the reporting date due to the
majority of the Company’s revenue contracts are short-
term contracts and have a duration of less than one year,
the practical expedient for contracts with durations of one
year or less is applied and therefore the effect of the time
value of money is not considered.

FICUS TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

6.

EEFEHWE )

(©

BEEFAHNNBEHNE TR
T HERIBUR (#)

Hpg A

0 FBWAERERNRZZR
AFEEER  MERMNEAE
TR TANBEHAERRARA
R AERE HA A (@ A ) AT R
KREWABRITRBERE
ERFEMFIE

(i) KEHEELNHESWALEN
BRI EREN RS o

AL ERTFANREHEBNE
ATRENELZER  B2HGAVE
HwEMIFES.S °

DEEFBREOE TR
HIE

AR EE BB SRS RS
155 [HEA#IME | B 121 B
ERREE  HRRBEARERRE
AT T 5 & B 1 TRE R
izt - RERADRABS YA
MBEEAH  BRIN—F L
FIERIR B — F SR A T & 0 #0 E B
RE: BT EEEEBEENY
2,



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12 831 AILFE

7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 7.

HaWA - s REEFE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
(Restated)
(&=&7)
Loss on sales and distribution HERDIHEEHAMOEE
of health supplements products (R TF3CEE ()
(note (i) below) - (925)
Gain on disposal of the Health HELBEMAmANKR
Supplements Products Companies - 202
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBRRIMNEE
(note (i) below) (5T Btk (i) (725) -
Written off other receivables i 8 L Ath JE U 0B (259) -
Net foreign exchange (loss) gains X (E5i8) a5 58 (51) 131
Rental income HEWRA 1,062 -
Sample sales income BmiHE A - 22
Bank interest income IRITHRLEMA 82 37
Other interest income HF S A 73 -
Sundry income AW A - 71
182 (462)

Notes (i): During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
established certain subsidiaries (“Health Supplements
Products Companies”) which are mainly engaged in
the sales and distribution of health supplements products

FEEG) -

HE2023F12A31BIEFE AR
RO ETHEAR((EEBBER
AT TEREHERDHEER
rmEH((EEHETRERK]) - AW

business (“Health Supplements Products Business”).
However, the financial performance of the Health
Supplements Products Business was not satisfactory and the
Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$925,000 for such
business. The management of the Company decided to cease
its Health Supplements Products Business and in December
2023, the Company disposed of its entire equity interests in
Health Supplements Products Companies to a third party for
a total consideration of approximately HK$252,000. As at the
date of disposal, the net assets of the Health Supplements
Products Companies amounted to approximately HK$50,000
which are mainly bank balances and cash, trade and other
receivables, prepayments and deposits and other payables
amounted to approximately HK$101,000, HK$47,000 and
HK$98,000, respectively and thus, the Company recognised
a gain on disposal of Health Supplements Products
Companies amounted to approximately HK$202,000 which
was credited to profit or loss and generated a net cash inflow
of approximately HK$151,000 for the year.

EEBITMEBNIHERIFANEE -
MASEBERBEERDHEBHAME
A ETHE£925,0008 7T © N ARIEE
BRAEEILEEEHATMER IR
2023 F 12 AHNEEMFAMA AN
EHBRELETF—EZE=F  BRE

#)5252,0007 7T - MHHERE - &

7E A R H & EIFE 4 A 50,0008
T EBABITEBLES BHK
HEWRsos BNRERES AR
HAb A FUIES 5494 101,0008 7T
47,0007 7T % 98,0008 7T+ AL - A&
AAERLEEE/MARA AN KE
#9202,0007% 7 - WE KRB AR -
MEREERSRAFEL A151,000

BT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 7. HftWA - WEREEFE®)

(Continued)

Notes (i) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company BT () - = 202412 31 BILFE - KA A
disposed of two subsidiaries which provided internal HEMEAEMERDRIREAINIT
administrative service to other group companies and thus BEREHRBAR  MZxEAAS
the Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$725,000 EBEELFEIBAT725000%8 T RE
that was charged to profit or loss for the year. In December N B BmMBR - B2024F 128+ K
2024, the Company disposed of its entire equity interests in RABERZEREME 2 AR 2
these two subsidiaries to a third party for a total consideration iEHEFE=F  £RE% 451,000
of approximately HK$1,000. As at the date of disposal, the BT -REHERY MBRARMEE
net assets of the subsidiaries amounted to approximately FREA /60,0008 FERWME -
HK$60,000 which are mainly property, plant and equipment, WMEREE  ATRIKHEE  EHKE
tax recoverable, trade and other receivables, bank balances fh WIS - MITHEBR KBRS URE
and cash and trade and other payables amounted to 5 R H A FER FRIE - 9 Bl 49 /435,000
approximately HK$35,000, HK$1,000, HK$1,233,000, 7 7T~ 1,000/ JT ~ 1,233,000 It
HK$7,000 and HK$550,000, respectively and thus, the 7,000 7T % 550,000/ 7T + At + A
Company recognised a loss on disposal of the subsidiaries RARFENBRLENE R RNERE
amounted to approximately HK$725,000 which was #) /72500087 - EEBB=EINRKR KR
charged to profit or loss and generated a net cash outflow of EAER &R FEA) 6,000 7T ©
approximately HK$6,000 for the year.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 8. WEEE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Impairment losses (reversal of THgBEBHNRERSE
impairment loss) of: (BEREER) :

— Trade receivables — B EWGIA 17,592 (5,388)

— Other receivables — HAbEUERIA 2,002 -

— Investment properties — REWME 7,313 -

— Intangible assets —BEEE 2,583 -

29,490 (5,388)

FINANCE COSTS 9. HIEAA

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHERT FHT

Interest on bank borrowings IRITIE A B 958 2,517
Interest on lease liabilities HEGERNE 218 91
1,176 2,608
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12 831 AILFE

10. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 10. BRBIATE B
Loss before taxation has been arrived at after charging MALATE R DA GTA) L TR IEEE
(crediting): B
2024 2023
2024 5 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Staff costs B IR
Directors’ remuneration (note 11) EEHH (1) 1,973 12,105
Other staff costs HAh 8 TAA
— Salaries and other benefits — TE& RHEAMER 18,384 3,790
— Retirement benefit scheme — RIRERIFEIHER
contributions 1,874 200
22,231 16,095
Gross rental income from investment REWMERSHER AL
properties, less the following RN EE 1,062 -
— Direct operating expenses — RENEEHERAR
incurred for investment WEMEREED
properties that generated HELERY
rental income during the year (349) -
713 -
Others: At
Auditor’s remuneration ZE AN & 400 400
Depreciation of property, Y BENMEREITE
plant and equipment 629 1,119
Depreciation of investment properties EYEIE 1,039 -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 2,179 650
Amortisation of intangible assets L Y 1,000 1,000
Cost of sales SHE AR 8,606 89,264
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 31 HILFE

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT

11. Fi5HiER

2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBx FHTT

Hong Kong Profits Tax: FBNED
— Current year — RFE = -
— Over-provision in prior years — BAFEBERE (27) =
Deferred taxation (note 24) JEIERETE (i 5E24) (149) (155)
(176) (155)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject to
any income in respective jurisdictions.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue
to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong
Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25%
on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits
and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2
million.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided
for the year ended 31 December 2024 and there were no
assessable profits incurred by the Group for both years.
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RERSHEREBRAEES((RBEX
BEDZEVINER  AEERERDERR
BEGREAFEHR -

REEBFNEHMANEHENE 44
% % B E 82 /9 & 2,000,0005% 7T 3 F 1 3%
8.25% RITL F 4 Hi - 12,000,000 % 7T A £
B3 1812 16.5% R L RN FHE - TRFA R
MANEFE G E B EEE AR
BIBIE165%MEI —BIERMH - At - &
BEREEEENEENEH R E 2,000,000
A TTA ET E R4 F11#9 8.25% J% 2,000,000
PETLIA LRI ERBUE MM 16.5% T H -

RIBRBEDEMSEOE ([ REREBE]D
RBEREBAERGD - - B EA R
R {EFE BB RG [525% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERERMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12 A31 BILEE

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued) 1. FiEBiiER @
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before FAREBERZTEGEER R EMEERA
tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other SRR BAEEEERNT
comprehensive expenses as follows:
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Loss before tax B BB E 18 (61,386) (34,311)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates RE VAR BERNEMAAEH
applicable in the respective jurisdictions i Rt EHyFi1E (10,892) (5,662)
Tax effect of income not taxable BERBTBRANH B E
for tax purposes (3) (3,258)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR A RIS 2
for tax purposes 5,411 8,765
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised HAR RO IEE BT B E 5,335 -
Over-provision in prior year B EE ARG 27) _
Income tax credit Fis R e (176) (155)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 12. % : THARREEMSE
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(@) Directors’ and the Chief Executive Officer’s @ EZEFBRITHEZME
emoluments
The remuneration paid or payable to the directors and ENSRENRAGEERITHREBH 2
Chief Executive Officer of the Company were as follows: T -
Contributions

Salaries  Performance o retirement

and other related benefits
Fee benefits bonuses scheme Total
GeR En RIKEH
#e EfEA skl FE R &
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
liE TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL
For the year ended BZ0BF12ANALEE
31 December 2023
Executive directors HTEE
Mr. Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin BEREE 0) 361 - - 9 370
Mr. Lau Kai Tai Bt () 1 - - - [
Mr. Wong Ching ThkE (i 37 - - - 37
Mr. Ko Sin Yun SHOEE (V) 242 - 5,000 12 5,264
Mr. Ko Man Ho BXEBLE v) - 693 2,000 15 2,708
Ms. Ng Hoi Yung Yo Yo REBLT vi) 175 - - - 175
Mr. Cheng Ka Wing LSS (vil - 1,006 2,000 18 3,023
Independent non-executive By kHTES
directors
Dr. Liu Ta-pei EINzY (vi) 53 - - - 53
I Prof. Young Ancriew Meng ~ ZEEHE - T8
Cheung (vii) 53 - - - 53
Mr. Cha Ho Wa BELE (i 53 - - - 53
Mr. Chu Kin Ming REREE (i 53 - - - 53
Mr. Chan Kim Sun PRElgns ) 85 - - - 8
Mr. To King Yan, Adam HECEE ) 85 - - - 85
Mr. Kwok Chee Kin PEBEE ) 85 - - - 8
1,363 1,698 9,000 54 12,105
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(@) Directors’ and the Chief Executive Officer’s (@)

12. €5  THRABREEME )
B N ITHRAREL B

& (&)

emoluments (Continued)

Contributions
Salaries  Performance  to retirement
and other related benefits
Fee benefits bonuses scheme Total
5ek & RIE
He EftEH kAN TR &5t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
st AL TEL AL AL AL
For the year ended BZ2024512A31R
31 December 2024 LLERE
Executive directors HES
Mr. Chan Ting RELE (x) 115 - - - 115
Mr. Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin SREE (1 240 600 - 18 858
Ms. Chan Siu Sarah BERT (i) 115 - - - 15
Mr. Lau Kai Tal BlRmAs (i 125 - - - 125
Mr. Wong Ching ThgE (i) 125 - - - 125
Independent non-executive ~ BUHTES
directors
Dr. Liu Ta-pel gREBT (i) 180 - - - 180
Ir Prof. Young Andrew Meng BRBHE T
Cheung (vii) 180 - - - 180
Mr. Choi Man On EYESind (i) 87 - - - 87
Mr. Cha Ho Wa ERELE () 9 - - - o
Mr. Chu Kin Ming RERALE (i) 04 - - - 9
1,355 600 - 18 1973
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S

AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Directors’ and the Chief Executive Officer’s
emoluments (Continued)

(@)

Notes:

U

(i)

(i)

()

(Vi)

(vil)

(viil

()

(x)

(i)

(i)

Mr. Cheuk Ka Chun Kevin has been appointed as an
executive director and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company on 15 September 2023.

Mr. Lau Kai Tai has been appointed as the Chairman and
an executive director on 15 September 2023 and resigned
as the Chairman and an executive director on 8 July 2024.

Mr. Wong Ching has been appointed as executive director
on 6 November 2023 and resigned on 8 July 2024.

Mr. Ko Sin Yun resigned as the Chairman of the Board of
Directors and an executive director of the Company on 15
September 2023.

Mr. Ko Man Ho resigned as an executive director and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 15 September
2023.

Ms. Ng Hoi Yung Yo Yo has been appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 30 January
2023 and was removed as an executive director of the
Company 26 October 2023

Mr. Cheng Ka Wing resigned as an executive director of
the Company on 15 September 2023.

Dr. Liu Ta-pei and Ir Prof. Young Andrew Meng Cheung
have been appointed as independent non-executive
directors on 15 September 2023.

Mr. Cha Ho Wa and Mr. Chu Kin Ming have been
appointed as independent non-executive directors on 15
September 2023 and resigned on 8 July 2024.

Mr. Chan Kim Sun, Mr. To King Yan, Adam and Mr. Kwok
Chee Kin resigned as independent non-executive director
of the Company on 15 September 2023.

Mr. Chan Ting has been appointed as the Chairman and
an executive director on 8 July 2024.

Ms. Chan Siu Sarah has been appointed as an executive
director on 8 July 2024.

Mr. Choi Man On has been appointed as independent
non-executive director on 8 July 2024.
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12. €5 THRABREEME

(@)

SR NMITHBEMNS @)

Mt -

0)

(i)

(i)

(v)

(vi)

(vil)

(viii)

()

(xi)

(i)

(i)

BRBEAEN2023F9 150
LEBRA TN TE BRI TBUEH, -

BT £ 20239 A15 0
ZEAEREFPITESR RN 2024
F7TA8HEHMEESE °

F B £ R20234% 11 A6 H#EXR
EARRNITESERN2024F7A8H
BHT -

= $TEN % A R 20239 A 15 H B
EARRBEEGEFERIITES -

= OB A 20239 A 15 B B
EARR BN TEERITHAEE -

KRl B L+ MN2023F1H30H #
ZEARRBWNITES » Wi 2023
FI0A6BHWEERNRANITE
=

$E 3 R AR 202349 A15H B
ERQBNITES °

AREFBLRGHEREHRIT - TRM
MR20283F 9 A1 HEZ T ABE L
FENITES ©

BB EE O A TR AR B2 PR %t A 2 2023
FOAISBEZTARARABIIE
HITEERN2024F7 A8HBHE »

FRBIGZTEE HRCAEERBER
S A R2028F 9 A15H BT AR
ABIERITES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(@)

Directors’ and the Chief Executive Officer’s

emoluments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

The chief executive’s and executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries, if
applicable.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Five highest paid employees’ emoluments
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included one (2023: four) directors of the Company
of whose remuneration are set out in note 12(a) above.
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining
four (2023: one) highest paid employees who are neither
a director nor Chief Executive Officer of the Company are
as follows:

12. €5  THRABREEME )

(@)

B N ITHRAREL B

& (&)

BeE - (48)
EXFAREBTBRABRATESHS
Ty EERANR R EM B AR (WE
) EBE RIS

EXFRBIIFATEEM S I EE
RERNFEENRBEAZN -

hEEaFMEENHE
AEE ARBREESTHES S
FE—2 (20235 : MEB)ARAIESE -
%% 2 HEE RN LS 12() o A
FEEHNA(2023F : —F)BES
Mg B GEAR B ER I THRAAE)
BEFBEFENT

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT T

Salaries and other benefits e R EmER 2,565 310
Performance related bonuses EBURRAEA - 28
Retirement benefit scheme contributions :E ki@ F|5+ 24t 2% 69 15
2,634 353
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Five highest paid employees’ emoluments
(Continued)

The number of the highest paid employees who are not
the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell
within the following bands is as follows:

12. €5 THRABREEME

(b)

hasEeFHEERNME
(4)
IR TEFN RS HIIES AL

T - BEEFMERATEHE :

2024
2024 F
HK$’000
R

2023
2023 FF
HK$’000
FHT

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 L% 1,000,000 7T

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any of the directors of the Company or the Chief
Executive Officer of the Group or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which a director or
the Chief Executive Officer or any of the five highest paid
employees waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
for both years.

13. DIVIDENDS
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of
the Company during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
31 December 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed since

the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M EmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

14. LOSS PER SHARE 14. BREE
The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the ERERNBEIIERUTEIETE

following data:

Loss figures for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share: BREANEEHENERET
2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT

Loss for the year attributable to owners  FR AR ETE E R REEEIEN

of the Company for the purpose of AARER ABIEFREE

calculating basic and diluted loss

for the year (61,210) (34,156)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of ARETESREARBEEIERFINI R
calculating basic and diluted loss per share: REANFEF 9 EA -

2024 2023
2024 4 2023 F
(thousands of shares)
(FR)
(Restated)
(&E75)

Weighted average number of ordinary R B SREARREEEED

shares for the purpose of calculating T nEFE A

basic and diluted loss per share 1,354,500 1,261,390

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the TRAEENERENSGE L EEEER
purpose of basic and diluted loss per share for the both years = ETEREINEEHEE IO IRAE
have been adjusted for the Share Subdivision and details of AR - BREFEERMTE25(0)

which are set out in Note 25(b).

No diluted earnings per share for both years were presented AR MEEE RS EE B ERITEINE
as there were no potential ordinary shares outstanding for both Y R EEELEZY|SREERER -
years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BMERRE
Leasehold Computer Furniture
landand  Leasehold  and office and Motor
buildings improvement  equipment fixtures Vehicles Total
HELH HENE BER
RETF %8 BARE  BAREE RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx TEx TiEx Tix Tix Tix
Cost A&
As at 1 January 2023 20231 A1H 29,877 210 601 - - 30,688
Additions nE - 2,074 542 - - 2,616
As at 31 December 2023 2023512 4318 29,877 2,284 1,143 - - 33,304
Accumulated depreciation ZiHNE
As at 1 January 2023 20231 A18 4,416 80 597 - - 5,093
Charge for the year FREZ 1,039 61 19 - - 1,119
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F 124318 5,455 141 616 - - 6,212
Net book value REFE
As at 31 December 2023 1202312 431 H 24,422 2,143 527 - - 27,092
Cost KA
As at 1 January 2024 2024 %1A18H 29,877 2,284 1,143 - - 33,304
Additions NE - 1,540 1,499 286 530 3,855
Transfer to investment BRERANE
properties (note 17) (MFE17) (29,877) - - - - (29,877)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBLR - (37) - - - (37)
Exchange difference EREE - - ©) - - )
As at 31 December 2024 2024 %12 4318 - 3,787 2,636 286 530 7,239
Accumulated depreciation 2iE
As at 1 January 2024 R2024%1A18 5,455 141 616 - - 6,212
Charge for the year FRRX - 285 276 30 88 629
Transfer to investment properties EEAZR AN E
(note 17) (WizE17) (5,485) - - - - (5,455)
Elimination on disposal of REERB R AR
subsidiaries - @) - - - @)
Exchange difference BEREE - - ) - - )
As at 31 December 2024 R2024F12 4318 - 374 890 30 88 1,382
Net book value REFE
As at 31 December 2024 2024 %12 4318 - 3,413 1,746 256 442 5,857
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ¥1% - BER®KE @

(Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are

L - BERREEB IEFRIAT

depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per LERBREGIEEITINE -
annum:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the term of ETHREF RERT i
remaining land lease HEFHA
Leasehold improvement 10% or over the term of the HEWERE 10%
lease, whichever is shorter N E T Ef
(ARG EA%E)
Computer and office equipment 20% B SN 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20% ELRER 20%
Motor vehicles 20% E 20%

As at 31 December 2023, leasehold land and buildings of the
Group with carrying value of approximately HK$24,422,000
were pledged with a bank to secure a loan granted to the
Group and details are set out in note 22 (2024: nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, certain premises
held by the Group with net carrying value of approximately
HK$23,902,000 were reclassified to investment properties (see
note 17) as there was a change in use from held for the Group’s
own use to held to earn rentals.

202812 A81H » A& B R EE 4
24,422,000 LRI E Tt REFHEMP T —
BRTT - MEERTFAEENER - FEH
M EE 22 (2024 5 - ) o

HZE2024F12A31IHILFE - A5E#F
AR EREF{E 4 423,902,000 T H & T
MEHNERSHBIERAEESREE R
B E  MEENDEAREDE(RK
FE17)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. FRAREEE

Leased
properties
HEWE
HK$'000
FAET

As at 31 December 2024 "2024%F12A31H
Carrying amounts BREE 3,135

As at 31 December 2023 72023412831 H
Carrying amounts BREE 3,394
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Expense relating to short-term leases 52 HATH & 4B RER 2 364 -
Depreciation charge WEMRX 2,179 650
Total cash outflow for leases HERSML A8 2,215 601
Additions to right-of-use assets ANEEGREEE 1,927 4,044

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group leases
office for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed terms of 2 to 3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contained a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease terms and assessing
the length of the non- cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

The Group entered into several short-term leases for car-
parking spaces during the year ended 31 December 2024.
As at 31 December 2024, no outstanding lease commitments
relating to the car-parking spaces.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12 831 AILFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. BEYHE
HK$’000
FHT
Cost 5N
As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and M2023F1 H1H - 20283F 12 A31 B &

1 January 2024 20241 H1H -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment EREYE  HEKEE (FFE15)

(note 15) 29,877
As at 31 December 2024 R2024F 12 A31H 29,877
Accumulated depreciation and impairment loss ZE:HiTE RBEEE
As at 1 January 2023, M2023F1A1H 2023F12 A31B K

31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 20241 H1H -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment HEAYE - BB MR (FIRE15)

(note 15) 5,455
Impairment loss (note 8) AEEE (FFE8) 7,313
Charge for the year FRRAX 1,039
As at 31 December 2024 2024412 A31 H 13,807
Net book value BREFHE
As at 31 December 2024 R2024%F 12 A31H 16,070
As at 31 December 2023 M 202312 431 H -

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
reclassified certain property, plant and equipment to investment
properties and details of which are set out in note 15.

The Group’s investment properties are depreciated on a
straight-line basis on the following bases:

Leasehold lands/leased properties Over the term of the
lease

As at 31 December 2024, all of the Group’s investment
properties have been pledged to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group.

HZE2024F 1231 HILFE  AEEG
ATHWE BMERRBET S BEAREY
E =3 N R

REENRANEE T EERAESE
SHRIFE -

ME+ BHEYX iNyiE=1
FHIA

MR2024F12A31H KEENAERSE

MEHEER  UERETAEERTT
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The Group leases out various offices located in Hong Kong
under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 2 years (2023: N/A).

The lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee
and/or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of
lease term.

Fair value measurement for investment
properties

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31
December 2024 was HK$16,070,000. The fair value has been
arrived at based on a valuation carried out by Stern Appraisal
Limited, independent valuers not connected with the Group.

In determining the fair value of the investment properties, the
management of the Company is responsible to determine the
appropriateness of valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements. The management of the Company work closely
with the independent professional qualified valuer to establish
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.
This valuation requires the use of unobservable inputs and is
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The fair value was determined based on the income approach,
where the market rentals of all lettable units of the properties
are assessed and discounted at the market yield expected
by investors for this type of properties. The market rentals
are assessed by reference to the rentals achieved in the
lettable units of the properties as well as other lettings of
similar properties in the neighbourhood. The discount rate is
determined by reference to the yields derived from analysing
the sales transactions of similar commercial properties in Hong
Kong and adjusted to take into account the market expectation
from property investors to reflect factors specific to the Group’s
investment properties/others.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 17. REWF )

AEERBEKEHERHUNEENZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12 A31 BILEE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
Details of the Group’s investment properties and information
about the fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3) as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

17. REWE )

B IR - AR 1R R R R
REATTRERAE(EZER) RTA
TG ROERMT

Relationship of
Fair value at unobservable
31 December  Valuation Unobservable Range of inputs to fair
Description 2024 technique input unobservable inputs value
R2024512R THBEEBAELTE
g STEHNATE (HERE TUBEBAE AUBERAEHE ENERE
Commercial HK$16,070 Income Estimated unit rental  Rental per square meter per  The higher the unit rental,
property units capitalised month, using market direct  the higher the market
located in Hong approach comparable and taking value

Kong

IR EBNEZEY 16,0708 WAERE fhEtElES
B

Capitalisation rate

BAfEx

Based on the fair value measurement, as at 31 December
2024, the aggregate carrying amounts of the Group’s
investment properties was lower than its fair value of the said
properties and accordingly, impairment losses of approximately
HK$7,313,000 were recognised and charged to profit or loss
for the year ended 31 December 2024 to reduce the carrying
amounts of the Group’s investment properties to its fair value
amount.

into account of location
and other individual
factors, which is HK$16.06
to HK$17.51 per square
foot per month

SASTHIKES RAT BLBELES HEES

GERULERILEE
NEREMERNEER A
FABFHER16.06/%8
TEITS1BT

Capitalisation rate, taking into The lower the

account of rate generated  capitalisation rate, the
by market, higher the market value
of 3.6%

BERMBELNMNE - & BEXMEFME - mEMR

AR F3.6%

BIEQNFEFE R2024F12A318
REBEREMENLERMERM Lt
WMERNRNFE - Bt BRFBIEBEXLDY
7,313,000 ST 5T A B E 2024 F 12 A 31
HIEFEMELD  UWEASEREYMEN
REEHREZEETATESE -
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The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31
December 2024 was HK$16,070,000 (2023: N/A).

Leasing arrangements

The investment properties are leased to tenants under operating
leases with rentals payable monthly. There are no other variable
lease payments. To reduce credit risk, the Group normally
retains rental deposits from the lessees.

Although the Group is exposed to changes in the residual value
at the end of the current leases, the Group typically enters into
new operating leases and therefore will not immediately realise
any reduction in residual value at the end of these leases.
Expectations about the future residual values are reflected in
the fair value of the properties.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases of investment
properties are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 17. REWF )

R2024F12 A31H » AEBIREYWEN
N F 1B &16,070,0007 7T (2023 F : i
) -

ME L

RANEHBEBERTES  SAXH
e PMEMTRAENR - ARER
RER  FEEBRRBAMANBESE

BEAREELNENFAERERD Y
Al EAEERE@TIFEEAE
R RESRAAS T MEREAR
L - HATIRE D B2 KRR £ i
ATAEe -

REMEHENKERKAENKET

2024 2023

2024 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET

Within 1 year R1ER 1,028 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERERMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12 831 AILFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

18. B EE

Trademarks
5L
HK$’'000
FHET
Cost 2%
As at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, 20231 A1 H k202312431 H »
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 20241 A1 HK2024F12 A31 H 10,000
Amortisation oK
As at 1 January 2023 ®2023F1 A1H 5,417
Charge for the year FRFAL 1,000
As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R2023%F 12 A31 B 20241 A1H 6,417
Charge for the year FRFAL 1,000
Impairment loss recognised in the year (note 8) FRERKREEE (F:E8) 2,583
As at 31 December 2024 2024412 531 H 10,000
Carrying amount REE
As at 31 December 2024 R2024%F 12 A31H -
As at 31 December 2023 720234912 431 H 3,583

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such
intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the

following periods:

Trademarks

10 years [

LBV EEABARERFH - RFE
TREERIAT RN E SRR -

104F

The Group’s trademarks are mainly relating to its sales of NREBNPETEHERGE LEBE D

apparel and related products with the provision of SCM services

business.

EUARRHHEREIERGEEHR
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Impairment assessment for trademarks under
intangible assets

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was a
significant decrease in its sales of apparel products with the
provision of SCM services attributable to the Apparel and Other
Products and SCM Services business segment and the sale
amount was reduced from HK$85,874,000 for the year ended
31 December 2023 to nil for the year ended 31 December 2024
and thus, the management of the Group reviewed the outlook
of the businesses and conducted impairment assessment on
the Group’s trademarks.

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit attributable
to the sales of apparel and other products with the provision
of SCM services (the “Apparel Products CGU”) has been
determined based on the higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal using the market approach method which
is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant assets.
If the carrying amounts of the assets are higher than their
recoverable amounts, the carrying amounts of the assets shall
be impaired down to their recoverable amounts, if appropriate.

The Group engaged an independent professional qualified
valuer to perform the impairment assessment of the Group’s
trademarks.
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18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

BIVEE ) \
IV EEIR [ ERA R E S

HE2024F12A31BIEFE  REER
AR e S8 18 RS 3 75 & SR IE (G B0 AR 3%
MEMEMRMBEEARRELMEREEESE
IR KigR ) - IHESBIEEIE 2023F 12
A31 8 IEFE /85,874,000 TR EE
E2024F12 AN B IEFEMNT - HUt -
AEEEEERMERI R AEBERE
IEHEITRERS ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 18. BEEE®

Impairment assessment for trademarks under
intangible assets (Continued)

The recoverable amounts of the intangible assets have been
determined based on the higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal using the discounted cash flow approach
method.

In determining the recoverable amounts, the management of
the Company is responsible to determine the appropriateness
of valuation techniques and inputs for impairment assessment.
The management works closely with the independent
professional qualified valuer to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model. This valuation
requires the use of unobservable inputs and is within Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy.

Management determines growth rate of revenue and gross
margin of Apparel Products CGU which is based on past
performance and its expectations for the market development.
The terminal growth rate applied beyond the budget period is
estimated based on industry forecast.

Based on the impairment assessment, as at 31 December
2024, the aggregate carrying amounts of those identified
intangible assets were lower than their estimated recoverable
amounts and accordingly, impairment losses of approximately
HK$2,583,000 were recognised which was charged to profit
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 to reduce the
carrying amounts of the Group’s intangible assets to their
recoverable amounts.

ERAERTNBRIREG
()

i AEM I OIS FE RIEEAEER
AFEREZRERAMERALRT I
KAFRREREAEITHE -

REEAEIKR S ER - ARARIERERER
B HEE R E R BRI R A EH)E
BN EREEBUEEABRMEEMNE
DArE  LWEBILEE MR RER &
ANE - ZEEFTEEATAERBAE "
BAERRFEERNE=R -

EEEREBERRIEMISERNAY
REFREEMRCELEUHRFER
RREMNX - BHREHEANLRIER
ERNENITEIBREITAET

WIE BTG R2024F 128318 %
SEHNEREENRERAERNEME
A E &% Bt RBZE2024F12 4
31HIEFE - R {EE 18 42,583,000/ 7T
EHRARBIEZNG  WEAEEERE
ENREEHRZHLAKDEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE20245 12 A31 BILEE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

19. EZRHMBWFRE - BAXK

PREPAYMENT AND DEPOSITS HRRE
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 FF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kiat FHT FET
Trade receivables =)l E/ e (@ 26,216 43,819
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (18,314) (734)
7,902 43,085
Other receivables H b R U 3R I8 (o) 915 2,543
Rental and utilities deposits ek AREERS 1,908 780
Advances to suppliers [ FE P B3R ) 3,659 3,644
Loan and interest receivables FEWE T RA & (d) 3,251 -
Prepayments TEfFRIR 168 205
9,901 7,172
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEREE (1,987) -
7,914 7,172
15,816 50,257
Analysed as: SR :
— Non-current assets — ERBEE 66 780
— Current assets — REEE 15,750 49,477
15,816 50,257
Notes: s -
(a) Trade receivables (a) EBEZEKRFKE

The Group either demands for full settlement upon delivery of
goods or allows credit periods of no longer than 30 to 90 days
upon delivery of goods, except that the Group allows credit
period of no longer than 360 days upon delivery of goods or

services for certain customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M EmRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENT AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

Trade receivables (Continued)
The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables of the
Group for credit losses, if any presented based on the invoice
dates and net of loss allowance:

19. EZRHMBWRE  BAXK

BHRIRE (®)
Bt : (48)

5 W ()

AT RASEEFIRERAM2IIBER
BEENE S RKRSRNRRER D T LR E
BRE

2024 2023
2024 & 2023 4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHT

Trade receivables B 5 FEWGRIE
0 to 30 days 0ZE 30K - 1,137
31 to 60 days 31Z60K - 3,581
Over 90 days QO KA | 7,902 38,367
7,902 43,085

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Credit limits attributed to customers and credit term
granted to customers are reviewed regularly. The majority of the
trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have no
history of defaulting on repayments.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments simplified
approach to measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all
trade receivables and measures the lifetime ECL on each debtor
individually.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management the Group uses
debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers and
the average loss rates for each category of receivables because
these customers consist of a large number of small customers
with common risk characteristics that are representative of the
customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with
the contractual terms.

Out of the gross amounts of the Group’s trade receivables, as at
31 December 2024, an amount of approximately HK$17,895,000
is mainly attributable to the sales of apparel and other products
with the provision of SCM services that was overdue with the
aging over one year. There was no subsequent settlement up the
date of issuance of these consolidation financial statements and
thus, the directors of the Company consider that there has an
increase of significant credit risk for such balance.

EEMEMHELA  AEBEFHEER
FPHEEER YETRPNEREE -
REPNEERERETEPNERS
SRR o R BB TR R E R
) e WO ORI B R AR SRR

AEERBEBYBHREENEIR 2
BTAIESHEABRGEERE
HYMREEZRIGIAEREHRNER
Bi1E - UWHEREHEAERGFE2 R
EERE -

ERAKEERRREEN—8n A%
B B EGARK A EER P RRER
BERRBFENFHERE - RERZS
EFPBEEABARARARBEN MR
P ZEERRREPREA ORI
P A B BARIERBE ) ©

R2024F 12831 H » EAREEE FEIK
FIBAEEEF - 4917,895,0008 TEZHKE
BREE R E b s E A Rt E R e
RIS HBHERCBBE—F HEZXS
REMBREATIEEE  ZSEKTER
HigkE At ARREERBEXSHE
BHEXEERBRIEM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 10. ESRHMEKRIKIE - B
PREPAYMENT AND DEPOSITS (Continued) HERES @)
Notes: (Continued) PisE - (88)
(@) Trade receivables (Continued) (@) EZERKREE)
The following table provides information about the exposure TRIBEHABRE HREWFENEERKRE
to credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed on a B REERNEREBRBEHREESEAN
collective basis by using provision matrix within lifetime ECL. BT T R SR BE BT A -
Average Trade
loss rate receivables Allowance
FEEER S REWRIE BE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
As at 31 December 2024 A20245 12831 H
Current (not past due) BNVER (R HR) 5.04% 8,321 419
Over 1 year past due EIEIE L 100.00% 17,895 17,895
26,216 18.,314
As at 31 December 2023 A2023F12831 8
Current (not past due) BNER (REg) 0.27% 41,990 112
61 to 90 days past due #HIe1 £ 90 H 34.02% 1,829 622
43,819 734
Further detail of the ECL assessment on trade receivables are set B S RWFIBEREEEBIA#®E—F
out in note 29(b). FEBEE R MIFE 29(p) ©
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. AEBIWERZSEHRFETWERR -
Movements in the allowance for expected credit losses for B ERSEECEEEREEHW
trade receivables are as follows T
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAExT
As at 1 January ®W1A1H 734 6,122
Reversal of allowance BOBHEEHERE
for expected credit losses 17,592 (5,388)
Exchange difference &5 =R (12) -
As at 31 December W12 A31H 18,314 734
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M EmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENT AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

19. EZRHMBWRE  BAXK

BHRIRE (®)
Bt : (48)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Other receivables

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, included in
the other receivables, an amount of HK$47,000 and HK$15,000
represents receivables from certain related parties in which
a former director is the shareholder of the companies. There
have no movements of the receivables during the year ended
31 December 2024. The amounts are non-trade in nature,
denominated in HK$, interest-free, unsecured and repayable on
demand.

Advances to suppliers

As at 31 December 2023, advances to suppliers represented
30% prepayment to the suppliers related to sales of apparel and
related products with the provision of supply chain management
services.

As at 31 December 2024, due to significant decrease in its
sales of apparel and other products with the provision of SCM
services as described above, the management of the Company
performed ECL assessment on the advances to suppliers and
details of which are set out in note 29(b).

Loan and interest receivables

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had
provided loans to an independent third party and the interest
receivables amounted to HK$3,180,000 (2023: Nil) and
HK$71,000 (2023: Nil), respectively. The amounts bear interest
rate at 3.45%, non-secured and repayable within one year.

Others

Trade and other receivables and deposits denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Heih W RIE

2024412 531 A %2023 12 4318 -
T A E b FE U IE A 47,0007 7T & 15,000
BILRABYE TRES (AP —RAES
BZERARMBRE)MFIE - BUGKIER
HZE2024F 12 A1 AL FEWEES) -
ZEREBIEEHEE WETHE
B A RARERERER -

EREYLSEEN

R2028F 12 A31H » MEEFERZK AR
PP S R RS AR 2 R ARRAE SR A
R E SR E 1R RIS FERE FI30% TET 5178 ©

R2024F 12 A31 H » AR EXFrlf ik
RREAMEREEARREEREREER
BRERD  NAREBEEHR A ERR
HAFETIEREE BTG - HFER
M FE29(b) ©

EREZRRAE
HE2024F12A31HILFE - REER
—E&BUE=F D RIREERRERF S
/3,180,000 7T (2023 4F : 4 ) 2 71,000
PEIC o ZE AR FIE 5 3.45% - KA
RBR—FREE -

Hits
BRI B BRI e B AN E MBI (E
B 5 N E A AR MRS #A T

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 4

HK$°000 HK$’000

FBT FET

EUR BT - 9
RVB AR 10,725 2,405
HKS BT 2,504 3,419
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

20. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

21.

Bank balances and cash denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the relevant group entities and the
Company are set out below:

20. BITEHBRRES

NEREEERB R AR RN EEIASN
ERIIEMRITAERIIRSEINOT

2024 2023

2024 £ 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHBx FHTT

EUR BT 10 10
HKS BT 183 21,776
RMB AR 28 103
Others Hith 3 3

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank balances and
cash denominated in RMB kept in the PRC. RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies and the remittance of funds
out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by
the PRC government.

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
performed impairment assessment on bank balances and
concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty
banks are insignificant as the Group only transacts with
reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit rating agencies.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out in note
29.

R2024F 12 A31H » AEBEUARER
BENRITEHIREERRTE - AR
TAIEARRAEMEY BBESED
A B 78 38 <7 AP B BT B 1 A9 OB PR i

HZE2024F K20283F 12 A1 AL FE -
REBHRITHBETRAEN G BHE
WY FHRITHELATEEMRE - AR
AEEERERREETAKETASE
BEFOMEERTEITRS -

BREEZE2024F %2023 12 A31 H 14
JEERITAE SRR E R B E A M FE 29 -

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. ESRHMENSFIE
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HaE FET FAIT
Trade payables Z ZENFRIE @) 254 6,271
Accrued expenses FERTFI 4,351 1,195
Accrued salaries EitEs 10,171 -
Rental deposit received S ERS 277 -
Amount due to Mr. Chan FEIBR ST £ F0E (b) 3,197 -
Amount due to director [ENESHIE (©) 745 -
Other payables Hh T RIR 3,402 3,210
22,397 10,676
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12 831 AILFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(@) Trade payables
The credit period on purchase of goods is no longer than 30
days. The ageing analysis of the trade payables of the Group
presented based on the invoice dates at the end of each
reporting period is as follows:

E5 K HMEMSKIE @)

Bt -

(a)

EREZRE
BEERONEEPRATEZRNI0OR - RE
REMR - AEBERBEEAHZINES
FERN FRIEBRER DATAAT

2024 2023
2024 & 2023 FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
0to 30 days 0ZE 30K - 275
Over 91 days 91 KRA 254 5,996
254 6,271
(b) Amount due to Mr. Chan (b) BENREENRE

As at 31 December 2024, pursuant to the Letter of Undertaking
provided by Mr. Chan agreed not to request the Group to repay
the amount due to him of approximately HK$3,197,000 until the
Group has sufficient funds to meet all the liabilities and financial
obligations as and when they fall due in the coming twelve
months from 31 December 2024. The amounts are non-trade
in nature, denominated in HKS, interest-free, unsecured and
repayable on demand.

(c) Amount due to director
The amount is non-trade in nature, denominated in HKS$, interest-
free, unsecured and repayable on demand.

(d) Others
Trade and other payables denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out

(c)

(d)

R2024F 12 B31H © IREBEMLARERN
R REERBETERAEBEER
HHE#3,197,0008 T2 KB EEASE
BERHESENB2024F 12 A31 HiE
AR+ ZEAREIS A ABEREE
B - %ZEREBHEZEZ ML - UETEH
B 28 EBEAREKREKEE-

ENESRE
ZEREBIFEHE UETHE R
B IR R AR EREE o

Hitr
AER S B BRI BB AN EESI(E
B 5 M EM BN SRS T

below.
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
EUR BT 175 176
HK$ BT 14,858 3,082
RVB AR 7,336 610
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

22. BANK BORROWINGS 22. RATEK
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FHET
Mortgage loan RIBER 7,474 8,090
Term loan THIEK 6,948 8,030
Trust receipt loans ErEEER = 14,835
14,422 30,955
Carrying amounts of bank borrowings R i& & FiHEFTEMN
based on scheduled repayment STEIER A RTT
dates set out in the loan agreements {EFEREE
Within one year —FR 8,611 16,672
More than one year, —FPALE - BETBBRF
but not more than two years 1,172 1,884
More than two years, ME L - BRBBERF
but not more than five years 3,581 5,945
More than five years RENE 1,058 6,454
14,422 30,955
The carrying amounts of bank and other  [A3& i B 5 32 5 i BN 21 #A FE 1~
borrowings that become immediately &/ REERREBE TR
due and payable due to breach of loan BRI R MIRIT R EM
covenants and/or contain a repayment ER GO ERE]
on demand clause which was shown
under current liabilities (8,611) (24,026)
Amounts shown under non-current SIAIERBIBEE TR
liabilities 5,811 6,929
Analysed as: DT :
— Secured bank borrowings — BEHIRITER 7,474 22,925
— Unsecured bank borrowings — EIEIRIRITE R 6,948 8,030
14,422 30,955
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12 831 AILFE

22. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

The exposure of the Group’s bank borrowings are as follows:

22. SRITER ()

AEBRITERNARAT -

2024 2023

2024 £ 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Fixed-rate bank borrowings TEMEIRITREK - 14,835
Variable-rate bank borrowing FENFRRITER 14,422 16,120
14,422 30,955

The variable-rate bank borrowings carry interests at 4.68%
(2023: 5.03%) per annum as at 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowings of HK$7,474,000
are secured by the Group’s investment properties with carrying
amount of HK$16,070,000 (2023: nil) (note 17).

As at 31 December 2023, bank borrowings of HK$22,925,000
are secured by certain of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment with carrying amount of HK$24,422,000 (note 15).

As at 31 December 2024, included in unsecured bank
borrowings of HK$6,948,000 (2023: HK$8,030,000) are
guaranteed by the HKMC Insurance Limited under the SME
Financing Guarantee Scheme. The bank borrowings are also
secured by personal guarantee provide by a director of the
subsidiary of the Group.

MN2024F 12 A31H @ FEAXRBITEZ
FERE 5 4.68% (20234 : 5.03%) °

R2024F 12 A31H A& B R 1T E X
7,474,000/8 7L 2N 52 B AR 1B 4 16,070,000
BITHIR A Y IR (2023 4F + ) (M5
17)

F2023F 12 A31H - REBETER
229250008 TEHASEE THREER
24,422,0008 T M - BB MR B EE
R (FFEE15) ©

2024512 A31 8 SIKFIRITIEREIE
6,948,000/ 7T (20234F : 8,030,000/ 7T ) *
HESRBRBRBRARRES NDER
BRERETEREER - RITERPUARE
EMBARMN—RERRMEMEAERE
IR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

22. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s borrowings amounted to
HK$7,474,000 were default due to the non-compliance of loan
covenants which, as a consequence, would be immediately
repayable if and when requested by the lenders. However, up to
the date of issuance of these consolidated financial statements,
the Group did not receive any request from the bank to repay
the amount immediately.

Bank borrowings denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out

22. RITEFR @)

2024512 A31 8 « RNEE AH7,474,000
BITHERERETEREEMER -
bt HERARLESR - AEEEINKE
BoRAM EEXEHRAVB®RETER
HY - RSB B RITHE ] BB K
WEK o

AR 9 4 0 2 68 6 1) A K LA SN S M B
RIT I RBSIIN T -

below:
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
HK$ BT 14,422 16,120
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M EmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

23. LEASE LIABILITIES 23. HEEE
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FE&T
Lease liabilities payable: ERHEEEE:
Within one year —F R 2,492 1,483
More than one year, —FEME - BTBBME
but not more than two years 753 1,475
More than two years, MFEALE - BETBBREF
but not more than five years - 575
More than five years AEAE - -
3,245 3,533
Less: Amount due for settlement within R BAEE T 12EAR
12 months shown under current liabilites 2| #As% 9 7%38 (2,492) (1,483)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 7 3ERBIBEB T 12ME A%
shown under non-current liabilities BB R FIE 753 2,050
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to BEANEE 8 EMNINETFHIESE X
lease liabilities range at 5.64 (2023: 5.13%). £55.64% (20234 : 5.13%) ©
Lease liabilities denominated in currencies other than the N EE TR EE NGB E
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out WEEBEHEHY T -
below:
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FHET
RMB AR # 258 599
HK$ BT 2,987 2,934
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

24. DEFERRED TAXATION
For the purposes of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset.

The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised and movements during the current and prior years:

24, EEFIE
REFEAMBHRRERNS - ETEEH
BEEREBOIREN

RAFERBEFECHINTIZRITEN
HEE (RE) REZHWT ¢

Accelerated

tax Intangible

depreciation assets Total

IEBIEHTE BREE At

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHEIT FHEIT FHET

As at 1 January 2023 7202341 818 (452) 756 304

Credit to profit or loss (note 11) PGB (FsE11) 10 (165) (159)

As at 31 December 2023 and HK20283F12 A31 A &

1 January 2024 202441818 (442) 591 149
Charge (credit) to profit or loss M a (FEA) B (MEE11)

(note 11) 442 (591) (149)

As at 31 December 2024 #R2024F12 831 H - - -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$27,710,000 (2023: Nil) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included
in unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately
HK$8,974,000 (2023: Nil) with expiry dates. Other losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12 831 AILFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. |
Number of
shares Share capital
RHEAR &S
Notes HK$’000
Hist TET
Ordinary shares ZER
Authorised: EE
As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 /2202341818 -
and 1 January 2024 (Ordinary shares of 2023F 12 A31 B
HK$0.1 each) 202461 A 1H
(0.1 BT EmIR) 1,000,000,000 100,000
Share Subdivision s {n #r 48 (b) 9,000,000,000 -
As at 31 December 2024 M2024F 12 31 H
(Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each) (F20.01 BT EBAR) 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREAR
As at 1 January 2022 R2022F1A1H
(Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each) (FhR0.1 BT T BAR) 100,000,000 10,000
2023 First Placing of shares 2023 F & R ELE R (@) 20,000,000 2,000
2023 Second Placing of shares 2023 F & R ERD @@ 12,000,000 1,200
2023 Third Placing of shares 2023 FE = RELER D @M 3,450,000 345
As at 31 December 2023 and 2023512 A31 A K&
1 January 2024 (Ordinary shares of 2024F1HA1H
HK$0.1 each) (FR0.1 BT EBR) 135,450,000 13,545
Share Subdivision 7 1748 (b) 1,219,050,000 -
As at 31 December 2024 2024F 12 A31H
(Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each) (B0 BTHEER) 1,354,500,000 13,545

The movements of the authorised and issued share capital of
the Company during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
31 December 2023, and subsequent to 31 December 2024 are

as following:

B Z20244 12 8318 &20234 12 A 31
BIEFEE  LAR20244E 12 A31 B 284

RAVEEREHETRANEE T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12 A1 BIEFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
(@) Changes in the authorised and issued
share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2023

M

2023 First Placing of 20,000,000 shares of the
Company

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement on 23
December 2022, at the same date, the Company
entered into an agreement (the “2023 First Placing
Agreement”) with a placing agent (the “2023 First
Placing Agent”), pursuant to which the 2023 First
Placing Agent has conditionally agreed, as placing
agent of the Company, to procure, on a best effort
basis, the placing of a maximum of 20,000,000
placing shares (the “2023 First Placing Shares”) to
certain places (the “2023 First Placing Placees”)
at the placing price of HK$0.213 (the “2023 First
Placing Price”) per 2023 First Placing Share (the
“2023 First Placing”).

The 2023 First Placing Shares represented: (i)
20.00% of the total existing issued shares as at 23
December 2022; and (ji) approximately 16.67% of
the total issued shares as enlarged by the allotment
and issue of the 2023 First Placing Shares.

The 2023 First Placing Price of HK$0.213 per
2028 First Placing Share represented (i) a discount
of approximately 14.8% to the closing price of
HK$0.250 per share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on 23 December 2022; and (ji) a discount
of approximately 19.7% to the average of the
closing prices of approximately HK$0.265 per
share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the five
consecutive trading days immediately preceding 23
December 2022.

FICUS TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2024

25. A (%)

(@ EZE2023F12 31 BIEF
EARRQNENERE KB ZEITRA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
(@) Changes in the authorised and issued
share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued)

M

2023 First Placing of 20,000,000 shares of the
Company (Continued)

The 2023 First Placing Shares were allotted and
issued under the general mandate granted to the
directors of the Company by resolution of the
shareholders passed at the annual general meeting
held on 20 May 2022.

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated
13 January 2023, the Company announced that
all the conditions set out in the 2023 First Placing
Agreement have been fulfilled and completion of the
2028 First Placing took place on 13 January 2023.

The directors consider that the 2023 First Placing
Placees and their respective ultimate beneficial
owners are Independent Third Parties its connected
persons.

The net proceeds from the 2023 First Placing
amounted to approximately HK$4.06 million,
representing a net issue price of approximately
HK$0.203 per 2023 First Placing Share. The
Company intends to apply the net proceeds of the
2023 First Placing as general working capital of the
Group.

Further details of the above are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 23 December
2022 and 13 January 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
(@) Changes in the authorised and issued
share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued)

2

2023 Second Placing of 12,000,000 shares of
the Company

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement on
29 May 2023, at the same date, the Company
entered into an agreement (the “2023 Second
Placing Agreement”) with a placing agent (the
“2023 Second Placing Agent”), pursuant to which
the 2023 Second Placing Agent has conditionally
agreed, as placing agent of the Company, to
procure, on a best effort basis, the placing of a
maximum of 12,000,000 placing shares (the “2023
Second Placing Shares”) to certain places (the
“2023 Second Placing Placees”) at the placing
price of HK$1.80 (the “2023 Second Placing
Price”) per 2023 Second Placing Share (the “2023
Second Placing”).

The 2023 Second Placing Shares represented: (i)
10.00% of the total existing issued shares as at 29
May 2023; and (i) approximately 9.09% of the total
issued shares as enlarged by the allotment and
issue of the 2023 Second Placing Shares.

The 2023 Second Placing Price of HK$1.80 per
20283 Second Placing Share represented (i) a
discount of approximately 18.18% to the closing
price of HK$2.20 per share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on 29 May 2023; and (ii) a discount
of approximately 17.81% to the average of the
closing prices of approximately HK$2.19 per share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the five
consecutive trading days immediately preceding 29
May 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
(@) Changes in the authorised and issued
share capital of the Company during the

25. B (&)
(@ EZE2023F12H31BIEF
EARRBETE M B BITARA

year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued)

2

2023 Second Placing of 12,000,000 shares of
the Company (Continued)

The 2023 Second Placing Shares were allotted
and issued under the general mandate granted to
the directors of the Company by resolution of the
shareholders passed at the annual general meeting
held on 19 May 2023.

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated
12 June 2023, all the conditions set out in the 2023
Second Placing Agreement have been fulfilled and
completion of the 2023 Second Placing took place
on 12 June 2023.

The directors consider that the 2023 Second
Placing Placees and their respective ultimate
beneficial owners are Independent Third Parties its
connected persons.

The net proceeds from the 2023 Second Placing
amounted to approximately HK$20.9 million,
representing a net issue price of approximately
HK$0.203 per 2023 Second Placing Share. The
Company intends to apply the net proceeds of the
2023 Second Placing as to HK$5,000,000 for the
repayment of loans and the balance as general
working capital of the Group.

Further details of the above are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 29 May 2023
and 12 June 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12 A1 BIEFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
(@) Changes in the authorised and issued
share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued)

3

2023 Third Placing of 3,450,000 shares of the
Company

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement on 30
November 2023, at the same date, the Company
entered into an agreement (the “2023 Third
Placing Agreement”) with a placing agent (the
“2023 Third Placing Agent”), pursuant to which
the 2023 Third Placing Agent has conditionally
agreed, as placing agent of the Company, to
procure, on a best effort basis, the placing of a
maximum of 5,000,000 placing shares (the “2023
Third Placing Shares”) to certain placees at the
placing price of HK$5.20 (the “2023 Third Placing
Price”) per 2023 Third Placing Share (the “2023
Third Placing”).

The 2023 Third Placing Price of HK$5.20 per 2023
Third Placing Share represented (i) a discount of
approximately 7.3% to the closing price of HK$5.61
per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 30
November 2023; and (i) a discount of approximately
6.6% to the average of the closing prices of
approximately HK$5.568 per share as quoted on
the Stock Exchange for the five consecutive trading
days immediately preceding 30 November 2023.

The 2023 Third Placing Shares were allotted and
issued under the general mandate granted to the
directors of the Company by resolution of the
shareholders passed at the annual general meeting
held on 19 May 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
(@) Changes in the authorised and issued
share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued)

(6]

2023 Third Placing of 3,450,000 shares of the
Company (Continued)

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated
20 December 2023, the Company announced that
all the conditions set out in the 2023 Third Placing
Agreement have been fulfilled and completion of
the 2023 Third Placing took place on 20 December
20283. An aggregate of 3,450,000 2023 Placing
Shares were allotted and issued to certain places
(the “2023 Third Placing Placees”) at the 2023
Third Placing Price of HK$5.20 per 2023 Third
Placing Share pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the 2023 First Placing Agreement.

The directors consider that the 2023 Third Placing
Placees and their respective ultimate beneficial
owners are Independent Third Parties its connected
persons.

The 2023 Third Placing Shares represented
approximately 3.79% of the existing issued
share capital of the Company immediately
before completion of the 2023 Third Placing and
approximately 3.65% of the issued share capital
of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and
issue of the 2023 Third Placing Shares immediately
upon completion of the 2023 Third Placing.

The net proceeds from the 2023 Third Placing
amounted to approximately HK$17.8 million,
representing a net issue price of approximately
HK$5.20 per 2023 Third Final Placing Shares. The
Company intends to apply the net proceeds of the
2023 Third Placing as general working capital of the
Group.

Further details of the above are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 30 November
2023 and 20 December 2023.

All the above new shares shall rank pari passu in all
respects with each other in the share capital of the
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
(b) Changes of the authorised and issued
share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2024

U]

Share Subdivision

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement on 26
June 2024, the Company proposed to implement
the share subdivision (the “Share Subdivision”)
by subdividing each of the existing issued and
unissued shares of par value of HK$0.1 each in
the share capital of the Company into ten (10)
subdivided shares (the “Subdivided Shares”) of
par value of HK$0.01 each.

As at 26 June 2024, the authorised share capital
of the Company is HK$100,000,000 divided into
1,000,000,000 shares of par value of HK$0.1 each,
of which 135,450,000 shares of par value of HK$0.1
each have been issued and are fully paid or credited
as fully paid. Upon the proposed Share Subdivision
becoming effective, the authorised share capital of
the Company would be HK$100,000,000 divided
into 10,000,000,000 Subdivided Shares of par
value of HK$0.01 each, of which 1,354,500,000
Subdivided Shares of par value of HK$0.01 each
would be in issue and fully paid or credited as
fully paid, assuming that no further Shares are
issued or repurchased prior to the proposed Share
Subdivision becoming effective.

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated
24 July 2024, the Company announced that at the
Company’s extraordinary general meeting held on
24 July 2024, the proposed Share Subdivision was
duly approved by the Shareholders by way of poll.

All Subdivided Shares shall rank pari passu with
each other in all respects with, and shall have the
same rights and privileges as, the shares in issue
prior to the approved Share Subdivision.

Further details of the above are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 26 June 2024,
24 July 2024 and 25 July 2024 and the Company’s
circular dated 2 July 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M EmRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE2024F 12 A1 BIEFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(©

Changes of the authorised and issued

share capital of the Company subsequent

to 31 December 2024

U]

2025 First Placing of 13,430,000 shares of the
Company

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement on 13
November 2024, at the same date, the Company
and the placing agent (the “2025 First Placing
Agent”) entered into the placing agreement (the
“2025 First Placing Agreement”), pursuant to
which the 2025 First Placing Agent has conditionally
agreed, as placing agent of the Company, to
procure, on a best effort basis, the placing of a
maximum of 135,450,000 placing shares (the “2025
First Placing Shares”) to certain places at the
placing price (the “2025 First Placing Price”) of
HK$0.6 per 2025 First Placing Share (the “2025
First Placing”).

The 2025 First Placing Price of HK$0.6 per 2025
First Placing Share represented (i) a discount
of approximately 11.76% to the closing price
of HK$0.680 per share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on 13 November 2024, being the date
of the 2025 First Placing Agreement; and (ii) a
discount of approximately 12.02% to the average
closing price of HK$0.682 per share as quoted on
the Stock Exchange for the last five (5) consecutive
trading days immediately prior to the date of the
2025 First Placing Agreement.

The 2025 First Placing Shares were allotted and
issued under the general mandate granted to the
directors of the Company by resolution of the
shareholders passed at the annual general meeting
held on 27 June 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
(c) Changes of the authorised and issued
share capital of the Company subsequent
to 31 December 2024 (Continued)

M

2025 First Placing of 13,430,000 shares of the
Company (Continued)

Pursuant of the Company’s announcement dated
3 January 2025, the Company announced that all
the conditions of the 2025 First Placing Agreement
have been fulfilled and completion of the 2025 First
Placing has taken place on 3 January 2025. An
aggregate of 13,430,000 2025 First Placing Shares
were allotted and issued to certain places (the “2025
First Placing Placees”) at the 2025 First Placing
Price of HK$0.6 per 2025 First Placing Share
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the 2025
First Placing Agreement.

The directors consider that the 2025 First Placing
Placees and their respective ultimate beneficial
owners are Independent Third Parties its connected
persons.

The 2025 First Placing Shares represented 0.99%
of the existing issued share capital of the Company
immediately before completion of the 2025 First
Placing and approximately 0.98% of the issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the
allotment and issue of the 2025 First Placing Shares
immediately upon completion of the 2025 First
Placing.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M EmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE2024F 12 A1 BIEFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
(c) Changes of the authorised and issued
share capital of the Company subsequent

25. B (&)
() M2024%F 12831 B2 %K
NANEE KRB BEITIRAR

to 31 December 2024 (Continued) BB ()
(1) 2025 First Placing of 13,430,000 shares of the (1) 20254 & XEE 13,430,000 %
Company (Continued) RATRGD (E)

2

The net proceeds from the 2025 First Placing are
estimated to be of approximately HK$7.7 million,
which will be applied for further strengthening and
developing the Group’s sales of innovative anti-
counterfeit, traceability and marketing products
and related ancillaries as well as the provision of
supply chain management solutions, enhancing
the operation of e-commerce platform operated
by the Group through expanding its access to
sales channels, and strengthening its functions
and features including online showcasing,
online transaction and products delivery, and for
strengthening the working capital of the Group.

Further details of the above are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 13 November
2024, 3 December 2024, 24 December 2024 and 3
January 2025.

2025 Second Placing of 5,215,000 shares of the
Company

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement on 24
January 2025, at the same date, the Company
and the placing agent (the “2025 Second Placing
Agent”) entered into the placing agreement (the
“2025 Second Placing Agreement”), pursuant
to which the 2025 Second Placing Agent has
conditionally agreed, as placing agent of the
Company, to procure, on a best effort basis, the
placing of a maximum of 50,000,000 placing shares
(the “2025 Second Placing Shares”) to certain
placees at the placing price (the “2025 Second
Placing Price”) of HK$0.6 per 2025 Second
Placing Share (the “2025 Second Placing”,
together with the 2025 Second Placing, the “2025
Placing”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
(c) Changes of the authorised and issued
share capital of the Company subsequent
to 31 December 2024 (Continued)

2

2025 Second Placing of 5,215,000 shares of the
Company (Continued)

The 2025 Second Placing Price of HK$0.6 per
2025 Second Placing Share represented (i) a
discount of approximately 1.64% to the closing
price of HK$0.61 per share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on 24 January 2025, being the date of
the 2025 Second Placing Agreement; and (i) a
premium of approximately 0.67% to the average
closing price of HK$0.596 per share as quoted on
the Stock Exchange for the last five (5) consecutive
trading days immediately prior to the date of the
2025 Second Placing Agreement.

The 2025 Second Placing Shares were allotted
and issued under the general mandate granted to
the directors of the Company by resolution of the
shareholders passed at the annual general meeting
held on 27 June 2024.

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated
25 February 2025, the Company announced that
all the conditions of the 2025 Second Placing
Agreement have been fulfilled and completion of
the 2025 Second Placing has taken placed on 25
February 2025. An aggregate of 5,215,000 2025
Second Placing Shares were allotted and issued
to certain places (the “2025 Second Placing
Placees”) at the 2025 Second Placing Price of
HK$0.6 per 2025 Second Placing Share pursuant
to the terms and conditions of the 2025 Second
Placing Agreement.

The directors consider that the 2025 Second
Placing Placees and their respective ultimate
beneficial owners are Independent Third Parties its
connected persons.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
(c) Changes of the authorised and issued
share capital of the Company subsequent

25. B (&)
() M2024%F 12831 B2 %K
NANEE KRB BEITIRAR

to 31 December 2024 (Continued) BEh (@)
(2) 2025 Second Placing of 5,215,000 shares of the (2) 20254 % — )X i £ 5,215,000
Company (Continued) RAATRG (E)

The 2025 Second Placing Shares represented
0.38% of the existing issued share capital of the
Company immediately before completion of the
2025 Second Placing and approximately 0.38% of
the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged
by the allotment and issue of the 2025 Second
Placing Shares immediately upon completion of the
2025 Second Placing.

The net proceeds from the 2025 Second Placing
are estimated to be of approximately HK$3.1
million, which will be applied for strengthening the
working capital of the Group.

Further details of the above are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 24 January
2025, 5 February 2025, 14 February 2025 and 25
February 2025.

All the above new shares shall rank pari passu in all
respects with each other in the share capital of the
Company.

2025 F XM ER MDA
NABE202FE R E
EETKAIREEEBITRAL
0.38% * Kb AN~ R £ FE2025
FEZRBEFETHELR
B REIT2025 FEZRBLER
DRI BB TIRANE)0.38% ©

2025 F F ZIRELEFEIBNAE
RBEXARIIBEET B
FZRAEENEEES -

FiiE—SHBERNARRAR
Hl /202591 248 « 2025
F2HA5H 202592 A 14
HKk2025%2 A25 M)A o

RARBRASF - prA Ll
BT BEREERETEE
BRZEMAL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

26.

27.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
The Group participates the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme

(the “MPF Scheme”) for all its qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes the
lower of HK$1,500 or 5% of relevant payroll costs per person
to the MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by the
employees.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to these retirement
benefits schemes is to make the specified contributions. The
total amounts contributed by the Group to the schemes and
costs charged to the profit or loss represents contributions paid
or payable to the scheme by the Group at rates specified in the
rules of the scheme.

Details of retirement benefits scheme contributions made by
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
note 10.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(@) Related party balances and transaction
with related parties
Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group did not have any other
significant outstanding balances with relate parties at the
end of the reporting period and significant transactions
with related parties during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERERMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12 A31 BILEE

27. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued) 27. BERTFEE®
(b) Compensation of key management b)) EEZEIEABE M
personnel
The remuneration of directors of the Company, being RERARRRER(ETEEEAR)
the key management personnel, during the year were as B EB AN T -
follows:
2024 2023
2024 4 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FHT
Short term benefits 52 ERE A 1,955 3,051
Performance related bonus ERERTEAL - 9,000
Post-employment benefits BEB 12 1R A 18 54
1,973 12,105
28. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28. EXERERE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the group

companies will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank borrowings disclosed in note 22, net of cash
and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to owner of the
Company, comprising issued share capital, retained profits and
other reserves.

The directors of the Group review the capital structure regularly.
As part of this review, the directors consider the cost and the
risks associated with each class of the capital. Based on the
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through issue of new shares, issue of
new debt and redemption of existing debts.

AEMEREAR Y REEEA A
SRR - R R (B R T
65 KRS 8 PR SR (196 - B BB S
BEEFRIETE -

AEENENGERFEBEN  BRER
TIER(EERHE22) MRS RRE
EEYURARBEAR ARIE#ER (210
BITIRA - REEN R EMREE) -

AEBEEETFHMAERER - (ERLILR
AR =D EFEEEAKAREEE
BEXREBRNER EREFENER &A%
B RB TR - BITHEBMERR
BEBFEHREREREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 29. £@TH
Categories of financial instruments =
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHBT
Financial assets: ETWMEE .
Financial assets at amortised cost REEN AT ENSREE 13,545 68,507
Financial liabilities: cMEE:
Financial liabilities measured BBIERAGTENEREE
at amortised cost 40,064 45,164

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables and deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and
other payables, bank borrowings and lease liabilities.

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risks (currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Market risk

Currency risk

Certain trade and other receivables, deposits, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables and bank
borrowings of the Group are denominated in foreign
currencies of the respective group entities which are
exposed to foreign currency risk.

The Group currently do not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of
each reporting period are as follows:

. ERI A

SRIAESE®m

(a)

™iEE R

B

AEENETES REMEKGKIA
rE  R|ITHEBERE  EHNEM
ENRBARRITERASEEEER
MREEHTIE - ZEEEmERINE
[\ o

AEE B AT SN E SRR © A
i B IR B AR HNE B A E - A
MEEREZBEIPEXRINERR -

REBEHR - NEBEASNESIER
EREENBRZREENT

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Assets BE
EUR B 10 19
HK$ BT 2,777 25,195
RMB ARHE 10,753 2,508
Liabilities =R
EUR (HE 175 176
HKS$ BT 32,267 22,136
RMB AR 7,594 1,209
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 29, £EIT A )
Categories of financial instruments (Continued) TR TESE®W
(@) Market risk (Continued) (@ TWHERGE)
Sensitivity analysis BRRE ST

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on
fluctuation of EUR, RMB and HK$ for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Since the exchange rate of HK$ is pledged with USS$,
the Group does not expect any significant movements
in the US$/HKS exchange rates. Therefore, the following
sensitivity analysis does not include the effect between
US$ and HKS.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2023: 5%) increase and decrease in foreign currencies
of EUR and RMB against US$ as at 31 December 2024.
The percentage of the sensitivity rate used represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
adjusts their translation at the year-end for a 5% change
in foreign currency rates at the year ended. A positive
number below indicates an increase in post-tax profit
where foreign currencies strengthen 5% against US$. For
a 5% weakening of foreign currencies against US$, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on post tax profit.

N E B R E F 2024 F 22023 F 12
AS1ALFEAEBHT ARBERK
BITRE B SN [RBS ©

MR TTHE R TTHNE - AEE TR
HETHABTERTEHREMEKR
ZH o At ATHRESTTEHE
KTTHB T ZHNTE

TREFHIAEBPH 2024 F 12 A31 B
HEUT R AR B HINE H ST IR E OB
1H5% (20234 : 5%) Y B JE  FFF
ReRE A D LLRREBRELHINEE
KR ae A R E) 2 5 - BRESNT
RERIZF R INEE K 5% ZE)
BHBE o TXIEEIEINE K ETH
E5% 8+ BREE1& & FI3E 00 o fis SMNEE
HETEBES% - SHE KRB ®ERRE
HEBHERTE -

2024 2023

2024 F 2023

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FET

Impact on post-tax profit of the Group ¥ & BIRR B 18 % 7 89 722 125 48
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M EmRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances and bank
borrowings for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
2024 and a variable-rate bank borrowings carrying at
prevailing interest rate and further, the Group is also
exposed for fair value interest rate risk in relating to its
fixed-rate bank borrowings and lease liabilities as at 31
December 2023 and 2024, and details of which are set
out in note 22 and 283.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
interest-bearing financial assets and financial liabilities
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year and basis points increase
or decrease is used. Bank balances are excluded from
sensitivity analysis as the directors of the Company
consider that the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk
arising from variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates on variable-rate interest-bearing financial
liabilities had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit
for the year ended 31 December 2024 would decrease/
increase by HK$60,000 (2023: HK$68,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables as stated in note 19, and bank balances as
stated in note 20.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
Management of the Group adopted a policy on providing
credit facilities to new customers. A credit investigation
of the customers or the ultimate customers if those
contracts allow the Group to obtain payment directly
from the ultimate customers under certain circumstance,
including assessment of financial information and advice
from business partners in relation to potential customers
would be required to be launched. The level of credit
granted must not exceed a predetermined level set by the
management. Credit evaluation is performed on a regular
basis.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had concentration
of credit risk as 31.74% (2023: 54.1%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest debtor.
The Group’s concentration of credit risk on the top five
largest debtors accounted for 100% (2023: 100%) of
the total trade receivables as at 31 December 2024. The
Group either demands for full settlement upon delivery of
goods or allows credit periods of no longer than 30 days
upon delivery of goods or services, except that the Group
allows credit period of no longer than 360 days upon
delivery of goods or services for certain customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
(Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk of trade receivables,
the management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, management of the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate provisions
for impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts
on trade receivables. The Group applies simplified
approach on trade receivable to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with details
disclosed in note 19. In this regard, management of the
Group considers that the credit risk on trade receivables
is significantly reduced.

However, as described in note 19(a), as at 31 December
2024, there has an increase of significant risk with the
balance of approximately HK$17,895,000 which is mainly
attributable to the sales of apparel and other products
with the provision of SCM services that was overdue
with the aging over one year. The Company recognised
impairment loss of approximately HK$17,895,000 due to
the significant increase in credit risk of such balance in
accordance with the accounting policy of the Company.

. ERI A

SRIAESE®m

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables, advances to suppliers and loan and
interest receivables

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m
ECL for other receivables. For those balances expected
to have significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group apply lifetime ECL based on aging
for classes with difference credit risk characteristics and
exposures. As at 31 December 2024, included in other
receivables, advances to suppliers and loan and interest
receivables included counter parties who were in financial
difficulties or long outstanding and the management of
the Group considers the probability of default increased
for those balances. For the remaining non trade nature
balances, management of the Group considers the
probability of default by assessing the counterparties’
financial background and creditability and accordingly a
total impairment of approximately HK$1,987,000 (2023:
impairment loss was insignificant and nil impairment loss
was recognised) was provided as at 31 December 2024.

Bank balances

The Group has concentration of credit risk on its bank
balances as the entire balances as at 31 December 2024
are deposited with ten (20283: six) banks. The credit risk
for bank balances is considered not material as such
amounts are placed in reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
There has been no recent history of default in relation to
these banks and thus the risk of default is regard as low.

For deposits, management of the Group makes periodic
as individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also available reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The management of the
Group believes that there is no material credit risk inherent
in the Group’s outstanding balance of other receivables
and deposits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows. The management closely monitors the
borrowings as well as the cash flows from operating
activities on timely basis. Having considered the factors
and circumstances set out in note 3.2 to the consolidated
financial statements, the directors are satisfied that the
Group will have sufficient liquidity to meet its cash flows
requirements for the next twelve from the end of the
reporting period.

The following table details the Group’s and the
Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group and the Company
can be required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the
banks choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity
dates for other financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE20245 12 A31 BILEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

29.

29. €M I A

TRIADHR®@®

Liquidity risk (Continued) () REBELER(E)
Liquidity tables REBE R
Weighted
average Tod
effective  Repayable Within 3 months 1 yearto Over  undscounted Carrying
interestrate o demand 3 months to 1 year 5years 5 years cashfows amount
METH BEX 3f@A 15 Rk
ERHE fBR 3fEAR E1E 5% SENE RELE il
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
% TET Tt TET Tt T Tibr T
Asat 31 December 2023 74202312 31H
Non-derivative financial T4 4RBEE
liabilities
Trade and other payables ~ EZ R EME[ZA NATER 10,676 - - - - 10,676 10,676
Bank borrowings FITHER
— fixed rate - BEEfx 11.50 14,835 - - - - 14,835 14,835
Bank borrowings FITHER
— variable rate - Zf% 503 8,090 273 829 4733 2,19 16,120 16,120
Lease liabiliies HEBRE 513 - 363 1,120 2,050 - 3,533 3,533
33,601 636 1,949 6,783 2,19% 45,164 45,164
Weighted
average
effective Total
interest ~ Repayable Within 3 months 1 year to Over undiscounted Carrying
rate  ondemand 3 months to 1 year 5years 5years  cashflows amount
T REX 3f@A 1% FREE
BRI &E 3fAR EiE E5% 5E0E  RESE KA
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TiEn T TiEn T TiEn TET TiEn
Asat31December 2024 142024512 A31H
Non-derivative financial ~ T4 4REE
liabilities
Trade and other payables 2 REMENTE  NATER 22,307 - - - - 22,307 22,307
Bank borrowings BITER
— variable rate - FEE 468 7,040 333 998 5,168 1,102 15,541 14422
Lease liabilties BERE 5,64 - 672 1,930 760 - 3,362 3,245
30,337 1,005 2,928 5,928 1,102 41,300 40,064
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12 A31 BILEE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity tables (Continued)
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “repayable on demand” time band in the
above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2024, the
aggregate carrying amounts of these bank borrowings
were HK$7,474,000 (2023: HK$22,925,000), respectively.

Taking into account the Group’s financial position,
the directors of the Company do not believe that it is
probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors
of the Company believe that such bank borrowings will
be repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements. At that time, the
aggregate principal and interest cash outflows will amount
to HK$15,541,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$32,762,000), respectively and set out as below:

. ERI A

SRIAESE®m

(c)

REBESRERE (&)

TREBEL K ()
MBERZRKEEBEROBRITEREE
FELRBBHASTZ [RERERE]
RIBSERA » 202412 A31 8 » %
LIRITIE R Z FRE B A 7,474,000
77T (2023 FF : 22,925,000/ 7T) °

KERRNEE BN - AAFE
ERABRITTARAIESITFEERE
BERBER - ARAEERA
ZERITERBERERBEME 2
FTEIER A BER - R2024F12 A
318 BERzZAeRAMERE R
485815 55 15,541,00078 7T (2023 4F :
32,762,000/ 7T) « #HIEHIIWOT ¢

Bank borrowings — fixed
BITER — BERN=E

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2024 2023
2024 2023 %
% %
Weighted average interest rate INE T F = = 11.50
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Total undiscounted cash flows AITRB L REEEE

— within 3 months —=EAR =* 15,165
Carrying amount IREE =* 14,835

* As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not have any
outstanding fixed rate borrowings.

* 202412 A31H » AR &
R AR (E R B E T FRAERK -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity tables (Continued)

29.

BT HE®

TRTESE@

€ RBELER(E)
B ES & (H)

Bank borrowings — variable
WMITER — FHR=X
As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
% %
Weighted average interest rate DN F = 4.68% 5.03
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHT
Within 3 months 3EAA 558 552
3 months to 1 year 3EAE1F 1,672 1,655
1-5 years 1FE5F 8,763 8,828
Over 5 years 5F U E 4,548 6,562
Total undiscounted cash flows RTRBRELE 15,541 17,597
Carrying amount AREE 14,422 16,120

The amounts included above for variable rate instruments

for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change

if changes in variable rates differ to those estimates of
interest rates determined at the end of the reporting

period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERERMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F 12 A31 BILEE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

(d) Fair value
The management considers that the carrying amounts
of the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements at the end of each year approximate to their
fair values. Such fair values have been determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis.

30. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those
for which cash flow were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.

29, £EIT A

TR TAESE@

(d 2AFE
ERERA  AEENEERIZBY
AT A A RENSREER
SMEEREEERLATERE - %
ENTEDREEABRESRES
WHARTEERNET

30. MEEHELNEBEYR

TRALAREELEREGZHNEED
28 BRASKRSEY - - RELY
EENBERERSAERRAKRENG
ERENEBRVBRAERKRESRER
RASBENGEERASRERDBEARER
BASRERENAE -

Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
IRITER HEEE #st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHT
As at 1 January 2023 ®2023F1A1H 42,622 - 42,622
Financing cash flows, net REReREFHE (14,184) 3,442 (10,742)
Finance cost B FE B A 2,517 91 2,608
As at 31 December 2023 M 202834F 12 431 H 30,955 3,533 34,488
Financing cash flows, net BERSREFE (17,491) (508) (17,997)
Finance cost B 765 Ak 2N 958 218 1,176
As at 31 December 2024 M2024%F 12 A31H 14,422 3,245 17,667
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

31. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 31. ZRFHMBER

COMPANY
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Unlisted investment in subsidiaries RHBRARRIELHIRE - 25,285
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE BT B8 A B FRIE - 45,718
Other receivables E e GRIE 396 2,350
Prepayments SRR - 67
Bank balances and cash IRITEHR LIRS 106 281
502 48,416
CURRENT LIABILITY REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries VRO E VNGBS 11 2
Other payables Hfth fETFRIE 390 501
401 503
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFHE 101 47,913
NET ASSETS EEFE 101 73,198
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARKGHE
Share capital %N 13,5645 13,545
Reserves 1 (13,444) 59,653
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY BEREDR 101 73,198
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

31. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 31. KARMBER @
COMPANY (Continued)
Movements in the Company’s reserves are as follows: RABMFEOZEHT
Share Other Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
4R E Hit A6 RitER et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET TET THET
As at 1 January 2023 202351 H1H 38,444 16,467 (21,396) 33,5156
Share premium 1D mE 39,215 - - 39,215
Loss and total comprehensive — FAE8 I & E 5 L 4258
expenses for the year - - (13,077) (13,077)
As at 31 December 2023 ®20234F12 A31H 77,659 16,467 (34,473) 59,653
Loss and total comprehensive  FEREE & 2 X 4%
expenses for the year - - (73,097) (73,097)
As at 31 December 2024 7202412 A31H 77,659 16,467 (107,570) (13,444)
At the end of the reporting period, the amount due from a REREEIR - FEURHT B A B 518 J5 LA T
subsidiary was denominated in HK$, unsecured, interest-free FHE - EIER RERBREREE-

and repayable on demand.
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32. B RFHE
REJEBROWBADFEMT -

Particulars of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

Equity interest
attributable to

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

32. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Place and date of  Place of Issued and fully the Group as
Name of shareholder incorporation operation  paid share capital at 31 December Principal activity
AR B 3L 3t B AEER12A31H
WEARER RBEH EXEME BRTRARRA ML RE TEXK
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
% %
Directly owned subsidiary
BERENBLF
Market Gala Limited BVI Hong Kong  Ordinary share 100 100 Investment holding
10 March 2010 US$1
EBERAES 00 gl REZK
201053 A 10H ES
Sky Walker Premium BVI Hong Kong  Ordinary shares 100 100 Investment holding
Limited 16 November 2023 US$100
EBELES B TER REER
2023F 11 A16H 1003 7T
Ascard Management BVI Hong Kong  Ordinary - 100 Investment holding
Limited 5 December 2023 share US$1
HEBERHS Bk gl REER
2023512 A5H 1%
Blink Venture Limited BVI Hong Kong  Ordinary share 100 = Investment holding
US$100
Blink Venture Limited HEBREIHS BE LER100ET RERR
Indirectly owned subsidliary
BEEENE AR
Vision Garments Limited ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong  Ordinary shares 100 100  Sales of apparel products
17 March 2010 HK$24,000,000 with the provision of
apparel management
services
BB KER AR B 90 =g elle REEREER
2010537178 24,000,000 70 REREERRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

32. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 32. MERARFE®

Equity interest
attributable to

Place and date of Place of Issued and fully the Group as
Name of shareholder incorporation operation  paid share capital at 31 December Principal activity
EAR B 3L 3t B AEER12A31H
WEARER RBH EEME ERTRARRA MR E TEEH
2024 2023
2024 F 20235
% %
Vision Worldwide Hong Kong Hong Kong  Ordinary shares 100 100  Sales of construction
Development Limited 15 June 2020 HK$1 materials
FHHBREEER AR BB B EBR HEREMH
202056 A15H 1T
Lian Tang Logistics Hong Kong Hong Kong  Ordinary shares - 100  Investment holding
Company Limited 10 February 2023 HK$100
ERMRERDA £ 0 gl REAZRK
202352 A10H 10077
Ocean Blue Supply Hong Kong Hong Kong  Ordinary shares 100 100  Investment holding
Chain Management 8 June 2023 HK$100
Co., Limited
EBHEEEEERAR A 0 gl REAZR
20236 A 8H 10077
Shenzhen Blue Ocean PRC PRC Ordinary shares 100 100 Provision of supply chain
Intelligent Chain 14 August 2023 RMB2,818,349 management solutions
Technology Co., Ltd.*
R EFEEREERDR HE HE LB REMEEEERRAAR
202358 A14H AR2,8183497T
Liaoning Blue Ocean Smart  PRC PRC Registered shares 100 - Dormant
Chain Supply Chain 26 March 2024 RMB10,000,000
Management Co., Ltd.*
RELBTHEMEE lE HE A RARARE B
ERERAR 2024537261 10,000,0007¢
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

32. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 32. B A AFE®

Equity interest

attributable to
Place and date of  Place of Issued and fully the Group as
Name of shareholder incorporation operation  paid share capital at 31 December Principal activity
LA 3t B AEER128318
WEADER RAH EEME ERITRBERA HIREAL IR TEXH
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
% %
Beijing Blue Ocean Smart PRC PRC Registered shares 100 - Investment holding
Chain Technology Co., Ltd.* 7 March 2024 RMB30,000,000
TRESEENBERRA +H HE AR ARE RAZR
20243 A 7H 30,000,0007C
Beijing Blue Ocean Intelligent PRC PRC Registered shares 100 - Dormant
Chain Application 20 September 2024 RMB30,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.”
TRESEEERARK HE HE AMRAARS mEE
ARAT 202459201 30,000,000
Trinity Management Limited  Hong Kong Hong Kong  Ordinary shares 100 - Dormant
16 February 2024 HK$100
Trinity Management Limited ~ &75 HE LiEk i)
202452716 A 1007 7T
# For identification only o EHER
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during RE S E kRS BR M E AR T
both years and at the end of the reporting period. ERERHES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e U HRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 ALEFE

33.

34.

RECLASSIFICATION AND COMPARATIVE
FIGURES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, for enhancing the
relevance on the presentation of the consolidated financial
statements, certain reclassifications have been made to the
comparative figures presented in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the prior year to achieve comparability
with the current year’s presentation. As a result, the following
line items regarding comparative figures have been amended
and adjusted, together with the related notes to conform to the
current year’s presentation:

33.

EEBEF

HZE2024F12 A31 HIEFE - BINEER
SHMBHMERHO IR - NEED HiE
EMBEBRERFE2N EFELRETEDL
AETEFHE  WEREAFEEIFR
RATEEME - At - LT AL SEF A4
5|1E B B &R FEL ST RARE
AR FENZIFR

Previous After

reported reclassification

BEEER REHH R

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FHET

Other income, gains and losses, net Hipdg A -~ Wk R EIEF5E 4,926 (462)

(Reversal of) impairment losses B (BE) REREE

recognised - 5,388

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 34, HEHREE

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statement, the Company had the following significant events
after the end of the reporting period:

Entering into the Subscription Agreement with
the Investor

Pursuant to the announcement of the Company dated 3
March 2025, at the same date, the Company entered into the
subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with
an investor (the “Investor”), pursuant to which the Company
shall have the right to issue and sell to the Investor, from time
to time as provided herein, and the Investor shall subscribe
from the Company, up to US$100.00 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$780.00 million) of the shares of the
Company.

BzEHFaMBHRREMIBIPIREEIN -
ARRRRMERERIEE THIEREE -

/L\\

RITEET LR Z

BIEARARI A A2025F3 A3H AL -
RER  ARRIEKEE((REE]F L
REHZ(RBWRERD - B A2AFE
ENRIEZASHmEEEETREE
BEREEHRAARARERZ 11EE7T (I8
ERH7.8EETT) ARRTRM
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(Continued)

Entering into the Subscription Agreement with
the Investor (Continued)

In consideration for the Investor’s execution and delivery of the
Subscription Agreement, the Company shall issue or cause
to be issued to the Investor, the commitment fee shares (the
“Commitment Fee Shares”) having an aggregate commitment
fee Share price (the “Commitment Fee Share Price”) equal to
US$2.00 million (equivalent to approximately HK$15.60 million)
under a specific mandate by way of an ordinary resolution to be
proposed for passing by the Independent Shareholders of the
Company at the Extraordinary General Meeting to be held in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rule.

Details of the above are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 3 March 2025.
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34.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31 AILFE

34. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

WEHIREE (&)
B EER L RE =@

EABREENTRRIMREREHRE -
RAREREGEM ETHE A BBRE
HERIASIRE S RERIRER YL AR
RURARARBIRFEE  WIREEE
TRREHTAEEARMD ((EREEAR
BHER(REEARGER]) LERE
722,000,000 2% 7T (48 & 5 49 15,600,000 7%
T0) BERGE B R D

FutFBERA LT HEA2025F3 83
ARALE -



FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBRE

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for ~ AEBMPNBER AR REENELS L& - AfF
the last five financial years is as follows: LEZOBESHIOT

RESULTS ES

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 & 20234 2022 F 20214 20204
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKEO000 HK$000
FHET FHT FHT FHT FHET

Revenue Wz 15,613 87,229 160,375 125,707 92,821
(Loss) profit before tax BRAAT (B518) & T (61,386)  (34,311) 5,386 (8,178) 3,211
Income tax credit (expenses)  FTETIE R (BX) 176 155 (488) (511) (660)
(Loss) profit for the year FR(EB) &F (61,210)  (34,156) 4,898 (8,689) 2,551
(Loss) profit for the year FER(EE) &

(excluding Listing expenses (MR LEmRAZ R

and financial guarantee WIS RN

income) (61,2100  (34,156) 4,898  (8,689) 2,551
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY EE  BERESR

As at 31 December
M®12H831H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

20245 20234 202249 20214 20204
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FHET THET TAET TAET TAT

Current assets RENEE 15,975 72,823 80,102 73,931 63,215
Non-current assets JEMENE E 25,128 34,849 30,244 32,336 34,510
Total assets BELTE 41,103 107,672 110,346 106,267 97,725
Current liabilities mENBE 33,500 36,185 48,275 51,187 39,617
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 6,564 9,128 8,316 6,223 562
Total liabilities BEEE 40,064 45,313 56,591 57,410 40,179
Net assets BEFEE 1,039 62,359 53,755 48,857 57,546
EQUITY Ex
Equity attributable to owners ~ ARRQAFHEAB A

of the Company FEfE RS 1,039 62,359 53,755 48,857 57,546

Note: The summary above does not form part of the audited financial Mk : Pt E W N EK K BET R REN—Z D o
statements.
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO

MEHLE
PROPERTY HELD FOR INVESTMENT AS AT R2024F12 B 31 BRFERENWE
31 DECEMBER 2024
Lease term
Property name Address and lot no. Type Total GFA (sq. m) expiry date
L e Ak 5% i BR 4R 9% kil BERFEEMBE(ELK) BB
China United Plaza Workshop 1, 2,3,5,6 &7 Commercial 381.92 30 June 2047
on 3rd Floor, China United
Plaza, No.1008 Tai Nan
West Street, Kowloon
EEES BE K EI PO 1008 5% 5 381.92 2047 %6 A30H
HEIEES 3112356
&7THIIEE
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